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LEARNING FROM THE 
UPPER BIG BRANCH TRAGEDY 

Tuesday, March 27, 2012 
U.S. House of Representatives 

Committee on Education and the Workforce 
Washington, DC 

The committee met, pursuant to call, at 10:01 a.m., in room 
2175, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. John Kline [chairman 
of the committee] presiding. 

Present: Representatives Kline, Petri, Goodlatte, Roe, Walberg, 
DesJarlais, Rokita, Bucshon, Gowdy, Roby, Kelly, Miller, Kildee, 
Andrews, Woolsey, Tierney, Holt, Altmire, and Fudge. 

Also present: Representatives Capito and Rahall. 
Staff present: Katherine Bathgate, Press Assistant/New Media 

Coordinator; Casey Buboltz, Coalitions and Member Services Coor-
dinator; Ed Gilroy, Director of Workforce Policy; Barrett Karr, Staff 
Director; Ryan Kearney, Legislative Assistant; Donald McIntosh, 
Professional Staff Member; Brian Newell, Deputy Communications 
Director; Krisann Pearce, General Counsel; Molly McLaughlin 
Salmi, Deputy Director of Workforce Policy; Linda Stevens, Chief 
Clerk/Assistant to the General Counsel; Alissa Strawcutter, Deputy 
Clerk; Loren Sweatt, Senior Policy Advisor; Joseph Wheeler, Pro-
fessional Staff Member; Kate Ahlgren, Minority Investigative 
Counsel; Aaron Albright, Minority Communications Director for 
Labor; Tylease Alli, Minority Clerk; Kelly Broughan, Minority Staff 
Assistant; Daniel Brown, Minority Policy Associate; Jody Calemine, 
Minority Staff Director; John D’Elia, Minority Staff Assistant; Wa-
verly Gordon, Minority Fellow, Labor; Richard Miller, Minority 
Senior Labor Policy Advisor; Megan O’Reilly, Minority General 
Counsel; and Michele Varnhagen, Minority Chief Policy Advisor/ 
Labor Policy Director. 

Chairman KLINE. A quorum being present, the committee will 
come to order. 

Good morning, Assistant Secretary Main, thank you for being 
with us today. 

On April 5th, 2010, the people of Montcoal, West Virginia suf-
fered a tragic loss. Around 3 o’clock in the afternoon, workers com-
pleting their shift at the Upper Big Branch Mine felt a strong blast 
of wind hit their backs. 

It was a chilly morning that a violent explosion was tearing 
through the mine, one that would kill 29 miners and severely in-
jure two more. 
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As a nation, we continue to mourn the men and women who died 
and keep their families in our prayers. 

Since that fateful day, the people of West Virginia have been 
searching for answers. 

How could such a catastrophic event take place? Could it have 
been prevented? 

What steps need to be taken to help ensure this kind of tragedy 
never happens again? 

As part of the federal response to the explosion, three teams 
were assembled to examine the events of Upper Big Branch: an 
MSHA investigation team to determine the cause of the explosion, 
an internal review team to examine MSHA’s actions, and a team 
from the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Heath to 
conduct an independent assessment of MSHA’s internal review. 

After examining more than 1,000 pieces of evidence, MSHA re-
leased its accident report last December. The report documents 
three events that facilitated the worst mining disaster in 40 years. 

First, worn drill bits and faulty water control in the mining ma-
chine created a spark or ignition. Then a buildup of methane gas 
combined with the ignition triggered an explosion. Finally, a mas-
sive accumulation of coal dust fueled a fire that quickly spread 
throughout the mine. 

While this explains the physical cause of the disaster, its real 
genesis lies in Massey’s corporate culture that valued profit over 
safety. By engaging in the reckless disregard of important safety 
protections, Massey Energy bears the responsibility for the deaths 
of these miners. 

The investigation revealed numerous safety violations including 
keeping two sets of books and routinely providing advance notice 
to miners that inspectors were on site, all part of a campaign to 
conceal the true working conditions underground; disabling multi- 
gas detectors that could have alerted miners to the accumulation 
of methane gas; and failing to comply with rock dusting standards 
that would have contained the fire before it consumed the mine. 

The list of violation goes on and on. Safety was clearly not a pri-
ority for Massey. And 29 miners and their families paid the price. 

Federal prosecutors are to be commended for their efforts to 
bring justice to those who engaged in criminal activity. Mine opera-
tors have a legal and moral responsibility to protect their workers. 

Cecil Roberts, president of the United Mine Workers Association, 
whom we will hear from shortly, once noted that 95 percent of 
mine operators are trying to do the right thing. Yet bad actors con-
tinue to jeopardize miners’ safety. 

That is why we have the Mine Act and the Mine Safety and 
Health Administration. When workers are needlessly put in harm’s 
way, federal enforcement must require correction action and hold 
the mine operator accountable. 

As we have learned in startling detail from internal review and 
independent assessment, regrettably this did not happen in Upper 
Big Branch. Instead, miners were forced to confront a failed com-
bination of reckless safety practices and enforcement failures. 

On numerous occasions, inspectors identified safety violations, 
yet didn’t require abatement of the hazard. Even more shocking 
are hazards that simply went unnoticed altogether. 
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For example, in December 2009, MSHA approved a new plan to 
secure the roof of the mine. However, four subsequent inspections 
failed to cite Massey for violating the approved plan. 

This proved to be a critical enforcement error once a roof collapse 
altered the mine’s airflow and allowed for the buildup of methane 
gas. 

Furthermore, it is difficult, almost impossible, to imagine en-
forcement personnel missing the inherent dangers of coal dust ac-
cumulating throughout the mine. Again, this enforcement error ne-
glected a crucial safety concern that would later enhance the mag-
nitude of this disaster. 

We have also learned over the last 2 years that other enforce-
ment tools were either poorly used or never implemented. Bipar-
tisan reforms enacted in 2006 created a new category of flagrant 
violations, yet they were never imposed against Massey. 

Computer glitches allowed Massey to avoid tougher enforcement 
measures. And technical support audits, including one that out-
lined concerns of methane in the mine, were never transmitted to 
the mine operator. 

Sadly, the list of enforcement lapses could go on as well. NIOSH 
states in its assessment that proper enforcement, quote—‘‘would 
have lessened the chances of, and possibly could have prevented, 
the UBB explosion.’’ 

There may be a number of reasons for these errors. However, no 
excuse can comfort those who lost a loved one. 

Some enforcement failures have plagued the agency for years, 
and deadly mistakes are always followed with a pledge to do better. 
Yet Upper Big Branch still happened. Tragedy strikes, promises 
are made, new laws are passed, and a broken enforcement regime 
goes on. 

Administrator Main, I hope you convince this committee, and the 
nation’s miners, that this time it will be different, that this time, 
we will learn from past mistakes and keep our promise to do bet-
ter. 

I look forward to discussing these matters further with our wit-
nesses. 

I now recognize my distinguished colleague, Ms. Woolsey, for her 
opening remarks. 

[The statement of Chairman Kline follows:] 

Prepared Statement of Hon. John Kline, Chairman, 
Committee on Education and the Workforce 

Good morning, Assistant Secretary Main. Thank you for being with us today. 
On April 5, 2010, the people of Montcoal, West Virginia suffered a tragic loss. 

Around three o’clock in the afternoon, workers completing their shift at the Upper 
Big Branch mine felt a strong blast of wind hit their backs. It was a chilling warn-
ing that a violent explosion was tearing through the mine, one that would kill 29 
miners and severely injure two more. As a nation, we continue to mourn the men 
who died and keep their families in our thoughts and prayers. 

Since that fateful day, the people of West Virginia have been searching for an-
swers. How could such a catastrophic event take place? Could it have been pre-
vented? What steps need to be taken to help ensure this kind of tragedy never hap-
pens again? 

As part of the federal response to the explosion, three teams were assembled to 
examine the events of Upper Big Branch: an MSHA investigation team to determine 
the cause of the explosion, an internal review team to examine MSHA’s actions, and 
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a team from the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health to conduct 
an independent assessment of MSHA’s internal review. 

After examining more than a thousand pieces of evidence, MSHA released its acci-
dent report last December. The report documents three events that facilitated the 
worst mining disaster in 40 years. First, worn drill bits and faulty water control on 
the mining machine created a spark or ignition. Then, a build-up of methane gas 
combined with the ignition triggered an explosion. Finally, a massive accumulation 
of coal dust fueled a fire that quickly spread throughout the mine. 

While this explains the physical cause of the disaster, its real genesis lies in 
Massey’s corporate culture that valued profit over safety. By engaging in the reck-
less disregard of important safety protections, Massey Energy bears the responsi-
bility for the deaths of these miners. The investigation revealed numerous safety 
violations, including: 

• Keeping two sets of books and routinely providing advance notice to miners that 
inspectors were onsite, all part of a campaign to conceal the true working conditions 
underground; 

• Disabling multi-gas detectors that could have alerted miners to the accumula-
tion of methane gas; and 

• Failing to comply with rock dusting standards that would have contained the 
fire before it consumed the mine. 

The list of violations goes on and on. Safety was clearly not a priority for Massey, 
and 29 miners and their families paid the price. Federal prosecutors are to be com-
mended for their efforts to bring justice to those who engaged in criminal activity. 

Mine operators have a legal and moral responsibility to protect their workers. 
Cecil Roberts, president of the United Mine Workers Association—whom we will 
hear from shortly—once noted that 95 percent of mine operators are trying to do 
the right thing. Yet bad actors continue to jeopardize miners’ safety. 

That is why we have the Mine Act and the Mine Safety and Health Administra-
tion. When workers are needlessly put in harm’s way, federal enforcement must re-
quire corrective action and hold the mine operator accountable. As we’ve learned in 
startling detail from internal review and independent assessment, regrettably this 
did not happen at Upper Big Branch. Instead, miners were forced to confront a fatal 
combination of reckless safety practices and enforcement failures. 

On numerous occasions, inspectors identified safety violations yet didn’t require 
abatement of the hazards. Even more shocking are hazards that simply went unno-
ticed altogether. For example, in December 2009, MSHA approved a new plan to se-
cure the roof of the mine. However, four subsequent inspections failed to cite 
Massey for violating the approved plan. This proved to be a critical enforcement 
error once a roof collapse altered the mine’s airflow and allowed for the buildup of 
methane gas. 

Furthermore, it is difficult—almost impossible—to imagine enforcement personnel 
missing the inherent dangers of coal dust accumulating throughout the mine. Again, 
this enforcement error neglected a crucial safety concern that would later enhance 
the magnitude of this disaster. 

We have also learned over the last two years that other enforcements tools were 
either poorly used or never implemented. Bipartisan reforms enacted in 2006 cre-
ated a new category of flagrant violations, yet they were never imposed against 
Massey. Computer glitches allowed Massey to avoid tougher enforcement measures. 
And technical support audits, including one that outlined concerns with methane in 
the mine, were never transmitted to the mine operator. 

Sadly, the list of enforcement lapses could go on as well. NIOSH states in its as-
sessment that proper enforcement ‘‘would have lessened the chances of—and pos-
sibly could have prevented—the UBB explosion.’’ 

There may be a number of reasons for these errors; however, no excuse can com-
fort those who lost a loved one. Some enforcement failures have plagued the agency 
for years, and deadly mistakes are always followed with a pledge to do better. Yet 
Upper Big Branch still happened. Tragedy strikes, promises are made, new laws are 
passed, and a broken enforcement regime goes on. 

Secretary Main, I hope you convince this committee and the nation’s miners that 
this time it will be different; that this time we will learn from past mistakes and 
keep our promise to do better. 

I will now yield to Mr. Miller, the committee’s senior Democrat, for his opening 
remarks. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
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Certainly, as we examine the lessons learned from the Upper Big 
Branch mine disaster, we can never lose sight that there are 29 
families who lost their fathers, their brothers, their husbands, and 
their best friends. 

Almost 2 years ago, this committee travelled to Beckley, West 
Virginia where we heard chilling testimony from the families and 
miners about the unbelievable conditions in that mine. 

Most of which you listed just in your opening testimony, Mr. 
Chairman. So I won’t repeat it. 

But Leo Long, a lifelong miner and grandfatherof one of the 29 
miners who lost his life, testified that day. Mr. Long said, ‘‘I am 
asking for you all to please do something for the rest of the coal 
miners that are in the mines. I pray for it every night, every day. 
If you don’t do something, something like this is going to happen 
again.’’ 

Mr. Long, we hear your plea. 
Since that hearing, there have been four investigative reports on 

the tragedy. All found that Massey Energy caused the explosion by 
failing to comply with long established safety standards in mine 
workplaces. 

Massey failed to prevent this tragedy because it didn’t maintain 
the water sprays to quench the ignition, or shore up the mine roof 
to keep the mine ventilated. And it failed to keep the mine rock- 
dusted to prevent a coal dust explosion. 

On top of Massey’s failure to follow basic safety protections, it 
also engaged in a pattern of obstruction. Massey routinely provided 
advance notice of inspections which gave foremen time to correct 
hazardous conditions or stop production before MSHA inspectors 
arrived underground. 

Massey kept two sets of mine examination books. And Massey 
engaged in a pattern of intimidation by threatening miners’ jobs if 
they tried to stop production to correct unsafe conditions. 

The Governor’s Independent Panel concluded that these failures 
were the result of a culture where—and he said it—‘‘wrong doing 
became acceptable, where deviation became the norm.’’ 

Under the Mine Act, the mine operator is responsible for the 
health and safety of its miners. And if that operator fails, it is up 
to the safety agency to bend the operator back into line. 

But MSHA’s effort was compromised at UBB. There were poor 
inspection practices and a failure to identify violations. 

There was a failure to put this mine on Pattern of Violations or 
apply maximum penalties. There was a failure to investigate 
Massey managers who may have engaged in knowing and willful 
violations. And mine plans were approved without resolving pre-
vious safety concerns. 

Today, Mr. Chairman, we must examine why this happened. We 
have to know what broke. 

We know that budget cuts and retirements incapacitated 
MSHA’s effectiveness, particularly in the early 2000s. Then after 
three mine tragedies in 2006, Congress finally reversed course and 
provided resources to put more inspectors back into the mine. 

But the new inspectors didn’t have the needed experience. And 
there were not enough technical specialists. 
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Violations went undetected including critical violations high-
lighted in the latest NIOSH report. 

Only a few weeks before the UBB explosion in fact, MSHA in-
spectors were underground near the source of the explosion. But 
the lead inspector had only 13 months experience, and obviously 
missed a number of violations that may have prevented this acci-
dent in the first place. 

While MSHA definitely fell short, it was not for lack of trying. 
MSHA issued $1.3 million in penalties prior to the accident. The 
agency shut down parts of the mine 52 times in the previous year. 

But these citations didn’t change Massey’s conduct. In fact, rath-
er than fixing problems, MSHA’s penalties were met with litiga-
tion, not compliance. 

At UBB, Massey contested 92 percent of all penalties prior to the 
explosion. What is clear is that MSHA was no match for Massey 
or any other mining operation where corporate greed comes before 
the health and safety of the workers. 

Today, we recognize that the entire system failed the miners at 
Upper Big Branch. Past Congresses shouldn’t have slashed funding 
for mine inspectors.MSHA needed to do a better job with the tools 
it had. And Massey exploited MSHA’s weaknesses and those in the 
law and hurt their workers. 

The law should have been much stronger because that is what 
it takes when an operator has little or no regard for their workers. 

We are prepared to work with our colleagues to enact meaningful 
reform so that we can honor Leo Long’s plea and the lives of our 
country’s miners. Because, Mr. Chairman, the blood spilled by 
these miners must not be in vain and it must not be forgotten. And 
we must protect all miners from the errors that led to the UBB dis-
aster. 

Mr. Chairman in closing, I want to welcome our witnesses that 
will be here today and Joe Main, as well as Representatives Rahall 
and Capito, who have a lot invested in our getting this right. 

I yield back. 
[The statement of Ms. Woolsey follows:] 

Prepared Statement of Hon. Lynn Woolsey, a Representative in Congress 
From the State of California 

Today, as we examine the lessons learned from the Upper Big Branch mine dis-
aster, let us never lose sight that there are 29 families who lost their fathers, their 
brothers, their husbands and their best friends. 

Almost two years ago, this committee traveled to Beckley, West Virginia where 
we heard chilling testimony from the families and miners about the unbelievably 
terrible conditions in that mine. 

Leo Long, a lifelong miner and grandfather of one of the 29 miners, testified. 
He said: ‘‘I’m asking for you all to please do something for the rest of the coal 

miners that’s in the mines. I pray for it every night, every day. If you don’t do some-
thing, something like this is going to happen again.’’ 

Mr. Long, we hear your plea. 
Since that hearing, there have been four investigative reports on this tragedy. All 

of them found that Massey Energy caused the explosion by failing to comply with 
long established safety standards. 

Massey failed to prevent this tragedy because: 
• It didn’t maintain the water sprays to quench the ignition; 
• Or shore up the mine roof to keep the mine ventilated; and 
• And it failed to keep the mine rock-dusted to prevent a coal dust explosion. 
On top of Massey’s failure to follow basic safety protections, it also engaged in a 

pattern of obstruction. 
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• Massey routinely provided advance notice of inspections, which gave foremen 
time to correct hazardous conditions or stop production before MSHA inspectors ar-
rived underground. 

• Massey kept two sets of mine examination books; 
• And, Massey engaged in a pattern of intimidation by threatening miner’s jobs, 

if they tried to stop production to correct unsafe conditions. 
The Governor’s Independent Panel concluded that these failures were the result 

of a culture where ‘‘wrongdoing became acceptable, where deviation became the 
norm.’’ 

Under the Mine Act, the mine operator is responsible for the health and safety 
of its miners. And if that operator fails, it is up to the safety agency to bend the 
operator back into line. 

But MSHA’s effort was compromised at UBB. 
• There were poor inspection practices, and a failure to identify violations; 
• There was a failure to put this mine on Pattern of Violations, or apply max-

imum penalties; 
• There was a failure to investigate Massey managers who may have engaged in 

‘‘knowing and willful’’ violations; and 
• Mine plans were approved without resolving safety concerns. 
Today we must examine why this happened. What broke down? 
We know that budget cuts and retirements incapacitated MSHA’s effectiveness, 

particularly in the early 2000’s. 
Then, after three mine tragedies in 2006, Congress finally reversed course and 

provided resources to put more inspectors back in the mines. 
But the new inspectors didn’t yet have the needed experience. And there were not 

enough technical specialists. Violations went undetected, including critical violations 
highlighted in the latest NIOSH report. 

Only a few weeks before the UBB explosion, MSHA inspectors were underground 
near the source of the explosion, but the lead inspector had only 13-months experi-
ence. 

While MSHA definitely fell short, it was not for lack of trying. MSHA issued $1.3 
million in penalties prior to the accident. The agency shut down parts of the mine 
52 times in the previous year. 

But these citations didn’t change Massey’s conduct. 
In fact, rather than fixing problems, MSHA’s penalties were met with litigation, 

not compliance. At UBB, Massey contested 92 percent of all penalties prior to the 
explosion. 

What is clear is that MSHA was no match for Massey or any other mining oper-
ator where corporate greed comes before the health and safety of their workers 

Today we recognize that the entire system failed the miners at Upper Big Branch. 
Past Congresses shouldn’t have slashed funding for mine inspectors. MSHA needed 
to do a better job with the tools it had. And Massey exploited MSHA’s weaknesses 
and those in the law. The law should have been much stronger because that is what 
it takes when an operator has little or no regard for their workers. 

We are prepared to work with our colleagues to enact meaningful reform, so that 
we can honor Leo Long’s plea and the lives of our country’s miners, because Mr. 
Chairman, the blood spilled by these miners must not be in vain or forgotten, and 
we must protect all miners from the errors that led to UBB disaster. 

In closing, I want to welcome our witnesses, as well as Representatives Rahall 
and Capito. 

Chairman KLINE. I thank the gentlelady. 
Pursuant to Committee Rule 7C, all committee members will be 

permitted to submit written statements to be included in the per-
manent hearing record. 

And without objection, the hearing record will remain open for 
14 days to allow statements, questions for the record, and other ex-
traneous material referenced during the hearing be submitted in 
the official record. 

Let me add my welcome today to our colleagues from West Vir-
ginia, Mrs. Capito and Mr. Rahall. 

Without objection Mrs. Capito and Mr. Rahall be permitted to 
participate in our hearing today. And I hear no objection. 
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We have two distinguished panels of witnesses today. And I 
would like to begin by introducing the first panel. 

He is a panel of one, Assistant Secretary of Labor for the Mine 
Safety and Health Administration, Joe Main. 

Mr. Main has been a coal miner and mine safety advocate for 
over 40 years. He worked for the United Mine Workers of America 
in various positions from 1974 to 2002, including 22 years as the 
administrator of UMWA’s Occupational Health and Safety Depart-
ment. Prior to his nomination, he worked as a mine safety consult-
ant. 

Welcome back, Mr. Main. 
Before I recognize you to provide your testimony, let me remind 

you of our quaint, but nevertheless important lighting system 
there. It is a green, yellow, red—pretty self-evident. 

We want to hear what you have to say. All of your testimony will 
be included in the record. You are free to summarize as you wish. 

When we get into questions, I will be asking my colleagues to 
stick to the 5-minute rule so that we can all have a chance to en-
gage in the discussion and have time for the second panel. 

And with that, sir, you are recognized. 

STATEMENT OF HON. JOSEPH A. MAIN, ASSISTANT SEC-
RETARY, MINE SAFETY HEALTH ADMINISTRATION, U.S. DE-
PARTMENT OF LABOR 

Mr. MAIN. Thank you, Chairman Kline and Ranking Member of 
the committee, and members of their committee as well. 

I appreciate the opportunity to report on the April 5th, 2010 dis-
aster at the Upper Big Branch Mine that caused the death of 29 
miners. 

MSHA’s actions since then, the findings of the internal review 
into MSHA’s activities before the explosion, and why despite our ef-
forts to use all of our tools, legislation still needed to fully protect 
the nation’s miners. 

The tragedy, which occurred a few months following my con-
firmation, was the deadliest coal mine disaster in 40 years, has 
caused unimaginable grief for the families and loved ones of min-
ers, and it extends well, I think, beyond that. 

But they all should want assurance that an explosion like this 
never happens again. And that we are doing all that we can to 
keep miners safe. 

Our inquiries have been the most transparent MSHA has ever 
conducted. Throughout, we have held numerous meetings with the 
families as well as congressional and public briefings. 

On December the 6th, 2011, MSHA’s action investigation team 
issued its final report. It found that the explosion was likely start-
ed with a methane ignition that when fueled by excessive amounts 
of coal dust transitioned into a massive coal dust explosion. 

The physical conditions that lead to the explosion were the result 
of a series of violations of basic safety which were disregarded at 
Upper Big Branch. 

But it was also the unlawful practices implemented by Massey 
that were at the root of the tragedy, such as advanced notice of 
MSHA inspections, intimidations of miners, and concealing hazards 
and injuries from regulators. 
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While most of Massey’s top management at UBB exercised their 
Fifth Amendment rights during the investigation, one official re-
cently validated our investigation’s findings. 

Gary May, a superintendent at the time of the explosion, recently 
testified that it was standard practice at UBB to warn employees 
underground of inspections and to fix or conceal hazards before in-
spectors could observe them. 

He also stated when he was a section boss, he would always 
spread extra rock dust and make everything look good when he 
was told an inspector was on the way. 

The Massey operation was issued 369 violations totaling $10.8 
million in penalties. Alpha Natural Resources, which acquired 
Massey after the explosion, did not contest these violations and 
paid the penalties in full. 

MSHA also conducted internal review and released its report of 
March 6th which found that despite MSHA’s District 4 aggressive 
enforcement efforts, which were among the toughest in the nation, 
there were a number of deficiencies at UBB including MSHA’s fail-
ure to identify the extent of noncompliance with rock dust stand-
ards along belt conveyors, and significant shortcomings in the oper-
ators ventilation of roof control plans. 

The internal review also identified deficiencies in District 4’s ad-
herence to MSHA’s policies and procedures including deficiencies 
cited by the previous internal reviews. 

The internal review concluded that these deficiencies were pri-
marily a result of budget constraints and the attrition of experi-
enced staff which left District 4, and elsewhere, short-staffed and 
with serious experienced deficits. 

This was particularly true with our roof control ventilation and 
other specialists. 

The internal review team also acknowledged a fact that we 
should not lose sight of. The challenges MSHA faced in enforce-
ment at UBB were created by an operator that intentionally 
evaded the law and interfered with our efforts to enforce it. 

The internal review confirmed that the accident investigation 
team’s findings that Massey, not MSHA enforcement, caused the 
explosion. We have reviewed the internal review’s findings and 
have implemented a number of recommendations including reforms 
to be done before UBB. We know more needs to be done. 

We are also reviewing the conclusions and additional ideas of the 
NIOSH independent panel. Since UBB, MSHA has worked harder 
to use every tool at its disposal to ensure operators provide a safe 
and healthy workplace for miners. We believe our efforts are mak-
ing a difference. 

Our most effective enforcement tools were the impact inspections 
which began immediately after the disaster. 

Since April 2010, we have conducted more than 400 impact in-
spections arriving at mines during off hours, often monitoring mine 
communications to prevent unscrupulous operators from giving ad-
vance notice. 

We have strengthened our Pattern of Violations process to make 
it as effective as we can under the current regulations. For the first 
time in history, MSHA has placed two mines on a Pattern of Viola-
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tions, and has seen improvements in other mines subject to the 
POV process. 

Despite our efforts the current POV system is still flawed. Our 
proposed rule that we have announced would address flaws in the 
current rule that make it less effective than what Congress in-
tended for it to be. 

MSHA has also beefed up enforcement of critical health and safe-
ty requirements, taking regulatory action to improve operator com-
pliance; required mandatory 2-week, biannual training of all field 
office supervisors; split District 4 into two co-districts to better 
manage enforcement; reorganize the Office of Assessments to cen-
tralize oversight of accountable audits and the enhanced enforce-
ment actions; and increased efforts to educate miners and protect 
them from discrimination. 

The majority of operators do try to obey the law. However as 
UBB and our impact inspections illustrate, there are still some op-
erators who flaunt the law. 

The administrative and regulatory reforms we are implementing 
are not enough. As prior congressional hearings on UBB tragedy 
have made clear, we do need legislative reform without undercut-
ting the critical provisions that have saved many thousands of min-
ers from death, injury, and illness. 

The egregious problems MSHA continues to find, and the tactics 
it must use in trying to outfox—operators validate the administra-
tion’s support for focused improvements to the Mine Act. 

Congress should address an equal certification processes and 
work to strengthen the criminal provisions of the Mine Act. We 
cannot tolerate employers who are knowingly risking the lives of 
workers by cutting corners on safety or providing advance notice of 
inspections. 

Congress should provide MSHA with sufficient authority to act 
quickly when the protection of miners and miners’ health require 
immediate action. Legislation must ensure miners are fully pro-
tected from retaliation. 

As this very committee learned during the field hearing on the 
Upper Big Branch disaster in Beckley, West Virginia, miners were 
often afraid to speak out because they fear losing their jobs. 

I look forward to working with the committee to find the best 
way to accomplish our shared goal of providing our nation’s miners 
the safety and health protections they deserve. 

And thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
[The statement of Mr. Main follows:] 

Prepared Statement of Hon. Joseph A. Main, Assistant Secretary of Labor 
for Mine Safety and Health 

CHAIRMAN KLINE, RANKING MEMBER MILLER, AND MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE: 
I appreciate the opportunity to appear here today on behalf of the U.S. Department 
of Labor, Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA) to outline for you the re-
sults of MSHA’s accident investigation into the April 5, 2010 explosion at the Upper 
Big Branch (UBB) mine in West Virginia that needlessly took the lives of 29 miners, 
as well as the conclusions of the internal review on MSHA’s activities at UBB in 
the 18 months leading up to the explosion. I also want to report on the actions that 
we have taken since the explosion and our plans for further actions going forward. 

The accident at UBB was the deadliest coal mine disaster this nation has experi-
enced in 40 years. The explosion occurred just months after my appointment as As-
sistant Secretary, and the tragedy shook the very foundation of mine safety. It 
caused us all to take a deeper look at the weaknesses in the safety net expected 
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to protect the nation’s miners. The impact the tragedy has had on the families of 
the miners lost and the mining community is beyond measure. 

There has been an intense examination of that tragedy, and MSHA and the min-
ing industry have undergone significant change as we have sought to find and fix 
deficiencies in mine safety and health. While more needs to be done, we have imple-
mented a number of strategic actions which I believe are improving mine safety. 

The safety and health of those who work in the mines in this country is of great 
concern to President Obama, Secretary of Labor Hilda Solis and me. The Secretary 
has articulated a forward-looking vision of assuring ‘‘good jobs’’ for every worker in 
the United States, which includes safe and healthy workplaces, particularly in high- 
risk industries, and a voice in the workplace. At MSHA, we are guided by that vi-
sion. 

I arrived at MSHA in October 2009 with a clear purpose—to implement and en-
force mine safety laws and improve health and safety conditions in the nation’s 
mines so miners in this country can go to work, do their jobs, and return home to 
their families safe and healthy at the end of every shift. To honor the memory of 
the 29 miners who died at Upper Big Branch, as well as their families, we have 
redoubled our efforts to protect today’s miners. 

Having been involved in mining since the age of 18, I have a deep respect for 
those who choose mining as a career. I have spent most of my life with miners, mine 
operators and mine safety professionals. Mining is critically important to our econ-
omy, and it is our collective responsibility to ensure effective health and safety 
standards are in place and are followed to prevent injury, illnesses and death. Most 
of the industry shares this belief and accepts its responsibility under the Federal 
Mine Safety and Health Act (Mine Act) to comply with health and safety standards 
to protect its workforce. Nevertheless, injuries, illnesses, and fatalities have still 
taken an intolerable toll on miners, their families, their communities and the min-
ing industry. Unfortunately, at UBB, Performance Coal and Massey Energy (PCC/ 
Massey) cut corners on safety and engaged in other illegal practices that caused the 
explosion and impeded MSHA’s ability to fully enforce the Mine Act. We cannot 
allow this to happen again. 
Upper Big Branch Accident Investigation 

On December 6, 2011, MSHA’s investigation team issued the results of its inves-
tigation at UBB. The investigation, which lasted some 20 months, included a com-
prehensive underground examination and interviews of nearly 270 individuals. In 
the course of the investigation, the team reviewed approximately 88,000 pages of 
documentary evidence, conducted detailed mapping of the mine, tested thousands of 
pieces of physical evidence, and commissioned outside experts to assist in examining 
the disastrous explosion. This investigation was the most transparent in MSHA’s 
history. From the time of the explosion through the December 6th release of the ac-
cident investigation report, MSHA held 11 meetings with family members, and con-
sistent with Section 7 of the Mine Improvement and New Emergency Response Act 
of 2006 (MINER Act), MSHA family liaisons have been in continuous contact with 
the families. MSHA also conducted two public briefings—one on June 29, 2011 and 
another on the day of the release—regarding the status and findings of the inves-
tigation. Leading up to the report release, MSHA continuously posted information 
on the single-source page of its website as it became available. On the day of the 
release, MSHA posted the report and appendices, interview transcripts, maps and 
other documentation related to the explosion. We also have held regular briefings 
for this Committee’s leadership and your staff on the status of the investigation and 
our findings. 

The accident investigation determined that the 29 miners who perished at UBB 
died in a massive coal dust explosion that most likely started with an initial meth-
ane ignition and was fueled by excessive amounts of coal dust transitioning into a 
massive coal dust explosion. The physical conditions at the mine that led to the coal 
dust explosion were the result of a series of basic safety violations, which PCC/ 
Massey disregarded. They did not apply adequate amounts of needed rock dust to 
areas of the mine involved in the explosion, allowing float coal dust, coal dust and 
loose coal to build up to dangerous levels. They did not comply with the mine’s ap-
proved ventilation and roof control plans and failed to conduct adequate on-shift, 
pre-shift, and weekly examinations. They did not maintain the longwall shearer in 
proper operating condition and failed to maintain a sufficient volume of air in order 
to dilute or dissipate methane gas present in the mine. 

The unlawful policies and practices implemented by PCC/Massey were at the root 
of this tragedy. The management of PCC/Massey engaged in illegal practices and 
procedures, including giving advance notice of MSHA inspections, intimidation of 
miners, keeping two sets of books that hid hazards from MSHA and others, and hid-
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ing injuries. The most damning information to date on PCC/Massey’s unlawful prac-
tices of giving advance notice came to light after the accident investigation and in-
ternal review reports were completed. 

On February 29, 2012, the UBB mine foreman and block superintendent at the 
time of the accident, Gary May, testified at the sentencing hearing of Hughie Elbert 
Stover, UBB’s security chief, who had been convicted in Federal court for making 
false statements and obstruction of justice and subsequently sentenced to three 
years in prison. For his part, Mr. May recently entered into a plea agreement with 
the Department of Justice (DOJ), admitting to conspiracy to give advance notifica-
tion of mine inspections, falsify examination record books and alter the mine’s ven-
tilation system before Federal inspectors were able to inspect underground. He ex-
plained that it was standard practice at UBB to warn employees underground of 
Federal and State inspections, and that this advance notice of inspections was used 
to ‘‘fix’’ hazards such as coal accumulations, ventilation problems, and to apply rock 
dust to ‘‘make everything look good.’’ Through these unlawful practices, Mr. May 
testified that PCC/Massey was able to avoid detection of violations by Federal and 
State inspectors. We still do not have a complete picture of the appalling practices 
at UBB that were designed to hide health and safety violations from inspection 
agencies, but hope to learn more as events unfold. 

Mr. May’s testimony affirms findings of the accident investigation team that PCC/ 
Massey promoted and enforced a workplace culture that valued production over 
safety, including practices that allowed it to conduct mining operations in violation 
of the law by deliberately hiding violations from MSHA and State regulators. 
MSHA’s findings are consistent with the conclusions of other reports about the trag-
edy, including the reports from the State of West Virginia, the Governor’s Inde-
pendent Panel and the United Mine Workers of America. 

Massey was cited for 12 contributory violations, nine of which were flagrant, and 
360 non-contributory violations for total penalties of $10.8 million. Alpha Natural 
Resources (Alpha), which acquired Massey Energy after the explosion, did not con-
test these violations and paid the penalties in full. 

At the direction of the President, the Department of Labor has fully cooperated 
with DOJ’s investigation into possible criminal wrongdoing at UBB. On the day the 
accident investigation report was released, DOJ announced it had reached a Non- 
Prosecution Agreement with Alpha that requires the company to make payments 
and expenditures totaling $209 million. The Agreement obligates Alpha to imple-
ment a number of safety improvements, including the use of coal dust explosibility 
meters to allow immediate results of the combustibility of mine coal dust to prevent 
mine explosions, atmospheric monitoring systems to better detect conditions in the 
mine atmosphere to prevent mine explosions, and oxygen cascading systems to help 
miners escape during mine emergencies. This Agreement, however, does not relieve 
any individual from potential criminal prosecution. 
Findings of the Internal Review 

MSHA conducts an internal review of its enforcement activities after each mining 
accident that results in three or more fatalities. By MSHA policy, the Director of 
Program Evaluation and Information Resources (PEIR) forms the team and is re-
sponsible for overseeing the review. For UBB, the team primarily focused on 
MSHA’s actions in the 18 months leading up to the explosion, particularly in Dis-
trict 4, which had jurisdiction over UBB. Secretary Solis asked the director of the 
National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), Dr. John Howard, 
to identify a team to conduct an independent analysis of MSHA’s internal review 
in order to assure the transparency and accountability of the review. On March 22, 
2012, Dr. Howard transmitted NIOSH’s report of its independent analysis to the 
Secretary. We are currently reviewing this report, including its conclusions and 
ideas for agency action. 

I asked that the internal review team carry out a thorough examination of 
MSHA’s activities at UBB. They produced the most comprehensive and detailed in-
ternal review report that I have ever seen. The team’s report is the culmination of 
nearly two years of a singularly focused effort, including interviews with nearly 90 
current and former MSHA employees and the examination of more than 12,500 
pages of documents. The report acknowledged the challenges the agency faced in en-
forcing the Mine Act against an operator whose ‘‘intentional efforts to evade well- 
established Mine Act provisions * * * interfered with MSHA’s ability to identify 
and require abatement of hazardous conditions at the mine,’’ and found that MSHA 
actions or inactions did not cause the explosion. The report did, however, identify 
a number of deficiencies and make recommendations for improvement. The report 
examined in depth the root causes of these shortcomings, which will allow the agen-
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cy to permanently fix deficiencies that have been identified in internal reviews fol-
lowing other mine tragedies. 

District 4 enforcement personnel were responsible for more coal mines than any 
other coal district in the country. Nearly 30 percent of the nation’s underground coal 
mines and 14 percent of surface mines and facilities were located in District 4. Yet, 
at the time of the explosion, District 4 had less than 20 percent of the inspectors, 
trainees and specialists in the Coal Mine Safety and Health Division. During the 
18-month review period that was the focus of the internal review, District 4 was 
responsible for inspecting 193 underground mines and 242 surface mines and facili-
ties, and issued more than 35,000 citations and orders, which accounted for 23 per-
cent of all violations and 34 percent of all unwarrantable failure violations issued 
at all coal mines nationwide. For years, unwarrantable failure citations and orders 
have been considered the toughest tool available to inspectors. In Fiscal Year (FY) 
2009, for example, District 4 issued more unwarrantable failure citations at UBB 
than any of the other 14,600 mines in the nation. 

While the internal review found that District 4 had one of the toughest enforce-
ment records of all MSHA districts, it also identified a number of instances where 
enforcement efforts at UBB were compromised because established agency policies 
and procedures for inspections, investigations and mine plan reviews were not fol-
lowed. Inspectors did not consistently identify deficiencies in the mine operator’s 
program for cleaning up accumulations of loose coal, coal dust and float coal dust. 
They did not use PCC/Massey’s examination books records effectively when deter-
mining the operator’s negligence in allowing identified hazards to continue 
unabated. They did not identify the extent of noncompliance with rock dust stand-
ards along belt conveyors and did not identify significant deficiencies in the opera-
tor’s ventilation and roof control plans. The internal review did note, however, that 
the thoroughness of District 4 inspections improved over the 18 months preceding 
the accident. 

The internal review also found that MSHA did not effectively use other available 
elevated enforcement tools. For example, in eight instances, District 4 inspectors did 
not flag certain violations as potentially ‘‘flagrant,’’ even though these violations met 
the internal guidance criteria for considering a violation for a flagrant designation. 
In several other instances, it did not conduct special investigations to determine 
whether PCC/Massey management had knowingly violated mandatory health and 
safety standards. Moreover, the internal review found that supervisors did not ade-
quately review MSHA inspector documentation related to UBB inspections to iden-
tify significant deficiencies, or recognize that some portions of the mine had not 
been inspected. The turnover of supervisors in District 4’s Mt. Hope field office— 
including untrained acting supervisors—contributed to the inadequate review of in-
spection reports. The issue of turnover also extended to the district manager posi-
tion; between June 2003 and July 2004, four different MSHA personnel were tempo-
rarily assigned to this position. 

In addition, the internal review team extended its review to areas unrelated to 
the explosion, such as respirable dust, where it found District 4 personnel followed 
a flawed policy that allowed PCC/Massey to manipulate MSHA procedures to avoid 
complying with reduced standards for respirable coal mine dust, and allowed the op-
erator to significantly delay corrective action after such unhealthy overexposures 
were identified. We are in the process of revising this policy to require that reduced 
standards be maintained and enforced until sampling data shows that it is no 
longer necessary. 

A number of factors led to these shortcomings. For example, as the internal re-
view team noted, the number of coal enforcement personnel had eroded to 584 by 
the end of FY 2005, a result of attrition and budget constraints. By comparison, 
there were 653 such personnel in FY 2001. Following the 2006 Sago, Darby and 
Aracoma disasters, MSHA received additional funds to hire more inspectors. How-
ever, despite efforts to re-establish staffing levels, by the time of the UBB explosion, 
the inspection and supervisory staff was significantly composed of new inspectors, 
replacing a number of experienced inspectors who retired. For example, from FY 
2005 to FY 2008, MSHA lost 252 coal enforcement personnel from its ranks. Some 
inspectors retired, were recruited by industry, moved to new positions within the 
agency, or left MSHA for other reasons. As noted in testimony before this Com-
mittee in February 2010, when I arrived at MSHA in October of 2009, approxi-
mately 55 percent of Coal Mine inspectors and 38 percent of Metal and Nonmetal 
inspectors had two or fewer years of experience as an inspector. The budget con-
straints and constant loss of experienced personnel due to attrition adversely af-
fected the entire agency (See: Chart A). 

MSHA also experienced an alarming reduction in the number of specialists in the 
coal division to assist with plan reviews and conduct technically specialized portions 
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of inspections. Between FY 2001 and FY 2006, the number of MSHA subject matter 
specialists in coal mine ventilation, roof control, electrical systems, occupational 
health, and impoundments fell from 241 to 170, a 29 percent drop (See: Chart B). 
During this same period, the number of Mechanized Mining Units (MMUs) in the 
nation rose from 834 to 1,180, a 41 percent increase (See: Chart C), creating a great-
er need for specialists in underground mines. In addition, in order to complete all 
mandatory inspections required under the Mine Act, specialists were being asked 
to assist with more general inspection duties. Even with this extra assistance from 
our specialists, not all mandatory inspections were being completed. 

Mining is a highly technical field, and new hires go through extensive training 
for up to two years and receive on-the-job training from a journeyman inspector. As 
a result, even the most experienced of these new inspectors had only been con-
ducting Federal mine inspections for a couple of years. In addition, when new in-
spectors were hired after 2006, there were not enough experienced inspectors to 
mentor them or oversee their on-the-job training. For example, in FY 2007, one- 
third of MSHA enforcement personnel nationwide and in District 4 were still consid-
ered trainees. Moreover, agency experience among lead inspectors assigned to UBB 
during the 18 months preceding the explosion ranged from 13 to 52 months. The 
reduction of staffing and drain of experienced staff during the early to mid-part of 
the 2000s, combined with the lack of experience of their replacements, had a signifi-
cant adverse impact on the agency from which we were only beginning to recover 
at the time of the April 2010 disaster. 

Massey’s deceptive and illegal actions significantly interfered with District 4’s 
ability to effectively enforce the law at UBB, as Gary May’s recent testimony re-
vealed. Nevertheless, MSHA assumes responsibility for its actions and inactions at 
UBB and takes the deficiencies and recommendations outlined in the internal re-
view report extremely seriously. We have already implemented many actions to im-
prove enforcement, and set a timetable for implementing the internal review team’s 
recommendations. We are also reviewing the regulatory recommendations of both 
the accident investigation team and the internal review team to determine which 
regulatory changes to pursue. 
MSHA Actions to Improve Safety 

The tragic events of April 5th changed the lives of many people in varying de-
grees—the miners’ families, their communities, miners around the country, and 
those of us at the Department of Labor dedicated to mine safety. President Obama 
said shortly after the accident that ‘‘we owe [those who perished in the UBB dis-
aster] more than prayers. We owe them action. We owe them accountability.’’ MSHA 
and the Department of Labor have worked diligently to make good on the Presi-
dent’s promise. MSHA’s actions—including initiatives started both before and in re-
sponse to Upper Big Branch—have been strategic and focused, and they are making 
a difference. 

While we will be implementing the recommended improvements contained in Ap-
pendix A of the UBB internal review report, I want to share with you some of the 
significant changes we have already made and the further actions we intend to take 
to ensure miners’ health and safety. 
Enforcement 

In the months after the disaster, MSHA issued new enforcement policies and alert 
bulletins addressing hazards identified after the explosion, such as prohibition on 
advance notice of MSHA inspections, mine ventilation and rock dusting require-
ments, and the rights of miners to report hazards without being subject to retalia-
tion. The intent of these efforts was to ensure that miners and mine operators un-
derstand important enforcement policies, as well as strengthen agency enforcement 
in key areas related to the disaster. For instance, in September 2010, MSHA issued 
an emergency temporary standard that strengthened rock dusting requirements in 
all accessible areas of underground bituminous coal mines to prevent explosions. 
MSHA issued a final rule in June 2011. 

MSHA also started changing the way it does business to ensure that appropriate 
efforts are focused on operations that pose the greatest risk to the safety and health 
of miners. One of our most effective enforcement tools to facilitate this change is 
our impact inspections. Immediately after the disaster at UBB, we began to conduct 
strategic ‘‘impact’’ inspections at coal mines with a history of underground condi-
tions that indicated potential problems relating to methane accumulations, ventila-
tion practices, rock dust applications and inadequate mine examinations. In August 
2010, I issued an agency directive expanding impact inspections to coal and metal/ 
nonmetal mines that merit increased agency attention and enforcement due to their 
poor compliance history or particular compliance concerns. As I noted in testimony 
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before this Committee previously, these impact inspections have shaken-up even the 
most recalcitrant operators. MSHA has shown up at mines during ‘‘off hours’’, such 
as evenings and weekends, and has monitored mines’ phone lines upon arrival to 
prevent unscrupulous operators from giving advance notice of the inspectors’ pres-
ence. Since April 2010, we have conducted more than 400 impact inspections at coal 
and metal/nonmetal mines. 

While we believe these strategic inspections are making a difference and improv-
ing safety and health conditions in the nation’s mines, there are still some operators 
who continue to flout the law and MSHA continues to encounter operator tactics to 
prevent inspectors from finding hazards. For example, I previously reported to you 
on a mine in Claiborne County, Tennessee, where MSHA inspectors monitored com-
pany phones during the evening shift and found numerous ventilation, roof support, 
and accumulation of combustible materials violations. These conditions potentially 
expose miners to mine explosions, roof falls, and black lung disease. MSHA issued 
27 citations and 11 orders as a result of that inspection. In November 2010, this 
same mine was given notice of a potential pattern of violations (PPOV) of manda-
tory health or safety standards under Section 104(e) of the Mine Act. In July 2011, 
MSHA inspectors conducted a sixth impact inspection at the mine, seizing and mon-
itoring mine communications to prevent advance notice of their arrival. MSHA 
issued 32 citations and orders, including eight closure orders for the operator’s un-
warrantable failure to correct conditions that could have prevented miners from 
safely evacuating the mine in the event of a fire, explosion or other emergency. This 
troubled mine eventually ceased operations. In another example, just last month, 
our inspectors witnessed a mine employee calling underground to provide advance 
notice of the inspection during an impact investigation of an underground coal mine 
in West Virginia. 

We have made significant improvements to another of our enforcement tools, the 
pattern of violations (POV) process, making it as effective as we can under current 
regulations. The Mine Act provides for an administrative process under which a 
mine identified to have a pattern of ‘‘significant and substantial’’ (S&S) violations 
receives closure orders for each S&S violation until it receives a clean inspection. 
In October 2010, we overhauled the POV process to focus on mines with the worst 
records and require operators to make significant and lasting safety improvements. 
MSHA has conducted two screenings under the revised criteria, and issued a total 
of 28 potential patterns of violations (PPOV) notices at 26 mines. MSHA provides 
a PPOV notice to operators to give them an opportunity to improve compliance be-
fore being placed on a POV. Notably, four of these PPOV notices were issued on the 
basis of agency audits revealing that mine operators under-reported injuries; other-
wise, the mines would have avoided our screening process. Two of the mines have 
been placed on a POV. Last year was the first time in the Mine Act’s 34-year old 
history that MSHA issued POV closure orders. The POV process is open and trans-
parent. The criteria we use for PPOV screenings are posted on our website, and in 
April of last year, we announced a new online tool which permits any mine operator, 
miner or member of the public to see whether a mine is meeting the criteria for 
a PPOV. Any operator can use the tool to monitor its compliance and implement 
immediate corrective actions if its violation history could trigger a PPOV notifica-
tion. 

Despite our efforts to improve the current POV process, it is still flawed. On Feb-
ruary 2, 2011, MSHA proposed a rule revising the pattern of violations regulations 
to better reflect the intent of Congress. Under current regulations, a POV notice can 
only be based on final orders. However, given the backlog of cases pending before 
the Federal Mine Safety Health and Review Commission (FMSHRC), discussed in 
more detail below, significant delays lasting years frequently occur before serious 
violations become final and can be considered part of a POV. In the meantime, 
miner safety and health is still at risk. The proposed rule would eliminate the re-
quirement that a POV notice be based on final orders. In addition, it would elimi-
nate the PPOV process, requiring operators, not the government, to take responsi-
bility for monitoring their compliance and taking corrective action. We are consid-
ering the public comments we have received on the provisions of this proposed rule 
and expect a final rule to be published this spring. 

While improvements are needed, we believe that MSHA’s enforcement efforts thus 
far are bringing about improvements in compliance and in safety and health condi-
tions. A recent review of mines subject to the impact inspection program showed 
that violations per inspection hour are down 11 percent, S&S violation rates are 
down 18 percent, closure (104(d)) orders are down 38 percent, and the total lost time 
injury rate is down 18 percent. An analysis of the 14 mines completing the POV 
process under our current criteria showed similar overall improvements. The viola-
tion rate at those mines is down 21 percent, the total S&S violation rate is down 
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38 percent, and the rate of closure (104(d)) orders is down 60 percent. The lost time 
injury rate has dropped 39 percent. 

There are also reductions in violations across the mining industry. The number 
of citations and orders issued by MSHA has decreased from over 170,000 in 2010 
to about 158,000 in 2011. For underground coal mines, 77,000 citations and orders 
were issued in 2011, down from about 80,000 in 2010. We believe the reduction in 
violations reflects increased compliance. 
Training, Administration and Management 

We have undertaken a number of actions beyond the enhancements to our en-
forcement programs, some of which were included in recommendations by the UBB 
internal review. One of the programs I focused on when I arrived at MSHA was a 
new training program for all field office supervisors to improve oversight of the in-
spection program and consistency in enforcement of the Mine Act. With the change-
over in agency staffing, training of front-line supervisors to foster effective manage-
ment and consistent enforcement was critical. I first announced this program to the 
Committee in February 2010. The training, which field office supervisors must now 
take on a bi-annual basis, was developed just prior to the UBB disaster and includes 
subjects identified in past internal reviews and agency audits. It will also be up-
dated to address the findings of the UBB internal review team. All coal and metal/ 
nonmetal field office supervisors have completed this training for the Calendar Year 
(CY) 2011-2012 cycle. 

In 2010, I also required the administrators for Coal and Metal/Nonmetal to estab-
lish a plan to review all the policies and procedures inspectors must follow when 
conducting inspections. The purpose of this review was to identify inefficiencies and 
impediments in the inspection process; better explain policies to mine operators and 
employees; and update existing policies to incorporate some of the past findings and 
recommendations from agency audits internal reviews, and other government stud-
ies and investigations. The first review phase, for Coal Mine Safety and Health, was 
completed in January 2012 and produced a comprehensive draft document that in-
corporates all identified inspection policies, procedures, forms, and past findings and 
recommendations for inclusion into a single inspection handbook. An agency task 
force, established in January 2012, has begun the next phase of reviewing and final-
izing the draft, which will culminate in a new, comprehensive inspection handbook 
that lays out clear, consistent, and easily accessible guidance to MSHA inspectors 
in a format that can be easily updated and made available electronically. This 
should result in improved quality and consistency of inspections. Metal/Nonmetal is 
working on a parallel path with its own handbook. 

In February 2012, I directed the reinstitution of a centralized administrative re-
view process for all of the agency’s directives. As the internal review found, the 
agency’s directives system was not effectively communicating agency policy to the 
field. We will fix that, starting with centralized oversight of the development and 
dissemination of directives and better controls on how they are issued and distrib-
uted. 

In June of 2011, we announced a new MSHA district in southern West Virginia. 
To help manage the large number of coal mining operations in that region, we split 
District 4 into two districts, creating District 12. The split will increase line and 
management staff in southern West Virginia, providing more enforcement resources 
and better oversight of enforcement personnel. 

Also in June 2011, MSHA transferred the management and operation of the Na-
tional Air and Dust Laboratory in West Virginia from the coal program to our Office 
of Technical Support, in response to an Inspector General recommendation that 
MSHA upgrade the lab to improve its rock dust analysis turnaround time. We have 
improved the turnaround time, and are taking other actions to improve and mod-
ernize the lab, which processes approximately 50,000 inspector rock dust samples 
for total incombustible content, and 40,000 mine gas samples per year. 

In February 2012, I announced a reorganization of MSHA to centralize oversight 
of certain cross-cutting, compliance-related actions. The Office of Assessments, Ac-
countability, Special Enforcement and Investigations (OAASEI) will now incorporate 
the management, support, and coordination of routine and special assessments, as 
well as agency headquarters accountability functions and special enforcement strat-
egies. Under this reorganization, MSHA consolidated its current headquarters ac-
countability functions, as carried out by the Office of Accountability, within the 
OAASEI. As background, the Office of Accountability originally was created in re-
sponse to internal reviews of the Sago, Aracoma and Darby mine disasters that 
were critical of MSHA’s pre-accident enforcement activities and questioned whether 
policies intended to prevent serious mine disasters were being properly and effec-
tively implemented. However, by re-establishing headquarters accountability func-
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1 These numbers are cite violations and are based on MSHA’s data. The numbers differ from 
FMSHRC data, which cites cases not violations. 

tions within the OAASEI, MSHA will enhance the management, administrative, and 
analytical support for this component while retaining OAASEI’s independence from 
the mine inspection program areas. 

This reorganization also establishes a single office within OAASEI for the coordi-
nation of a number of special enforcement strategies, including: flagrant violations, 
investigations of retaliation claims and possible criminal violations, impact inspec-
tions, the pattern of violations program, and the use of injunctive authority. The for-
mation of OAASEI will enable MSHA to better manage and coordinate its use of 
special enforcement tools against the most serious violators of the Mine Act. 

Finally, as I have mentioned, in the last decade MSHA suffered significant attri-
tion among its experienced personnel. As a result, we are exploring how to address 
the succession issue at MSHA. 
Proactive Accident Prevention 

The UBB disaster highlighted the need to ensure that mine operators take seri-
ously their obligation to find and fix the hazards in their mines instead of waiting 
for MSHA to point out problems. As I have stated since my first hearing before this 
Committee in February 2010, MSHA cannot be on every shift at every mine, and 
any effective enforcement regimen must require to operators to take ownership of 
health and safety at their mines. On December 27, 2010, MSHA published a pro-
posed rule that would revise existing requirements for pre-shift, on-shift, supple-
mental, and weekly examinations of underground coal mines. The proposed rule 
would require that operators identify and correct violations of mandatory health or 
safety standards and review quarterly with mine examiners all citations and orders 
issued in areas where examinations are required. This rule would reinstate require-
ments that were in place for some 20 years following the passage of the 1969 Mine 
Act. We expect the final rule to be published soon. 

We have not focused just on preventing mining disasters, but also on the most 
common causes of mining deaths, such as accidents involving the use of machinery 
and equipment. As you know, we launched our multi-phase Rules to Live By (RLB) 
initiative in January 2010, to focus attention on the most common mining deaths 
and the associated safety standards. In particular, this initiative identifies for oper-
ators the standards that will be a focus of enforcement so they can take appropriate 
preventative measures. The second phase, ‘‘Rules to Live By II: Preventing Cata-
strophic Accidents’’ followed in November 2010, and in January of this year we an-
nounced the next phase, Rules to Live By III: Preventing Common Mining Deaths. 
RLB III highlights those safety standards cited as a result of at least five mining 
accidents and resulting in at least five fatalities during the 10-year period from Jan-
uary 1, 2001, to December 31, 2010. 

We believe these efforts are saving lives. Preliminary data shows 37 miners died 
in work-related accidents at the nation’s mines in 2011—the second lowest since sta-
tistics have been recorded. There were 21 coal mining and 16 metal/nonmetal min-
ing deaths last year compared with 48 and 23, respectively, in 2010—which included 
29 at Upper Big Branch. In 2009, we saw the lowest fatality numbers with 34 total 
mining deaths, of which 18 were in coal. It is also important to note that the mining 
industry finished fiscal year 2011 with the lowest number of mining deaths ever re-
corded. However, as low as the fatality numbers have come in recent years, we all 
know that one death is one too many; that mining deaths are preventable; and there 
is more that must be done. 
Backlog of Contested Cases 

The UBB disaster underscored the need to address the backlog of cases at the 
Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission (FMSHRC). At the time of the 
disaster PCC/Massey was contesting 92 percent of the penalty dollars proposed by 
MSHA, adding to the backlog. In addition, because its cases were not being resolved 
in a timely fashion, the penalties did not have the intended deterrent effect on 
Massey’s conduct. In fact, Massey had $1.3 million in pending proposed penalties 
right before the explosion. We have taken a number of actions to attack this prob-
lem. First, the Department is putting to use the appropriations that Congress pro-
vided for the Department and FMSHRC to reduce the backlog. These extra re-
sources have helped us to resolve cases and significantly reduce the number of con-
tested violations, from almost 89,000 in January 2011, to fewer than 67,0001 in De-
cember 2011, a 25 percent reduction in the span of just one year. 

In January of this year, MSHA began to implement pre-assessment conferencing 
procedures. The new procedures are based on the results of a pilot program 
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launched in August 2010, which evaluated the impact of pre-assessment confer-
encing on operators’ decisions whether to contest citations. The evaluation incor-
porated input from industry stakeholders, including mine operators and miners’ rep-
resentatives. During the pilot program, operators frequently opted not to participate 
in pre-assessment conferences, but there was a high resolution rate for those that 
did. 

Each MSHA district must determine when to implement the pre-assessment con-
ferencing procedures based on available resources. Implementation may occur slow-
ly, or not at all in some districts, until other backlog reduction strategies take hold 
and reduce caseloads to more manageable levels. Although no single strategy will 
reduce the backlog of contested cases before FMSHRC, MSHA believes this may 
help resolve some cases. Last year, FMSHRC instituted a rule regarding simplified 
proceedings. To further reduce the number of contested cases, we are also pursuing 
agreements, such as global and holistic settlements, that would settle a large num-
ber of violations at one time. As I noted above, Alpha agreed to withdraw many no-
tices of contest from the Massey legacy companies and pay the penalties in full. This 
action alone has reduced contested violations pending at FMSHRC by more than 
6,600. 
Mine Emergency Response 

Prior to UBB, I ordered a review to identify gaps in the nation’s mine emergency 
response system. During our response to the disaster, while I was able to witness 
firsthand the heroic efforts and selfless commitment of company, State and Federal 
mine rescue crews, I also saw first-hand several critical gaps in communications and 
logistics that remain unfixed from past emergencies. 

As I noted in earlier testimony, MSHA has made progress in this area, but there 
is more to be done. MSHA is continuing its thorough review of emergency plans and 
procedures to identify and fix gaps in the system. On May 7, 2012, I am convening 
a two-day mine rescue summit at the MSHA Academy in Beckley, WV. Mine rescue 
experts from all sectors of the mining community have been invited to attend. The 
summit coincides with mine rescue competitions, so those participants can attend 
the summit as well. The goal of the summit is to provide information from all sec-
tors about the latest improvements in mine rescue, to identify remaining gaps in 
mine rescue response and preparedness, and to decide what further actions are 
needed to ensure a swift and comprehensive response from government, industry 
and others when a mine emergency happens. 

Something that should not go unnoticed is that the 2006 MINER Act greatly en-
hanced our mine rescue response to the UBB tragedy. The MINER Act improved 
the number, availability and quality of training of mine rescue teams. I can tell you 
that I and the other mine emergency personnel who coordinated the rescue efforts 
at UBB greatly appreciated this improvement in mine rescue team strength and 
preparedness. 
Protecting the Rights of Miners 

The UBB tragedy crystallized the concern that more needs to be done to provide 
miners with a voice in the workplace to help ensure that miners are not intimidated 
from voicing safety concerns when they see poor safety practices and hazards. This 
was illustrated at the field hearing held by this Committee in Beckley, West Vir-
ginia in May of 2010, when the UBB accident brought into public view a culture 
in mining that many of us here have witnessed for years. That is one in which 
workers are afraid to speak up about safety hazards because of fear of losing their 
jobs. Miners raising their voices about safety concerns will serve to make mines 
safer and healthier places to work. 

Having a voice in the workplace is not just a mining issue—it is a right that all 
workers have. Department of Labor Secretary Hilda Solis has said that her vision 
for the Department is ‘‘Good Jobs for Everyone.’’ One of the components of a good 
job is that it is safe, secure, and provides workers with a voice in the workplace. 
I share the Secretary’s strong commitment to good jobs and worker voice. 

To reflect our commitment to worker voice, we are using all our available tools 
to protect miners from discrimination when they make complaints about dangerous 
conditions, or exercise other rights provided to them under the Mine Act. The fear 
of losing a job—even temporarily until a discrimination claim can be litigated— 
makes a huge impact on a breadwinner for a working family, and can force a miner 
to choose the care of his or her family over other safety concerns. At UBB, we dis-
covered from family and friends of the deceased miners, that many of those miners 
were afraid of the conditions at UBB but needed their jobs to provide for their fami-
lies. Between 2006 and the date of the UBB explosion, for instance, MSHA received 
only one complaint about the conditions at UBB. 
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We have stepped up the use of our authority under the Mine Act to request tem-
porary reinstatement for miners who claim unlawful discharge while we fully inves-
tigate the case. From October 2007 to September 2009, the Department of Labor 
pursued a total of nine temporary reinstatement cases. By comparison, from October 
2009, the month I took office, to September 2011, DOL sought 48 temporary rein-
statements, an increase of more than 500 percent. For all types of Mine Act dis-
crimination cases during that time period, the number of cases that DOL pursued 
rose by over 100 percent. 

MSHA also has made new efforts to educate miners about the Mine Act. In June 
2011, we launched a campaign to inform miners of their rights, including the right 
to refuse to work in dangerous conditions, the right to file a complaint or report a 
hazard with MSHA, and the right to select a representative in safety and health 
matters. We have shipped over a million pieces of information, including guidebooks, 
wallet cards, flyers and other materials to our field offices, in English and Spanish; 
our inspectors and Educational Field Services staff are distributing them to miners. 
MSHA also produced an online guide to miner’s rights and responsibilities and a 
training video on that is available on our website. 
Need for Legislation 

Almost two years have passed since we lost the 29 miners at Upper Big Branch. 
We have learned much in that time. One important lesson we have learned is how 
to better use all of MSHA’s available tools and strategies to fully enforce the Mine 
Act—including targeted enforcement, regulatory reforms and compliance assistance. 
The strategies the agency has used for its impact inspections have been successful. 
In addition, proposed regulatory actions, if implemented, will make operators more 
responsible for finding and fixing violations and will help us more effectively ad-
dress mines with continuing problems. Our compliance assistance and outreach ef-
forts also will ensure that operators who want to do the right thing have the tools 
they need to avoid violations and hazards. 

Despite our efforts, there are operators who continue to violate the law and place 
miners at risk. We all know MSHA cannot be at every mine all the time. As we 
are learning from the DOJ’s criminal investigation of UBB, even when MSHA is 
there, a determined operator that intimidates miners and willfully engages in a pat-
tern of subterfuge will be at least partially successful in hiding hazardous conditions 
and practices from MSHA, with potentially tragic results. We need to change the 
culture of safety in some parts of the mining industry, so that operators are as con-
cerned about the safety of their miners when MSHA is not looking over their shoul-
ders as when MSHA is there. 

In addition, the egregious problems found during some of our impact inspections 
and the extreme measures MSHA has had to take to find them—arriving off-shift 
and monitoring mine phones—validate the Administration’s support of focused im-
provements to the Mine Act to give MSHA the tools it needs to address chronic vio-
lators that fail to take responsibility to operate safely and within the law. 

I hope that we can work together across the branches and political parties to ad-
dress at least the following areas: 

Certification Procedures: Federal law does not contain comprehensive certification 
requirements or any means for revoking certifications of miners in the most critical 
safety sensitive positions, such as mine superintendents, mine foremen, or mine ex-
aminers. Legislation enabling MSHA to establish minimum qualifications for certifi-
cation for these positions, and a decertification process for the failure to properly 
perform the required duties of such positions, would improve miners’ performance 
of key health and safety functions, and create a strong deterrent against putting 
profits above safety. Any such legislation should also provide for coordination with 
state programs. 

Criminal Penalties: Legislation should strengthen the criminal provisions of the 
Mine Act. No mine operator should risk the lives of its workers by cutting corners 
on health and safety, but for those who do, we need to remove obstacles to prosecu-
tion and provide sufficient deterrence against endangering the lives and safety of 
miners. We hope and intend that criminal prosecutions under an enhanced Mine Act 
would continue to be rare, but we should remove legal obstacles that currently make 
cases difficult to prove. Earlier this month, for example, Murray Energy, a sub-
sidiary Genwal Resources, Inc., pled guilty to two misdemeanor counts for its crimi-
nal conduct prior to the 2007 Crandall Canyon mine disaster that killed eight min-
ers and an MSHA inspector. In accepting the plea agreement that only required 
Genwal to pay a fine of $500,000, U.S. District Judge David Sam expressed his ‘‘out-
rage at the minuscule amount of the penalty provided by the federal statute.’’ We 
hope that although new legislation would remove the obstacles to criminal prosecu-
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tion, such prosecution would remain rare for the right reason: because a stronger 
law provides a successful deterrent. 

Enhanced criminal penalties should also extend to those who provide advance no-
tice of MSHA inspections. At UBB, PCC/Massey used advance notice to warn those 
underground that an inspector was on the premises and to order miners to hide haz-
ardous conditions. As we all know, the consequences of that activity were tragic. 

Even in the aftermath of UBB, there have been troubling reports of some opera-
tors continuing to provide advance notice of an MSHA inspection to hide violations 
and carry out other conduct that puts miners at serious risk. Finally, legislative re-
form should aid prosecutors in holding accountable corporate decision-makers when 
their actions demonstrate a criminal disregard for the lives of miners. 

Expanded Authority to Address Mines with Systemic Health and Safety Problems: 
The current law does not have a ‘‘quick fix’’ to the safety of mines like the Freedom 
Energy Mine, where MSHA for the first time ever sought an injunction for a pattern 
of violation under section 108 of the Mine Act to change a culture of non-compliance 
that threatened the safety and health of the miners. While MSHA was successful 
in compelling the mine to implement additional safety and health protections as a 
result of using section 108(a)(2), the current statute could be simplified to help 
MSHA adequately protect miners. The lesson learned is this: the litigation process 
using the existing tool may be slower than needed to protect miners, and new legis-
lation should consider language that clearly provides the Secretary of Labor with 
sufficient authority to act when she believes protecting miner safety and health re-
quires immediate action. 

Whistleblower Protection: New legislation must ensure that miners are fully pro-
tected from retaliation for exercising their rights. Because MSHA cannot be in every 
mine during every shift, a safe mine requires the active involvement of miners who 
are informed about health and safety issues and can bring dangerous conditions to 
the attention of their employer or MSHA before tragedy occurs. Yet, as we heard 
from miners and family members testifying at the House Education and Labor Com-
mittee’s May, 2010 field hearing in Beckley, West Virginia, miners were afraid to 
speak up about conditions at UBB. They knew that if they did, they could lose their 
jobs, sacrifice pay or suffer other negative consequences. 

The Mine Act has long sought to protect from retaliation those miners who come 
forward to report safety hazards. But it is clear that those protections are not suffi-
cient and many miners lack faith and belief in the current system. Legislation that 
creates stronger remedies and a better process is urgently needed. 

Conclusion 
Thank you for allowing me to testify before the Committee. April 5, 2012 will be 

the two-year anniversary of the tragedy at Upper Big Branch. Along with the fami-
lies, we mourn the deaths of these 29 miners. 

Going forward, it comes down to this: MSHA cannot be at every mining operation 
every shift of every day. There could never be enough resources to do that, but even 
if there were, the law places the obligation of maintaining a safe and healthful 
workplace squarely on the operator’s shoulders. Improved mine safety and health 
is a result of operators fully living up to their responsibilities. Taking more owner-
ship means finding and fixing problems and violations of the laws and rules before 
MSHA finds them—or more importantly—before a miner becomes ill, is injured or 
is killed. Mines all across this country operate every day while adhering to sound 
health and safety programs. There is no reason that every mine cannot do the same. 

I look forward to working with the Committee to find the best way to accomplish 
our shared goals of preventing another mine disaster and providing our nation’s 
miners the safety and health protections they deserve. We owe the victims of the 
Upper Big Branch disaster and their families no less. 
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Chairman KLINE. Thank you, Mr. Secretary. 
You mentioned in your testimony and every investigation and 

every report of the Upper Big Branch disaster has made it perfectly 
clear that Massey was operating outside the law. There is no ques-
tion. They are officially one of the bad guys here. 

But you are here today representing MSHA, the agency that is 
tasked with ensuring the safety in our nation’s mines. And that in-
cluded of course, safety at the Upper Big Branch. 

So I would like to quote again from NIOSH’s independent review 
where they said, ‘‘If MSHA had engaged in timely enforcement of 
the Mine Act and applicable standards and regulations, it would 
have lessened the chances of, and possibly could have prevented, 
the Upper Big Branch explosion.’’ 

Do you agree with that statement? 
Mr. MAIN. You know, that is a—— 
If you look at all the investigative findings thus far, and I believe 

even the NIOSH report pointed this out, that Massey caused this 
disaster. 

Having said that, I can’t say for certainty that it could, or could 
not, have been preventable. I think the—you know, we look at all 
the facts that are on the table. But what I firmly believe, I haven’t 
seen the facts that tell me that we could have taken the action nec-
essary to have stopped that. 

There are a lot of things we should have done differently. There 
are a lot of things we could have done differently. 

But it is my firm belief, Mr. Chairman, that if an inspector had 
walked into that mine on April the 5th, found what was going on, 
they would have shut it down in a heartbeat. I really believe that. 

Chairman KLINE. So the question sort of remains that MSHA 
had a number of opportunities, and you have seen that in the re-
ports, your own investigation, and NIOSH’s investigation, to see 
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what was going on even though Massey was engaged in violation 
of the law. 

And this seems pretty clear to me that if MSHA had engaged in 
timely enforcement of the Mine Act and applicable standards and 
regulations, it would have lessened the chances of and possibly 
could have prevented the Upper Big Branch explosion. And 
your—— 

Mr. MAIN. Well, I am saying basically what—and I have looked 
at a lot of the facts in this case and tried to plow through every-
thing that has been developed. And I think some of the issues that 
have been raised maybe point a closer fix on the question you 
raised or the inspections that were done over the last inspection pe-
riod. 

The question is did MSHA identify float coal dust in that mine 
that they didn’t take appropriate action on? 

I mean if you look at it from that sense. 
I have found no case where they identified float coal dust in that 

mine and did not take action. 
With regard to the inspections that you referred to, the four in-

spections, actually the four inspections that took place, only one of 
them was a regular inspection. 

The others were in—I think, one case a blitz inspection that took 
place where a team of inspectors went to the mine for the purpose 
of addressing a serious ventilation problem. Actually issued an 
order upon their arrival, and spent their time dealing with the ven-
tilation problem. And they had the mine down actually for about 
3 days during the order. 

And I think the other inspection that was involved in the four 
inspections was where an inspector went up to the tailgate, but it 
was in this entry that was the return off of tailgate 22 was isolated 
from the whole tailgate entries as well. 

So I think there is a series of facts there that I think you have 
to look a little bit deeper at. But, you know, in terms of the rock 
dusting issue, and let me just swing back to that. 

I don’t know if folks have had a chance to read the testimony of 
the superintendent, Gary May, who testified before a proceeding— 
a sentencing proceeding about 3 weeks ago. 

Where he admitted, as the superintendent of the mine, that they 
used advanced notice to keep MSHA from learning what the haz-
ards were, what the violations were. He even said as a section boss, 
whenever MSHA would come into their mine, he would scatter a 
little bit of rock dust around basically to pretty it up and make it 
look like he had been rock dusting. 

In the areas that the inspectors were in, prior to the explosion, 
they were up on Headgate 22, which was the development section 
on the northern side of the mine. This is where the explosion forces 
was the worst in that mine that we found, where the fuel loading 
was the heaviest. 

On March the 15th, inspectors went into that section, did their 
inspection, sampled the rock dust. That rock dust went to the lab. 
And what the lab found—and this came out post-explosion—what 
the lab found was at that time that section was basically in compli-
ance. 

All the samples were in compliance with one which is fairly close. 
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Now between the 15th of March and April 5th, something hap-
pened. And the inspectors of course, we knew was not back into 
that area. But if you look at the company’s record books during 
that period, it appears that there was a lot of float coal dust and 
combustible material building up. 

If you look at the belt entry, which was for the longwall, which 
was the area that the explosion travelled through, inspectors went 
into that area on March the 15th, conducted an inspection, issued 
an order on, I believe, the tail drive of the belt, and had a citation 
on the entire belt itself, the whole longwall belt. 

They went back in, I believe it was on the 24th of March, to 
make their last inspection which they required the company clean 
it up and rock dust that belt. That was terminated based on the 
inspection on the 24th, I believe, of March. 

That was the last time an inspector was in that area. 
And if you look at the company record books of the float coal dust 

and the coal spillage that was occurring from the day of the explo-
sion back, you are going to find there is a heavy listing of condi-
tions—— 

Chairman KLINE [continuing]. My time has expired. And I know 
I have all of my colleagues are eager to engage in this conversation. 

So I am sure we will continue to pull this out. 
It is unfortunate that apparently depends on which set of the 

company’s books that you were looking at, the ones that they 
cooked or the real books. 

Mr. Miller? 
Mr. MILLER. Thank you very much, my apologies for coming late 

to the hearing. I want to thank Ms. Woolsey for providing the open-
ing statement and sitting in the chair for that moment. 

Mr. Main, thank you very much for your leadership at MSHA. 
And thank you for your leadership in response to this tragedy, and 
rebuilding the resources in MSHA so we don’t have to go through 
this again hopefully ever again. 

I want to read, you mentioned, Mr. Gary May. I want to read 
from his court transcript in a back and forth with the U.S. Attor-
ney’s office. 

And the question is, ‘‘Mr. May, while you were up at Upper Big 
Branch Mine, was there a practice of providing warnings when 
MSHA inspectors were coming to the mine?’’ 

Answer: ‘‘Yes.’’ 
Question: ‘‘Can you tell us from beginning to end, how these 

warnings were communicated.’’ 
Answer: ‘‘It would start usually with someone came through the 

guard shack. There would be a phone call and it would be an-
nounced over the radio. It would be, quote—’company on property’. 
From that point it would be received at the office. And from the 
office they would call underground and let them know that we had, 
quote—’company’.’’ 

Skipping forward in this discussion: 
Question: ‘‘How often at Upper Big Branch Mine were the warn-

ings given that inspectors were coming on the property?’’ 
Answer: ‘‘A lot.’’ 
Question: ‘‘Was it most of the time?’’ 
Answer: ‘‘Yes.’’ 
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Question: ‘‘Was the Upper Big Branch Mine able to avoid cita-
tions from MSHA because of the practice of advance warning of in-
spections?’’ 

Answer: ‘‘Yes.’’ 
Question: ‘‘Did you know if it was illegal to give advice notice of 

a mine inspection?’’ 
Answer: ‘‘Yes, I knew it was unlawful.’’ 
Question: ‘‘Did your superiors at Upper Big Branch Mine know 

about this practice of giving advance notice to inspections?’’ 
Answer: ‘‘Yes.’’ 
Question: ‘‘Did they encourage it?’’ 
Answer: ‘‘They did.’’ 
When asked whether he would spread rock dust when he was 

warned inspectors were coming, Mr. May answered, quote—‘‘I al-
ways spread extra rock dust if I knew someone was coming to 
make everything look good,’’ unquote. 

How do you conduct inspections in that kind of atmosphere? 
Mr. MAIN. It is almost impossible to be able to enforce the law 

when those kind of activities are in place. 
Mr. MILLER. Does your report corroborate with what Mr. May 

said that this happened most of the time, all of the time on—— 
Mr. MAIN. I have to give—— 
Mr. MILLER [continuing]. Came on the property? 
Mr. MAIN. Yes, I have to give our inspectors credit. Despite that 

plan, the year before this explosion, they issued more closure or-
ders—of one authority closure orders at that mine—any mine in 
the United States. 

So I think that that showed the fact that we had some pretty ag-
gressive inspectors. But there is a lot we didn’t know. 

There is a lot that they did hide, I believe. 
Mr. MILLER. But in this case, the discussion is really about a cal-

culated interference. This was a matter of company policy appar-
ently. 

That if inspectors were on the property, efforts were made to 
move them either to other parts of the operation or to shut down 
operations, or clean them up prior to letting the inspectors come to 
that part of the active mine. 

Is that correct? 
Mr. MAIN. I think they hid a lot of stuff from regulators, yes. 
Mr. MILLER. Now, in the NIOSH report, it is pretty clear that 

there were procedures that just didn’t fall in place in terms of look-
ing at some of the report that were filed by inspectors and taking 
action on those reports. 

Is that correct? 
Mr. MAIN. I am sorry. I didn’t—— 
Mr. MILLER. In the criticisms of the agency, the suggestion is 

then that some reports were made and action wasn’t taken. They 
were sort of left on the shelf, if you will, for an extended period of 
time. 

Mr. MAIN. Yes. I don’t think there is any question that there was 
things that we could have done better at Upper Big Branch. 

Mr. MILLER. Go ahead. 
Mr. MAIN. But I think by the same token, what you are express-

ing here—what the agency was up against that was well articu-
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lated by the Superintendent May, was a challenge sometimes be-
yond the capability of any inspector, even experienced inspector to 
catch up with. 

Mr. MILLER. But in your internal review, you say however—on 
page 107—however, District Four did not collect rock dust samples 
in the longwall gate entry at UBB after the longwall began produc-
tion. Nor did MSHA proceed just specifically direct them to do so. 

So was the guidance wrong? Or was this inspectors not doing 
their job? Or was there an improper guidance for—— 

Mr. MAIN. There is a guidance issue. And this is something the 
report gets into 

There was a serious problem with the policies of the agency. 
There was a system that was in place up to 2002. It was disman-
tled for whatever reason. 

From that point forward, every programmer really was on their 
own to develop policies and to implement those in what the inter-
nal review team found was that the—I think there was like 199 
policies that was generated from 2004 forward. And depending on 
when he was hired, he may or may not have known about those. 
And one of them dealt with rock dusting. 

Different inspectors had different instructions about how to do 
rock dust sampling in the mine. 

Mr. MILLER. Thank you. 
Chairman KLINE. I thank the gentleman. 
Dr. DesJarlais? 
Mr. DESJARLAIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Main, one of the conditions that led to the catastrophic ex-

plosion at UBB was the accumulation of coal dust. In fact, MSHA’s 
investigation report contained pictures of belts that had been roll-
ing through coal dust. 

The NIOSH independent panel stated the mine operation did not 
and could not conceal readily observable violate conditions such as 
float dust accumulations throughout the UBB mine. 

And as Ms. Woolsey alluded to in her opening testimony, how 
can MSHA attribute the existence of these conditions to inspector 
inexperience and resource constraints? 

Mr. MAIN. Yes, I think—and I am looking at two pieces. 
One is the conditions that are directly involved in the explosion 

itself. And if you start with that and look at the area where the 
explosion occurred, and where the fuel was at to cause that explo-
sion, we have examined three areas. 

There is something that we missed in that area that was part 
of that explosion. 

You know, what I was trying to explain is that in that area, I 
didn’t see any evidence from any of the reports that I found that 
inspectors had walked by an area and did not take appropriate en-
forcement action. 

As a matter of fact, what I was pointing out is where they did 
inspect and what they did find in the critical areas. 

One area that is probably the most important is the question I 
asked myself. You know, in knowing mines is how did we have 
such an explosion right off the tailgate? 
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And there was no evidence the company had any real method-
ology in their post explosion investigation of continually rock dust-
ing that area. 

What we found was that the inspection was made of that area 
really happened over a 3-day period, March 9th through the 11th. 
And we had a ventilation specialist in that area. We had an entry 
supervisor and a trainee in that area. And we had an inspector in 
that area. 

And it all dealt with—that was an area they went to where they 
issued an order to close down the mine because of the ventilation 
problem. 

And this was an area—and let me just give you this picture. 
When the inspector showed up to do this last inspection, here 
comes the gang of six inspectors into the parking lot of the Massey 
Energy Upper Big Branch Mine. 

And I think the word that was used was, hell storm, whenever 
more than one inspector showed up. It took an hour and a half for 
those inspectors to get up to that spot. 

And we know that just before they got to that location, at 
about—I think it was about 9:48 a.m., the company shut down the 
shearer and claimed that they had a problem. 

This is according to their records. 
It was so convenient for that to happen. 
The inspectors arrived at the area an hour and a half to 2 hours, 

somewhere in that timeframe, after they showed up on the prop-
erty, and if Mr. May’s instructions that they used to get was cor-
rect, and the area that we are talking about where the rock dusting 
would have been visible, where they were out at the tailgate, is not 
a large area. 

The question everybody has to ask was did those inspectors 
spend 3 days in an area tramping over this and see totally black 
stuff he didn’t do anything with, or was there something done 
ahead of them? 

And that is what has bothered me all the way through is how 
these inspectors could have missed that float coal dust, unless it 
wasn’t there to be seen. It was masked by throwing some rock dust 
on it. 

I don’t know. I mean that is—when we get to the bottom of—— 
Mr. DESJARLAIS. Okay, let us talk about MSHA’s internal review 

where they repeatedly cite inspector inexperience in the District 4 
as a root cause of MSHA’s deficient inspections at UBB. 

You know, it sounds like you are saying regardless whether we 
had experience or inexperience inspectors, this probably would 
have been missed. Yet if they were there on the day of the explo-
sion, they would have caught it. 

Mr. MAIN. Yes, some of the conditions were bothersome that 
were identified. But in terms of the conditions that actually ex-
isted. 

And the $64 question is—and I think it has to be asked—did that 
company do something the day that the last inspection was made 
that masked what they were doing? 

Mr. DESJARLAIS. Okay, I am trying to focus on—— 
Mr. MAIN [continuing]. You know—— 
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Mr. DESJARLAIS [continuing]. The inspector inexperience. Do you 
agree that the inspectors were inexperienced? 

I mean, yes or no. 
Mr. MAIN. Oh, absolutely. 
Mr. DESJARLAIS. Okay. When do you think the MSHA inspectors 

will be adequately trained? And are they ready now? 
Mr. MAIN. Well, and let me talk about that, because this was not 

something that just happened overnight. I think if you look at both 
the reports. And the NIOSH report, I think, pointed this out as 
well. 

There was a severe staffing problem at MSHA that was created 
starting back around 2001, when there was a flat line budgeting 
of MSHA, which caused the agency to have to eat itself, so to 
speak, by cutting back on FTEs just to be able to stay at its 
funding’s level. 

In 2004, there was a budget cut in the co-enforcement program 
that further reduced the staff. 

At the same time, you saw a major retirement take place in 
MSHA, and it was pretty overwhelming when you look at the num-
bers. I think between 2001 and 2006, there are over 1,000 people 
left that agency. 

And the agency had an average of about 2,300 folks. I think 
there was 690 some out of about 1,100 that left the coal enforce-
ment ranks. So you had an agency that was basically devastated. 

Congress made a wise decision 2006. Added new funding which 
wasn’t realized until 2007 when it was able to start hiring back up 
again. But it takes 2 years to get the inspectors through the train-
ing programs. 

So just about the time that UBB was hitting—MSHA was getting 
its ranks back up to a level that they were able to start managing 
it. 

The problem is they had a lot of inexperience. 
If you look through that same period, managers was leaving out 

right and left. We had six different district managers running Dis-
trict 4 from 2003 to 2006. And that was at a time when those ven-
tilation records sort of didn’t get handled. 

And you had at the time of the explosion, management of the 
field offices that was changing out. There was three different man-
agers, field office managers, two of them acting during the time of 
the last couple of inspections at UBB, so all this stuff caught up 
with the agency. 

Specialists were just wiped out to the core, where they were un-
able to keep up the specialty work. 

I knew at the first part of the review process the IR team found 
that there was two ventilation specialists in the whole district. 

This is a district that had over 50 Massey mines. They were 
down to two ventilation specialists. 

That ramped up to about six by the end, but there is no question 
there is an experience problem. There is no question that the expe-
rience losses had to do with both the budget constraints and the 
attrition of the agency that left it where it was at. 

Chairman KLINE. The gentleman’s time has expired, more than 
expired. 

Ms. Woolsey? 
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Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Secretary, Federal District Judge David Sam noted recently 

at a court hearing where during the sentencing of Murray Energy 
for two Mine Act violations connected to the Crandall Canyon mine 
disaster. 

This is going to get me to a question I am going to ask you. That 
is why I am going to that. 

He said, and I quote him. He said, ‘‘I am outraged because of the 
miniscule amount provided by the criminal statute’’ in the sanc-
tions and the fining these criminals from Crandall Canyon. 

So, Mr. Chairman, I have a copy of that. And I would ask unani-
mous consent to insert it in the transcript. 

[The information follows:] 
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Chairman KLINE. Without objection. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you. 
So the Mine Act classifies a willful violation of a mandatory safe-

ty standard as a misdemeanor, even when miners are injured or 
killed. 

So that is true even when making a false statement under the 
Mine Act. And that is a felony only. 
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So would it make a difference, why would it make a difference, 
if instead of these weak miniscule criminal statutes, we had strong-
er felonies—whatever you call them under the—if we treated these 
endangered miners that were hurt and willful violations of manda-
tory safety standards were treated as a felony under the Mine Act 
instead of a misdemeanor? 

Mr. MAIN. I believe the judge expressed his frustration of his in-
ability to take tougher action where he believes, from why I have 
read, tougher action was needed because of the constraints of the 
Mine Act. 

I think it is pretty straightforward. I think the U.S. Attorney’s 
office expressed similar concerns of what they believe that their 
limitations to bring forward other actions. 

And I think it is a classic case, if you have to step back and take 
a look at to determine whether or not there are sufficient tools 
under the Mine Act to deal with circumstances like that. 

And I will just point back to some of the things that we are still 
finding through some of our impact inspections. 

You know, if anybody thought that advance notice of inspections 
was a piece of history, we are living in a different world. I mean, 
that is something we constantly find. 

This kind of conduct is so ongoing that it doesn’t seem that there 
is enough deterrent under the Mine Act to prevent that from hap-
pening. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you for asking my convoluted—answering 
my convoluted question in a way we could understand what I was 
asking. 

Thank you very much. 
The MSHA internal review, Joe, found that in six separate cases 

managers at the Upper Big Branch Mine should have been inves-
tigated for willfully violating safety laws. 

Why weren’t these cases investigated? And is MSHA conducting 
those investigations now? 

Mr. MAIN. There is about three reasons, I think, to answer the 
question why weren’t they. 

In addition to the ventilation and roof control specialist staff, 
these cuts also affected special investigations throughout MSHA as 
part of our special investigations staff that was cut. 

And I think if you look at our testimony, I think there is a chart 
in there that shows this whole specialist dip. So there is a real re-
source problem of what the inspectors could do. 

The other problem that existed, which was raised in the internal 
review, was that around 2006, I believe it was, MSHA was only 
able to carry out about 83 percent of its inspection responsibilities. 
They were shifting people over just to do, you know, you know, tar-
geted inspections at mines they couldn’t get to. 

They were pulling off ventilation specialists and special inves-
tigators and others to go just try to keep the mandatory inspection 
program up because they were so short-staffed and couldn’t keep 
up. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. Well with that in—— 
Mr. MAIN. But that is—— 
Ms. WOOLSEY [continuing]. With that in mind, do you agree with 

NIOSH, their independent panel recommendation, to conduct four 
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complete inspections each year at underground mines as a way to 
reprioritize resources. 

I mean, would that help? 
Mr. MAIN. Yes, to finish up the last question. All of those cases 

were shipped off to the U.S. Attorney’s Office that were identified. 
So those were processed. 
To answer your second question, you know, I went to work before 

there was ever a Mine Act in this country in 1967. I don’t know 
if there is anybody else around here that did. 

But I remember the first time the federal inspector showed up 
at the mine. It was a game changer. 

And I can tell you from my own personal experience that the two 
and four mandatory inspection program has saved more miners’ 
lives out of that Mine Act than probably any other single thing. 

If you look at 178 or 278 miners, I think, that was dying on the 
job in 1977 when that act was passed, we are down to—and we 
hope to get even to zero—but we are down in the high 30s to 
around 40 today. And I think that had a lot to do with protecting 
these miners. 

It is like taking to strip that away, I think, is like taking two 
brakes off of a car because we don’t have as many car wrecks now. 
I mean, this is a fundamental piece of the 1969 Mine Act that min-
ers were given. 

I think, the most fundamental protection they have. 
Chairman KLINE. The gentlelady’s time has expired. 
Mrs. Roby? 
Mrs. ROBY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Thank you, Mr. Main, for being here today, we appreciate you 

taking the opportunity to answer our questions. And I have a few 
questions about the MSHA inspectors’ work, especially about the 
days and the hours that they worked, especially on weekends. 

And unfortunately, I would preface my set of questions by admit-
ting that for the past 5 weekends one of our nation’s miners has 
died in a mine, including last Friday night at the Shoal Creek Mine 
in my home state of Alabama. 

And now that MSHA’s internal review found that the agency con-
ducted spot inspections at the Upper Big Branch at irregular inter-
vals, and that none of the inspections occurred on a Saturday. And 
the internal review also found, and I quote—‘‘inspectors were con-
tractually required to begin their work week no later than Tues-
day,’’ which, quote—‘‘limited the opportunities for inspecting on 
Fridays and Saturdays.’’ 

So if I understand this correctly, does this mean that there were 
no inspections on Sundays? And you know, is this issue of not hav-
ing or having infrequent Friday and weekend inspections wide-
spread? 

Mr. MAIN. I think to answer the question was there anything on 
Sundays. You may be correct. There may not have been. I have to 
go back and check that. But I will tell you what we have done. 

We have made a lot of changes since the Upper Big Branch trag-
edy. And some of them started pretty quick. And one of them, you 
know, I directed my staff, we are going to do a better targeting of 
the problem mines that are out there, and approach these problems 
differently. 
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If you look at the impact inspections that we do every month, a 
lot of those are done on off shifts when they are least expecting 
MSHA to show up. And at a time for capturing the phones to pre-
vent the mine operators from changing the conditions underground, 
prevent advance notice, so that is a tactic that we are using more 
readily now. 

The agencies have had to shift their personnel to address that. 
But they are. 

And you are right about the past 5 weekends. We have wound 
up, and you start wondering are we so much now on the weekends, 
we are shifting some of the, you know, some of the activities to a 
time they still don’t think we are going to show up. I don’t know. 

But in three of those, I believe, they were foremen that died, in 
these weekend deaths. 

Now, we just put alert out to the mining industry this past week 
to get them to focus on that as well. But the short answer is that 
we have changed the way we do business. We are focusing more 
time on the off shifts. 

We are plowing through both the data and the human informa-
tion we have to figure out which mines do we really need to be at 
more often. And at times when they least expect us to be there. 

And I think that folks could pretty much realize that there is 
probably going to be even more weekend inspections at mines 
across the country. 

Mrs. ROBY. That is good to hear. 
And I also understand that you were involved in the Jim Wal-

ter’s mine investigation in Alabama. 
Mr. MAIN. Yes. 
Mrs. ROBY. And during that investigation, MSHA discovered that 

the mine operator essentially kept two set of books. And—— 
Mr. MAIN. There was a problem that dates back that far, yes. 
Mrs. ROBY. Right. And so I understand that the investigation at 

Upper Big Branch also showed that Massey was keeping two sets 
of books by illegally reporting hazards in the coal production re-
port. 

And so the question is given your experience at Jim Walter’s 
mine in Alabama, what are you doing? And what will you be doing 
to ensure that mine operators are recording hazards in the official 
examination books rather than these, quote—‘‘two sets of books?’’ 

Mr. MAIN. Yes. I would say that if I had been assistant secretary 
back in 2001, we would probably have taken a more aggressive ac-
tion after that to not be talking about it so much in 2010. 

Having said that, there are a number of things that we are 
doing, and there are things that we were asking Congress to take 
a look at. 

We have pretty well made this clear to all of our inspectorate 
staff about what is going on. There is absolutely no problem for an 
operator to keep a set of books that lists hazards, as long as they 
put them in the required books. 

And that is one thing I want to make clear. What we were find-
ing at Upper Big Branch was that they were listing hazards in 
their production books. They weren’t in their routine books. 

This is conduct that you have to get into the books to find. This 
is conduct that—you know, we don’t have the powers to do sub-
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poenas, for example, to go in a demand those kind of records, just 
something to think about. 

But our inspectors are alert to the fact that this is a problem. 
We have made them totally alert to the fact that we need to be 
doing a much better job of looking at the examination books. 

That was a failure that we found that Upper Big Branch that the 
inspectors were not as focused on what was actually in those books 
the way they should have been. 

So with the additional attention, the notice has been given to the 
mining industry, we are using all the tools we have. But we could 
use a few more. 

Mrs. ROBY. Thank you, my time has expired. 
Chairman KLINE. I thank the gentlelady. 
Mr. Andrews? 
Mr. ANDREWS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Chairman thank you for calling this hearing and the serious-

ness which I think all the members are approaching it. 
I think for 29 of our fellow citizens we have all engaged in an 

inexcusable failure. And I would start with us. 
I think that we failed to give prosecutors the tools to convict peo-

ple of serious offenses and have sufficient punishment when they 
do. I think it is really outrageous that some of these offenses that 
were involved in the Massey prosecutions were not felonies. 

And we need to fix that. 
I think we have a responsibility for not giving MSHA all of the 

tools and resources and personnel that it has needed over time. 
And I think it is our responsibility to fix that. 

Mr. Main, I know the record is still being developed. But I think 
a fair statement is that some of the inspectors from MSHA failed 
to catch things that really can’t be written off for lack of experience 
or lack of personnel. They just didn’t do their jobs very well. 

And I think there should be some consequences in those cases. 
And certainly at the root of this problem is absolutely deplorable, 

criminally irresponsible behavior by a mine operator. And I know 
there are vigorous prosecutions going on as we speak with what-
ever tools we have given the prosecutors. 

I think obviously our focus should be on finding out what hap-
pened in this senseless loss of 29 lives. But our focus also ought 
to be on preventing something like this from happening again. 

And one of the things I am confident that you are doing is to 
think about how you train and how you supervise and how you 
manage the people who work for you. And I will leave that to your 
discretion. 

But I do want to take a look at whether we have given this agen-
cy that you run the resources and the experienced personnel or not 
that we should. 

And it bears mentioning that in 2001, we had spent $122 million 
to run your agency. By 2006, it was down to $117 million, which 
in real dollar terms is about a 15 or 20 percent cut. 

And not coincidentally, and I would like that chart [KB1]that 
was just up to be back again. What happened during that period 
of time, it looks as if many of your experienced inspectors, which 
is represented by that green—by the red line, the declining line, 
that the number of experienced inspectors you had, the average ex-
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perience dropped precipitously, as I understand it, from about 12 
years of experience to about 5. 

Why were experienced people leaving the agency during that pe-
riod of time? 

I know you weren’t running it. But I am sure you have talked 
to people. 

Why were experienced people leaving the agency during that 
time? 

Mr. MAIN. In the period of? 
Mr. ANDREWS. This would be the period from say 2002 to 2006 

or 2009. 
Mr. MAIN. I can’t speak for the motives of the folks, why they 

left. But there was a large number of employees that were retire-
ment eligible. 

You know, why they decided to exercise that—I mean, that is 
something that I think you would have to ask them. 

You know, a couple of other items that you raised too. One is, 
you know, there is absolutely—could we have done better. There is 
absolutely no question about that. And we are on a path to really 
just take a step back and fix the problems in MSHA. 

And we are not taking the same approach that was done in the 
past internal reviews because I have said from the outset, if we do 
the same thing the last folks did—— 

Mr. ANDREWS. Yes—— 
Mr. MAIN [continuing]. We are going to compound the problem. 
Mr. ANDREWS. I know you are not saying—and I don’t believe 

that simply spending more money on a problem like this works. 
But I sure do think that spending less, then it may exacerbate the 
problem. 

The budget that is going to be under consideration on the House 
floor probably this week, if you take the projections across the 
budget, if you prorate them, which they may or may not do in the 
appropriations process. 

If you prorate them, you would have 5.4 percent less money to 
operate on this coming year than you have right now. 

And if you prorate these for 2014, you would have 19 percent less 
than you have to operate on right now. 

What impact would that have on your ability to protect these 
miners? 

Mr. MAIN. I think take a look at the IR report and see what they 
found, what the last impact of that was. And I think you could 
pretty—— 

Mr. ANDREWS. What does it say? 
Mr. MAIN [continuing]. Pretty well predict the future. You can-

not—if you expect to have an effective enforcement agency, you 
have got to pay for it. 

I think it is that simple. 
And I think that in terms of the lesson that have been learned 

from the Upper Big Branch is that if we could all go back and redo 
history through 2001 through 2006, we would probably all agree to 
do that. 

And having said that, I think it is a step that we don’t want to 
take in the future to go down that same road. 

Mr. ANDREWS. Thank you, Mr. Main. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
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Chairman KLINE. I thank the gentleman. 
Dr. Roe? 
Mr. ROE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and thank you, Mr. Main. 
And to start with, just to offer my sympathy to the families, obvi-

ously the 29, plus the friends, acquaintances and so forth of this 
horrible tragedy. 

And it seems to me that it was a perfect storm. It was an unscru-
pulous company that wasn’t following the rules. And MSHA who 
didn’t really inspect those or follow those rules very carefully them-
selves. 

It is absolutely a perfect storm had this tragedy happen. 
I agree with you, the MSHA didn’t cause the explosion. They did 

not do that. 
And in reference to Mr. Andrews’ chart that he just had up, just 

for the record, the chart does not show the experience that MSHA 
folks are required to have before they come to work for MSHA. 

Mr. Main, as you know, your agency received significant funding 
increases over the last 6 years, funding which has increased from 
$278 million in 2006 to $373 million this year, a 34 percent in-
crease over 6 years. 

With respect to funding dedicated specifically to coal enforce-
ment, funding levels increased from $117 million in fiscal year 
2006 to $165 million in fiscal year 2012, a 41 percent increase over 
6 years. 

In 2010, the late Robert Byrd, Senator from West Virginia, said 
of this MSHA and the Upper Big Branch disaster, ‘‘I am perplexed 
as to how such a tragedy on such a scale could happen given the 
significant increases in funding and in manpower for the MSHA 
that had been provided by this subcommittee.’’ 

Senator Byrd went on to say, ‘‘I don’t believe it was because of 
lack of funding. I don’t believe that MSHA lacked enforcement au-
thorities. I don’t believe that.’’ 

Without objection, Mr. Chairman, I would like to include Senator 
Byrd’s opening statement from a Senate hearing held on May 20th, 
2010 into this records hearing. 

[The information follows:] 
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Chairman KLINE. Without objection. 
Mr. ROE. I thank the chairman. 
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Now, Mr. Main, your agency did in fact receive increased funding 
every year for the last 6 years did it not? 

Mr. MAIN. Yes, but I think you had to put this thing in context 
and look at the investigation findings which—the agency was de-
pleted to probably its lowest point about 2006. 

In 2006, that is when Congress made a decision to add more re-
sources. 

Those resources by the time it went through the process things 
have to go through, to where the agency could start hiring up was 
in mid-2007. 

In mid-2007 as the agency started to hire, the amount of time 
it took for those inspectors to go through the training process was 
about 18 months to 2 years. 

Now keep in mind, you still have people retiring that was coming 
out of the system as well. 

But the bottom line is, you know, as far as the healthiness of 
where we are at in these later years, and having more stability and 
having more people experienced—— 

Mr. ROE. Let me interrupt you just a second. 
As a physician, we have young doctors that come out that are 

fully trained. And when they are fully trained, they are expected 
to do the same job that a senior physician like I would do. So I 
don’t think that is an excuse. 

When you are trained up to do the job, you ought to be—we can’t 
use that as an excuse when someone does a cesarean section or 
whatever, or a cancer operation. You are either qualified to do it 
or you are not. 

Mr. MAIN. I do look for the older doctor myself. But that is okay. 
Mr. ROE. Well, let me—a second question. And I might do the 

same. 
Do you agree or disagree with the statements made by Senator 

Byrd less than 2 years ago about this very tragedy and the actions 
of your agency? 

And if you disagree, why do you disagree? 
Mr. MAIN. No, I think—yes, I think what the senator and prob-

ably a lot of folks were of that belief until folks really had a 
chance—unfortunately the senator didn’t get to live long enough to 
see this all the way through. 

But to see how much the agency was shorted. And how long it 
took for the money they put back in to have a real effect. 

At the time of the Upper Big Branch tragedy, of the lead inspec-
tors that was at Upper Big Branch, I think five out of six of them 
was hired in this latest class of 2006 forward. 

If you look back at 2007 and look at the make-up of District 4 
and the agency, 33 percent of District 4 and the agency were train-
ees—— 

Mr. ROE. Okay. Let me ask one question before you—I think my 
time has almost expired. 

It would be egregious findings there. Could you have just shut 
this mine down? Just said, look, it is closed. It is too unsafe for 
miners to go in there. 

Mr. MAIN. On 48 occasions, MSHA went in that mine in 2009 
and shut them down using the full measure of the law they had. 
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And the authority under the law which says that once you correct 
the problem, you can put it back to work. 

Okay. And the mine did that. 
This is an issue that has been talked about. But there is no sil-

ver bullet. We have asked Congress to consider that. 
We have tried to come up with ways to have a holistic way to 

deal with the mine that is seen as an immediate danger. We use 
that at the Freedom Mine. 

In 2010—— 
Mr. ROE. They didn’t shut down—— 
Mr. MAIN [continuing]. It took us 3 months to get there. 
Mr. ROE. They didn’t shut it down and disaster occurred. That 

is a fact. 
Chairman KLINE. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Ms. Fudge? 
Ms. FUDGE. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and thank 

you, Mr. Assistant Secretary, for being here today. 
This may seem a little repetitive, but I want to be clear. 
The first question, Mr. Assistant Secretary, is if you look at 

MSHA’s fiscal year 2013 congressional budget justification, it pro-
vides that MSHA is vigorously pursuing policies and procedures to 
ensure miners are aware of their rights to report hazards without 
fear of discrimination. 

Can you tell me what you were doing in that regard specifically? 
Mr. MAIN. I am sorry. I missed the last part of your question. 

I apologize. 
Ms. FUDGE. It indicates that you are pursuing policies and proce-

dures to ensure miners are aware of their rights to report hazards 
without fear of discrimination. 

What are you doing in that regard? 
Mr. MAIN. Well, there is a number of things that we have done. 

And particularly after Upper Big Branch, and particularly after 
lessons—the information from the hearing that this very committee 
held in Beckley, West Virginia. 

We developed a lot of new training programs. We are getting in-
formation back out to the miners. We are getting more information 
to miners about their rights which are coal enforcement and metal 
and nonmetal enforcement program do as they reach the miners at 
the mine. 

We have beefed up our response to miners who file complaints. 
We have an obligation to protect them when they do. 

We beefed up protection particularly for those who are fired for 
speaking up about the safety rights if it is a protected activity in 
the Mine Act. 

And we have considerably increased the number of cases that we 
now take to the Review Commission for temporary reinstatement. 

So there are a lot of things that we are doing with regard to the 
miner voice issue to—and we think this is something that again 
was part of legislative processes that was discussed last year and 
contained in some of the bills, that we really think is something 
that needs to address giving miners additional protections beyond 
what they have now. 
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Ms. FUDGE. And that is what I was trying to get to. To be sure 
that they do have the protections they need, because I think that 
that contributed to the problem. 

Mr. MAIN. The last complaint—everybody saw the numbers that 
came out of here as far as what the violation issue was. 

The last complaint we received from that mine was in 2006, 4 
years prior to the explosion. And that is a sign that we really need 
to figure out a better way to give miners a voice to help them. 

Ms. FUDGE. Thank you. 
And the other question you touched on just briefly in—I think 

when you were talking to my colleague, Mr. Andrews. 
Do you believe that MSHA should have subpoena powers? 
And do you think that had there been subpoena powers, it could 

have changed the outcome of the Upper Big Branch case? 
Mr. MAIN. I can’t—I don’t know if it would have changed the his-

tory back, because I don’t know how it would have been utilized. 
It would have been a tool that could have been better utilized. 

This is something that was in the legislation. It was sponsored 
over the last couple of years, and something that we supported. 

I think if you look at the history, we had a number of witnesses 
that exercised their Fifth Amendment rights during Upper Big 
Branch tragedy. 

But even to get to that spot where they could be subpoenaed, we 
had to work with and utilize the State of West Virginia’s subpoena 
power to even get to that point. 

We don’t have that. 
Ms. FUDGE. Thank you very much. 
Mr. Chairman, I—— 
Chairman KLINE. Would the gentlelady yield—— 
Ms. FUDGE. I would yield to the ranking member. 
Mr. MILLER. Absent the subpoena power and absent some kind 

of whistleblower protection, Mr. Main, what you described here this 
morning is just a continued cat and mouse game where people con-
tinue to warn mining companies that inspectors are on the prop-
erty after Upper Big Branch. And they continue apparently to cook 
the books. 

And so they continue along because basically they are immunized 
against the downside of that because Congress hasn’t given you 
subpoena power. And workers don’t have worker protection. 

So we are right back where we were before. 
All of the internal reviews and the rest of that, you are still cit-

ing people—you just cited somebody 32 times. You had to grab the 
phones and that on warning people that the government is on the 
property. 

And in answering the question here, yes, but the books con-
tinue—two sets of books continue to be kept. But we can’t get to 
them because we don’t have the subpoena power. 

So as long as Congress is going to insulate the mine owners from 
irresponsible and illegal behavior, I don’t care how many people we 
give you to staff up. You are going to be playing on the short end 
of the field. 

And that is just not acceptable. You can’t sit here and continue 
to lament the 29 deaths and the deaths that went before them and 
the deaths that are continuing to come, and then suggest that 
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somehow you have got to do this with the blindfold and one hand 
behind your back. 

I mean that is where—at the end of the day—that is what you 
are describing to us. 

Mr. MAIN. I can tell you this. With regard to the question that 
was asked about the two sets of books, we can go ask the mine op-
erator to produce books. It is not required to be legally maintained 
under the Mine Act. And they can say no. 

And what we do beyond that is what we are creative enough to 
do. We do not have the ability to demand those through such a sub-
poena power. 

Chairman KLINE. The gentlelady’s time has expired. 
Mr. Kelly? 
Mr. KELLY. I thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Secretary, thank you for being here. I don’t think there is 

anybody on the dais today that would question the desire to make 
sure that people were safe all the time. 

And unfortunately though, change doesn’t usually take place un-
less there is a tragedy or a crisis. Now if I understand correctly, 
your inspectors have to have a knowledge in your policies and pro-
cedures of 4,500 pages of inspection. 

Is that right? 
Mr. MAIN. Probably more than that. But that is probably a fair 

number. 
Mr. KELLY. Okay. 
So how would you change what you have now? And I—listen, I 

understand about spending more money. But throwing money at a 
problem—— 

Mr. MAIN. Right—— 
Mr. KELLY [continuing]. Without having a definitive plan of how 

you are going to fix it, usually isn’t a fix. It is just—— 
Mr. MAIN. Yes—— 
Mr. KELLY [continuing]. A waste of money. What would you do 

differently? 
What could you do differently? 
Mr. MAIN. Well, yes, what we are doing differently—here is the 

way I view life. 
I think that what has happened—and if you look at the number 

of the past tragedies, we have taken an inspection procedure and 
process that was pretty challenging for an inspector to do, and as 
a theory I use, we expect him to do 1,000 things, they can do 750. 

And after Sago and after Jim Walter’s and after Darby, after 
Crandall Canyon, there was a number of different policies layered 
on top of that. 

I think the investigation or the internal review team came up 
with about 200 since 2004 that was layered on. 

What I said back in July of 2010, I am not doing this. I put to-
gether a crew to go back. We are rewriting the entire manual from 
base zero. We are cleaning out a lot of the controversy. 

We are making sure that all these internal reviews, and all these 
accountability audits, get placed into there in a very clear and 
straightforward way, so an inspector knows exactly what they are 
supposed to do. And we can have a greater clarity. 
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We have held up the completion of this until we are finished up 
the internal review, because I asked our folks go to the root of this. 
We have got to figure out what all the problems are here if we are 
going to fix them. 

Mr. KELLY. Yes. 
Mr. MAIN. So I can tell you that we are rewriting the entire in-

spection procedures—— 
Mr. KELLY. Yes. 
Mr. MAIN [continuing]. To clean up, you know—— 
Mr. KELLY. Yes, and I understand that. I have been through sev-

eral mines back in the area that I represent. And I have got to tell 
you, part of the problem is—and I don’t know the experience that 
the people that you have going on inspecting. 

But when people get cited for having a fluorescent light that is 
not the proper height above the desk, or not having a cover on a 
trash can, or not having two sets of chocks under truck wheels, and 
things like that—— 

Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. KELLY [continuing]. You start to wonder if it is really a loss 

prevention, if it is really a tragedy prevention. 
Sometimes we get to the point where we are placing too many 

things in the same level. Obviously, if I am understanding with 
Upper Big Branch that there were 48 citations, now, I know you 
don’t have subpoena power, at least I am understanding that. 

What would your next—— 
Mr. MAIN. Well then—— 
Mr. KELLY [continuing]. Place would have been. I mean, I can’t 

believe that if we know something is wrong, if we know these peo-
ple are bad actors and if the people that work for them—— 

Mr. MAIN. Yes. 
Mr. KELLY [continuing]. Are complicit in hiding things from mine 

inspectors—— 
Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. KELLY [continuing]. Then I don’t know how you clear that 

up. 
I mean, again, it comes down to if people don’t have that in their 

heart to stand up and do it. And the question about what are the 
whistleblowers—— 

Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. KELLY [continuing]. Protections? 
Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. KELLY. But certainly, after 48 citations, somebody would 

have been able to go to somebody in the Department of Justice and 
say, we have got a bad actor. We have got to shut these folks down. 

Mr. MAIN. Easier than it seems. 
If you look at the history of the Mine Act up until Upper Big 

Branch, I can tell you the tool of choice for this agency was the 
104(d) orders, which allowed them to quickly go in—this is a com-
pany that didn’t pay their fines. So fining them, you know, $1 mil-
lion a day, and by the way, one longwall running off of Upper Big 
Branch in a shift produced about $750 or $700,000. That is $2 mil-
lion a day. So if you even give them a flagrant—I mean, that is— 
run that long wall, what, a fourth of the day. 



68 

This was a company that did not pay its fines. This is a company 
that challenged the law. And—— 

Mr. KELLY. But—— 
Mr. MAIN [continuing]. And—— 
Mr. KELLY [continuing]. But that is my point. If you know this 

is going on and they habitually do this—you have to be able to go 
to somebody up the ladder to say, listen, we have got to stop this. 
This is a bad actor that we have got to take out. 

Mr. MAIN. Today we have instituted a number of tools to target 
that. But I am going to tell you, we are not there yet. 

The tools that we are using is these impact inspections to deal 
with mine operators before they get too far out of control. The po-
tential Pattern of Violations process that measures their—both 
their safety and their compliance record and puts them on a pro-
gram, the potential Pattern of Violation Program. 

Those are two tools that I think have been very effective post 
UBB. 

But I will tell you, if you are still looking for that magic bullet, 
it is not there. 

And what we did was, a mine in East Kentucky, Freedom En-
ergy, that had a record similar to Upper Big Branch, we went after 
them to try to create a tool which was out of Section 108 Injunctive 
Action. It took us 3 months to get there. 

You know, so I think that we need to relook at creating a better 
tool that gives us a swift ability to go in, as you say, if we had 
looked at UBB today, what could we do to go in and shut them 
down when they are that bad. 

We still have a gap to get us there. We are using the impacts, 
the 104(d)s, the other enforcement tools. 

But we are still short. 
Mr. KELLY. Okay. 
Chairman KLINE. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. Kildee? 
Mr. KILDEE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Main, I have been serving on this committee for 36 years 

trying to make safety a more important issue for our miners. 
When I came on this committee 36 years ago, Carl Perkins, 

whom we affectionately called, Pappy Perkins, was chairman of 
this committee. 

And we had a hearing on mining safety. And I was shocked what 
I heard then. But I am shocked 36 years later of what is hap-
pening. 

I could recall the—one of the representatives of the mine owners 
testify how safe, and how safety was such a high priority in their 
mines. 

And you still get that same testimony from many of the owners 
who have come here. I can’t think any who didn’t. 

But I can recall one time the person went so far that Pappy Per-
kins, or Carl Perkins who was such a kindly gentle person, finally 
said, when I was a child my daddy put me on the back of a buck-
board and took me over to the next hollow for the funeral of my 
cousin who was killed with others in one of your mines. 
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That is 36 years later. And I feel that we should have made 
much more progress in 36 years. We fought wars in that time. We 
spent money here and there. 

But 36 years later I still hear the same stories and the same atti-
tude very often of the owners of trying to get by as cheap as they 
can so they can make greater profits. 

What area should we strengthen to make sure that their banal-
ity, their stupidity, is brought into rein? Stronger regulation, a 
more stringent enforcement, greater penalties, where would you 
emphasize the greatest effort of this Congress in working with you 
to make sure that these people really put in mind the safety of 
their workers? 

Mr. MAIN. You know, I firmly believe that there are a number 
of mine operators in this country that do manage their systems to 
have systems in place to operate under the Mine Act. 

That doesn’t mean that they always are totally successful with 
that. But I believe that, you know, many mine operators try to do 
what is right. 

And I believe that there are those that just do not. And I think 
if you take a look at our impact inspection list, mines that have 
shown up on a potential Pattern of Violations, those are showing 
you some of the mines that are operating outside the mainstream. 

Dealing with some of those mines—and I am just going to start 
down the list. 

I do believe that there needs to be more respect of the law and 
a greater fear of the penalties that exist to deter them from con-
tinuing to do the conduct that we are finding with the advance no-
tice, and with some of these mines still operating without enough 
curtain up to control methane that could have another coal mine 
dust explosion. 

On a regulatory front, we have the list of recommendations from 
both the—acts investigation internal review team. We are going to 
take a hard look at to figure out what it is that we need to do bet-
ter there. 

Administratively, I am going to tell you, we are doing a lot of 
things differently here to make sure that we have the best inspec-
tion agency that the miners should expect and money could buy. 
And there is going to be a lot of changes that we have already— 
that has been laid out in the internal review reports that we are 
working toward to correct. 

But at the end of the day, I think that, you know, the legislation 
that has been sitting here on the Hill, that has different pieces to 
address the issues we have talked about today is something that 
this Congress needs to take a look at. 

And I think too the issue that was raised here, we have got to 
be—you cannot undercut this staff and this agency to the point 
that you are scrambling with trainees trying to just get into mines, 
let alone inspect them. And expect to have a competent inspection 
program. 

And going forward, I think that is something that we really have 
to take a good look at—— 

Mr. KILDEE. And I say that I really think that through the lord 
is the beginning of wisdom. And I think that put a little fear that 
the government means business, that we just don’t use ink. 
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We put our spirit, our beliefs and the dignity of every human 
being when we write those laws. 

Chairman KLINE. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. Walberg? 
Mr. WALBERG. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and thank you, Mr. 

Main, for being here. 
I would like to highlight an issue related to miner training cited 

in the internal review that seems startling to me. 
Now in my getting up to speed over the course of this past year, 

I have had the opportunity to view mining operations in North Da-
kota, surface mining. And I have had the opportunity to go 1,200 
feet below Detroit and see the salt mines, which is a totally dif-
ferent ballgame. 

Look down 1,200 feet into an iron ore operation in Marquette, 
beautiful area of our state, and then to be with you in your home 
area, in fact to see your home. But in a coal mine 800-900 feet 
below and eight miles back into that longwall. 

I know that I am not a miner. And I know you are a miner. And 
you understand that. 

And I know that you weren’t around leading when this all hap-
pened. 

But as I look at the record, Upper Big Branch was operating 
under a petition for modification to permit mining through any oil 
and gas wells. The petition was granted, according to record, on Oc-
tober 16th, 1995. 

And the mine was required to submit a training plan 60 days 
after the petition became final. 

As I understand it, that plan would have included initial and re-
fresher miner training requirements, so forth and so on. But the 
internal review found that the training plan was never submitted. 
And the requirements were never part of the mine’s training plan 
when the explosion occurred. 

Director Main, how did that happen? 
Mr. MAIN. I think if you look at—one of the things that you will 

find in this internal review that you are not going to find in other 
internal reviews is really just looking back through everything that 
we could find that was wrong here to get it fixed. 

I don’t think there is any other internal review that looked back 
beyond a couple of years. 

That was one of the things we asked the folks to go back and 
take a harder look, they found. In 1995 apparently, they didn’t im-
plement the plan. I mean, I think it is pretty much that simple 
from all the—— 

Mr. WALBERG. Did MSHA ever demand the plan? Did you 
find—— 

Mr. MAIN. I don’t think there is—I believe that somehow in 1995 
that provision was put in a petition modification. And apparently 
we could find no follow up to require the operator to do what—now 
I don’t know if there is a plan put in place or not by the operator. 
But there is none that was incorporated that the—— 

Mr. WALBERG. That MSHA knew—— 
Mr. MAIN [continuing]. They found. 
Mr. WALBERG. I guess then moving forward, we don’t live in the 

past. We look at the past to plan for the future. 
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But I guess my question then comes to you. 
Does MSHA intend to undertake the comprehensive review of all 

mining plans to determine that this isn’t a widespread problem? 
That what happened at Upper Big Branch, and the fact that this 
training wasn’t done, requirement wasn’t in place, and MSHA ap-
parently didn’t even ask for it, I mean, is that widespread? 

Are we worried that there are other mines operating right now 
who have a similar situation? 

Mr. MAIN. Well, the problem that I think that we face as an 
agency was that there was a lot of policies and procedures that was 
put in place. And I will use that along with the plans that some-
how a lot of communication sort of broke down somewhere in the 
back years in this agency. 

And I think there are different reasons for that. One as far as 
policies, they did centralize the whole policy review process. 

On the training programs, we may or may not find others back 
in those years. But what we are trying to do is start from fresh and 
just identify everything that we can. We are training everybody to 
those things. 

As a matter of fact, the findings of the internal review team of 
the things that came out of it, we have already had a set through 
with all of our District 4 and District 12 staff and the district man-
agers. And we are getting—— 

Mr. WALBERG. But are we looking for this problem right now? 
Even as we are training for it, are we looking for it that there 
might be some ready to explode? 

Mr. MAIN. As far as that kind of training plan, I will tell you we 
will go back and look to see if that is something that we are looking 
at right now. 

I know we are looking at a ton of things. And I will make sure 
that that is on the list of things that we are looking at. 

But one of the things I would like to say is that when I—this is 
the first committee I have testified before when I became assistant 
secretary. I will never forget that. 

It is an awesome experience for those who have never had it, to 
take your first trip to the Hill. 

And, you know, when I was here, one of the things I was laying 
out is sort of like the path that I was going to take with this agen-
cy. And this was about, I think, what, 2 months before Upper Big 
Branch hit. It was in February of 2010. 

And some of the things that I had talked about at that time was 
the fact that the day I took this job, 55 percent of the MSHA in-
spectors that I had had 2 years or less inspection experience, and 
38 percent of the metal and nonmetal inspectors that I had had 
less than 2 years or less of inspection experience. 

And one of the things that I decided to do fairly quickly was to 
bring in every one of our field office supervisors, set up a training 
program to train them on how to be a supervisor, because a lot of 
those had left as well and a lot of them were new, and to be able 
to manage the inspection enforcement program. 

We had complaints about consistency. And I think rightfully so, 
that was coming from The Hill. But to figure out a way to get 
quickly those who managed our whole enforcement program under 
control. 
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We had that put in place and we had to actually—was kicking 
off the first training right as UBB struck. 

The second thing is to take a look at how we are training our 
folks and how we are identifying the core—the auditing. Are we 
doing enough self-audits in this agency to find the things like you 
are talking about. 

Chairman KLINE. I am sorry. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. Tierney? 
Mr. TIERNEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I will just yield my time to the ranking member. 
Mr. MILLER. Secretary Main, Mr. Kelly was discussing with you 

the fact that there were 48 shutdown D2 inspections, shutdowns of 
Upper Big Branch Mine. 

There are 52 weeks in the year. Forty-eight of those apparently 
ended up with the shutting down order at some point in this mine. 

And then he said to you, there must be something you can do. 
And you started to lay out the idea that you could go and seek and 
injunction. Which when you did it in the case of the Freedom Mine, 
it took you about 3 months. 

If this mine continued to operate under its consistent pattern, 
that would be another 12 violations roughly, that warrant an un-
warrantable safety hazard and justify shutting them down. 

So that doesn’t look like a very good remedy if you are a miner 
that you are going to get to spend another 3 months in a mine that 
has this track record, while you go to see if you can put together 
enough of a finding to have an injunction. 

Mr. MAIN. Yes. 
Mr. MILLER. So once again, we are left here because of some 

glitch in the law, some failure to get from one point to the other. 
The miners are left in an unsafe condition—working in an unsafe 

condition. 
Mr. MAIN. I am here to tell everyone that we are using all the 

tools that we can amass under that—— 
Mr. MILLER. That is my worry. You have used all the tools—— 
Mr. MAIN [continuing]. And—— 
Mr. MILLER [continuing]. You still can’t get to the end of the 

story where an unsafe mine is either permanently shut down or 
something happens. 

Mr. MAIN. There is no silver bullet that we have in the Mine 
Act—— 

Mr. MILLER. I don’t want a silver bullet, I want an effective tool. 
And you have made it very clear you are working very hard to 

see how you can piece together the authorities you have under the 
law. 

But it appears to me in your response that you can’t get to where 
we would need to provide that protection because you don’t have 
subpoena power in the case of cooking the books. And you don’t 
have enough authority to keep a mine from racking up 48 D2 cita-
tions. 

Mr. MAIN. There is a point of which we lack the ability to go in 
and shut down a mine because of its overall conditions. We can use 
all the tools as identified in the law to selectively, and with regard 
to the specific issue at hand, to take enforcement action. 

But I think what you are describing doesn’t exist. 
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Mr. MILLER. You issued the results of your inspections. This was 
in January. And in the release here you refer to Coal Creek min-
ing. 

And you said that the agency seems—secured and monitored the 
phones during the inspection, issued 32 citations, 12 orders which 
subsequently shut down the mine. 

MSHA issued an imminent danger order when an inspector ob-
served a coal pile five feet high, 10 feet in diameter on fire approxi-
mately 23 feet away from explosive storage magazine outside the 
mine. 

Mr. MAIN. That is the conditions they found. 
Mr. MILLER. That is the conditions they found. In that case when 

you secured the phones, did you have the finding of prior notice or 
not? 

Mr. MAIN. On that one, I am not sure. I would have to go back 
and take a look at. 

Mr. RAHALL. Would the gentleman yield? 
Mr. MILLER. But we have an inherently dangerous process going 

on here. 
And somehow we can’t get to the remedy. 
Mr. MAIN. Yes. 
Mr. MILLER. Because you just keep going through shutting down, 

opening up, shutting down, opening up, shutting down, opening up, 
and you continue to find these unwarranted hazards. 

Mr. MAIN. Yes. 
I believe that there is a mine that I identified in the testimony 

that I presented. It was a mine that we did a number of impacts 
inspections at. I think about seven. 

Mr. MILLER. Okay. 
I will yield to Mr. Rahall. 
Mr. RAHALL. Very quickly in response—to follow up on the gen-

tleman’s question. 
Could the operator of this mine shut it down? Could Mr. 

Blankenship have shut it down? 
Mr. MAIN. Mr. Blankenship could have shut this mine down any 

moment that they decided to do it. They could have decided not to 
have provided advance notice of the inspections underground to the 
mining operator, or to the mining personnel, so we could have had 
a fair view of the conditions that are there. 

But yes, we all have to understand, it is a mine operator’s re-
sponsibility to run these mines safely and to have them in place, 
programs and procedures to protect the miners. 

Many of them do every day of the week. Some don’t. And some 
like Upper Big Branch really the miners pay just a hell of a price, 
excuse my French, whenever they don’t. 

Mr. MILLER. So whatever number, but you point out, whatever 
number of shifts that mine operator, that irresponsible mine oper-
ator, can get in between the next shut down, in this case you said 
you thought it was worth about $700,000 a shift to run the 
longwall. 

Mr. MAIN. Well let me just say this—— 
Chairman KLINE. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. Rokita? 
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Mr. ROKITA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, Mr. 
Main, for being back here today. 

I want to focus on the internal review. And it seems like the tone 
and breadth of that document almost intentionally focused on Dis-
trict 4, almost shielding headquarters from any culpability in this. 
I mean it is not until page 193 that the report even speaks directly 
to headquarter deficiencies. 

Do you have a comment on that? 
Mr. MAIN. Well, I think the way policy is constructed, it has the 

focus of the investigation basically starting with the mine and 
working itself back. 

And this is a process that has been in place, I think, since about 
1992 in terms of the process for conducting—— 

Mr. ROKITA. Yes. The problem, I am seeing and reading in the 
report though is that with the sheer magnitude of the identified 
shortcomings, it can’t be limited to just District 4. 

And before this happens again—— 
Mr. MAIN. Yes. 
Mr. ROKITA [continuing]. Like the other tools that you said you 

are starting to use, I would advise and ask that you look into re-
structuring how you are doing these reports. 

Mr. MAIN. We will. I think that is a valid recommendation. And 
I think some of the findings from the report itself, some of their 
findings from the NIOSH report, really gives us an understanding. 

We really need to go back and retool the way that we do internal 
reviews 

Although having said that, I think that the internal review team 
was instructed to go overboard in terms of not being restricted to 
the balance of that. And really figure out what went wrong here. 

Mr. ROKITA. Thank you. 
Also on page 66 of the report, it states, quote—‘‘the decision not 

to pursue 1610(c) investigations at UBB was driven by resource 
considerations rather than the merits of the case.’’ 

Were you aware of this? Was headquarters aware that that was 
the reason that this happened? 

Mr. MAIN. Well, I doubt if they were because basically what hap-
pens is the district inspectors would be the ones would normally 
identify the cases. They would then transfer that information over 
to the special investigations branch. 

The special investigations branch then would assess those and 
deal with the district in terms of what their recommendations 
were. 

Mr. ROKITA. So you don’t know. 
Mr. MAIN. I don’t know how far, but I just sort of believe that 

what was happening was there was determinations made about 
what they could or couldn’t handle. 

And keeping in mind out of all six of those, I think it was a thor-
ough review, the internal review found that six of those was noto-
rious. I am not sure then on a normal day that the district staff 
would have really identified all six of those. 

But in this particular case, I am not sure that they went beyond 
the discussions between—— 

Mr. ROKITA. Thank you. 



75 

This hearing focused on some short-term inexperience. And I 
want to say that on page 78 of the internal review there appears 
to be an 11-year gap between an agency requirement of the oper-
ator that new elements be included in the training plan. 

And these were never included. And the agency failed to notice 
this during an 11-year period. 

So it seems to me this is more than just near and short-term in-
experience. 

Mr. MAIN. Yes, I think that there is a lot of things that played 
in—it is just like the 1995 plan. I can’t explain why that was not, 
you know, implemented. 

Some of the things that—— 
Mr. ROKITA. It just seems the headquarters and the district 

missed some of this for far too long. 
And again, I would appreciate going through—I used to run—I 

used to be a regulator. I used to be running one of—you—not in 
the coal industry, but for other industries. 

Mr. MAIN. Yes. 
Mr. ROKITA. And these would be warning signs to me to go back 

and review processes. 
Mr. MAIN. Yes. 
Mr. ROKITA. Let me yield the rest of my time to Mr. Walberg. 
Mr. MAIN. Okay. 
Mr. WALBERG. I thank the gentleman. 
Going along that train here, assuming the fact that—or knowing 

the fact that we had a bad actor and operator of that mine, who 
may indeed have covered certain things so that your inspectors 
couldn’t see them, yet the internal review found many instances 
where MSHA inspectors observed serious problems, but did not 
issue a citation. 

For example, District 4 personnel inspected the tailgate entry of 
the longwall on four occasions, but never cited Massey for failing 
to install the required level of roof support. 

And on page 83, the panel concluded, and I quote—‘‘with the 
proper quantity of air there would not have been the accumulation 
of methane, thereby eliminating the fuel sources for the gas explo-
sion.’’ 

My question is how can we be confident inspectors are going to 
find these failures in the future? 

Mr. MAIN. Yes. I think with regard to both of those, I provided 
some insight of those a little bit earlier. 

On the tailgate issue, there is actually only one inspection that 
took place involving the roof supports. The other inspectors who 
were there is over a 3-day period when they went in and shut 
down—that was a—I don’t know if you caught that part of the 
story or not. 

But when the inspectors arrived at the mine site with the car-
load of inspectors, went underground and issued a closure order 
over the ventilation system. And that is what they were there look-
ing at. Then trying to deal—and they had the mine down actually 
for 3 days over a ventilation issue. 

So, you know, those were not all—I think there are some dif-
ferences about what may have been in the internal review report 
and what was in the other report. 
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As far as the—— 
Chairman KLINE. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mr. Rahall? 
Mr. RAHALL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate your cour-

tesies and that of the ranking member in allowing me to be part 
of this panel today. 

The UBB mine does sit in my congressional district, in fact, in 
my home county. So the disaster that occurred on April 5th, 2010 
hits very close to home on multiple fronts. 

Beyond knowing with certainty, as we now do, what caused that 
tragedy, I do ask for two things of this committee. 

First, that the committee look responsibly at what the Congress 
should do to prevent another UBB. And then just do it. 

If that means legislation, and I believe it does, then legislation 
should be passed. 

I do not excuse MSHA’s failures, but the Congress should not 
withhold effective lifesaving legal authorities from the agency as 
some kind of penalty. Because ultimately the only people penalized 
by that cockeyed approach will be our miners. 

Second, I ask that whatever action is taken ensures that bad 
actor company executives, and they are a very minute minority, 
who make the decisions and set the policies that lead to tragedies 
like UBB, are no longer able to hide from the law or to exploit the 
weaknesses of MSHA, as the gentlelady from California, Ms. Wool-
sey, referred to earlier. 

The families of miners are sick of watching lower level employees 
take the fall for upper management. In the case of UBB, investiga-
tion witnesses have testified that Massey CEO, Don Blankenship, 
and members of top management, received reports as often as 
every 30 minutes or more of every day, of every day of the week, 
about the production at that mine. 

What happened at UBB is absolutely criminal. And the Congress 
should do everything in its power to stop the protection, in fact the 
reward, of this kind of sick profit over people behavior. 

Indeed in response to numerous questions, especially from the 
majority side, about why MSHA didn’t shut down this mine, Mr. 
Don Blankenship himself could have shut down the mine at any 
moment, quicker than any government entity or any person on the 
face of the earth. 

None of us ever want to see another disaster like UBB happen 
again. 

And with that stated, I do have a question that I would like to 
ask Mr. Main. And perhaps it is a follow up to the previous ques-
tion. 

But investigation after investigation points to the fact that 
MSHA does need more staff. We know that it was a systematic 
problem that occurred with MSHA. You do need more highly 
trained staff, and that the existing staff is often spread too thin 
trying to address too many needs. 

In southern West Virginia, you have split the former District 4 
largely to address these kinds of problems creating District 12 in 
June of last year. And I understand that both districts are—or nei-
ther district rather is fully staffed, though MSHA is working to-
ward that. 
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This concerns me. And I would like to know, Mr. Main, what 
MSHA is doing to ensure that both of these districts are fully 
staffed and that we have sufficient number of specialists to review 
technical issues like ventilation? 

And what resources does the agency need to make sure that both 
of these district offices are functioning at an optimal level and that 
we are able to retain employees with sufficient experience? 

[The statement of Mr. Rahall follows:] 

Prepared Statement of Hon. Nick J. Rahall, II, a Representative in 
Congress From the State of West Virginia 

Thank you, Chairman Kline and Ranking Member Miller. I appreciate the cour-
tesies extended to me by the Committee. 

The Upper Big Branch Mine sits in my District, in fact, in my home county. So 
the disaster that occurred on April 5, 2010, hit very close to home in multiple re-
spects. 

Beyond knowing with certainty—as we now do—what caused that tragedy, I ask 
for two things. 

First, I ask that this Committee look responsibly at what the Congress should do 
to prevent another UBB, and then do it. If that means legislation—and I believe 
it does—then legislation should be passed. I do not excuse MSHA’s failures, but the 
Congress should not withhold effective, life-saving legal authorities from the agency 
as some kind of penalty, because, ultimately, the only people penalized by that cock-
eyed approach will be our miners. 

Second, I ask that whatever action is taken ensures that bad-actor company ex-
ecutives, and they are a minority, who make the decisions and set the policies that 
lead to tragedies like UBB are no longer be able to hide from the law. The families 
of miners are sick of watching lower level employees take the fall for upper manage-
ment. 

In the case of UBB, investigation witnesses have testified that Massey CEO Don 
Blankenship and members of top management received reports as often as every 30 
minutes or more, every day, about the production at that mine. 

What happened at UBB is absolutely criminal and the Congress should do every-
thing in its power to stop the protection—in fact, the reward—of that kind of sick 
‘‘profit-over-people’’ behavior. 

Mr. Chairman, I NEVER, EVER want to see another disaster like the one at 
Upper Big Branch, and at other mines across my home state in recent years. 

Mr. MAIN. Thank you, Congressman. 
I think—we split the district about June, I believe, of last year. 
Mr. RAHALL. Right. 
Mr. MAIN. And actually we moved into the MSHA academy, we 

are looking for office space to move into so we can expand. 
We are probably going to be taking over more and more of the 

academy space. But Kevin Stricklin is on tap to figure out—we 
have got a number that we are moving to. We are ramping up. We 
are finding space for those. 

And we still have a ways to go, as you said, to move some more 
folks in there to get where we want to be. And we are providing 
additional support from the outside to get there. 

But I would hope by within the next 3 to 4 months that we have 
that—both of those districts ramped up to where we have a full 
complement of staff. 

It is still—so this is staffing within MSHA. There are people bid-
ding in from other areas coming in. 

We have moved some folks from District 4 into District 12. But 
this will be staffed up with the—I think more experienced folks 
than we had before. 
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One of the benefits of the hiring in 2007-2008 was—the crew that 
we brought in was probably some of the most experienced mining 
people that we have. I think about an average of about 15 years 
mining experience. 

So that is the benefit we have as we get the procedures trained 
into them as far as the agency requirements. But we are moving 
quickly to try to get that fully staffed. 

Mr. RAHALL. Okay. 
Let me ask one last question. 
Earlier you mentioned that rock dust samples were taken out of 

the UBB mine on March 15th—— 
Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. RAHALL [continuing]. Taken to a lab—— 
Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. RAHALL [continuing]. And that the report from that lab was 

not back until post UBB—— 
Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. RAHALL [continuing]. Disaster. Why the lag time? And is 

there still a lag time in such analysis of report—— 
Mr. MAIN. When I took this job, I got a lot of surprises. And one 

of those surprises was we had a lab that handled the rock dust 
sampling that was actually under a district, which is actually not 
a national lab, under District 4 control. 

And it was a lab that was actually one of the responsibilities of 
the district itself. 

What we did is we have pulled that lab out. It is now a national 
lab. We have staffed it up. We have put more resources in in terms 
of the sampling equipment. And we are doing much faster sam-
pling now. 

One of the things that was going on with the samples was a bit 
of a delay at that time was that they were doing some experi-
mental research with the CDEM device that is being developed to 
try to figure out. That is going to be a quick tool to be able to quick 
sample. 

So that was part of the delay that was involved in that. 
Mr. RAHALL. Will we ever get—— 
Chairman KLINE. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Dr. Bucshon? 
Mr. BUCSHON. Thank you, Secretary Main for being here today. 
And I grew up in a coal mining community. My dad was a 

United Mine Worker for 37 years. And any time a disaster like this 
happens, it hits close to home because basically everyone I grew up 
with and everyone I knew were coal miners. 

So with that, I am interested in finding out, you know, it says 
in the internal review that the abatement time for the one res-
pirable dust citation was 33 days when the allowable standard is 
7 days. 

Why is MSHA setting abatement deadlines weeks beyond what 
was allowed? 

Mr. MAIN. I think one of the things that we found from the inter-
nal review was two things. 

One is that the mining company was abusing the system, and 
that we were not doing enough to keep up with the system. And 
some of those delays I don’t think should have been in place. 
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I think that there was extensions—— 
Mr. BUCSHON. Who makes the final decision on that? 
I mean, it probably doesn’t come to the secretary’s office—— 
Mr. MAIN. Well—— 
Mr. BUCSHON [continuing]. I mean, where does that—say you 

have an inspector, they are in the mine. They say this is a problem. 
It goes—run me through the track and where the buck stops. 

Mr. MAIN. Yes. There are over 14,000 mines we inspect; on the 
coal side, about 2,000. So yes, sometimes things are slow getting 
all the way to the top. 

But if you look at the administrative process, the inspector does 
the action at the mine. It goes to a field office supervisor who does 
the review. He goes up to a higher level supervisor, up to adminis-
trative—— 

Mr. BUCSHON. Can I answer—— 
Mr. MAIN. Sure. 
Mr. BUCSHON. Why does it go to a higher level supervisor? 
I mean we have known—I mean it seems to me that that may 

be part of the issue is that if you go—the more people—it is like 
we are playing telephone when you are a kid. 

I mean, the more people you have—— 
Mr. MAIN. But—— 
Mr. BUCSHON [continuing]. In the system, it is going to leave 

more places where the ball can be dropped. I mean—— 
I am sorry to interrupt—— 
Mr. BUCSHON. Yes. 
Mr. MAIN [continuing]. But you got up to another level of super-

visor—— 
Mr. BUCSHON. Yes. 
Mr. MAIN [continuing]. And then—but I think, you know, there 

are different—we have a health wing and the—in the districts. 
They are responsible for oversight of the health issues. 

And you have an inspector who as part of their job inspecting 
deals with the occupational health issues. That inspector has to re-
port to the field office supervisor, the one I said we just brought 
in—— 

Mr. BUCSHON. Yes. 
Mr. MAIN [continuing]. And trained them all. 
But also to review the health things to make sure that we are 

doing our job, there is a health supervisor that takes a look at the 
health related things, which I think is a critical part of our oper-
ation. 

Somehow there was a breakdown that that did not get taken 
care of the way that it should. And that is something that we are 
taking a strong look about how we revamp not only the supervision 
of our field offices, but our whole agency to make sure that we are 
fixing those kind of problems. 

But yes, there was something, I agree, that was a problem. 
Mr. BUCSHON. Yes, and my point, I guess, was that I am not ex-

pecting every decision like these to go to the secretary of MSHA, 
you know. I mean, in every organization there has to be a point 
where the buck stops. 

And it seems to me that, you know, the more points—the more 
bureaucratic—— 
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Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. BUCSHON [continuing]. Your system, the more chance where 

you are going to have to lose—drop the ball. 
Now I also want to ask, NIOSH also found that MSHA essen-

tially has repeated the same failures and shortcomings in each of 
the most recent mine disasters. And so my question is that—and 
I know you are taking a lot of action. And I appreciate that. 

But I really need to know what MSHA, you know, what ulti-
mately is going to stop us from not learning from our mistakes—— 

Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. BUCSHON [continuing]. And what is going to fix this prob-

lem? 
I mean if you were to identify a few things that you would need 

to ultimately fix this issue, what would that be? 
I mean, we are having—we can’t continue to do the same—— 
Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. BUCSHON [continuing]. Things over and over again. And 

every time have congressional hearings and say, here is where our 
mistakes were if we haven’t fixed it. 

Mr. MAIN. And I agree with that. 
I think that is the reason that we have said as far as inspectors 

are going back and just rewriting the entire policy manual to clean 
up some of the lack of clarity, the cross directions that was in it, 
the lack of direction. 

And also to make clear the things that we found in these internal 
reviews and audits are clearly stated in these policies. And what 
we do is have a check system that is effective in checking those. 

I think what happened in the past, you have an accident. You 
have internal review. You would have a bunch of policies. You just 
keep piling them on to the point that the wagon, the wheels broke 
on the wagon. 

And I think that is the core of trying to fix, as a starting point, 
fix the problem. Go back and rebuild the wagon. 

Mr. BUCSHON. So the internal review is good. But that is after 
it has happened. 

So what—you know, proactive—I mean there are two ways to 
manage—— 

Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. BUCSHON [continuing]. Things either proactively or reac-

tively. 
Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mr. BUCSHON. And it seems like MSHA continues to manage 

things in a reactive fashion rather than a proactive—— 
Chairman KLINE. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
Mrs. Capito? 
Mrs. CAPITO. Thank you. I would like to thank the chairman and 

the ranking member for letting me participate in the hearing 
today. 

Good afternoon, or good morning still, Mr. Main. 
I thank you for your service to our country and our state and to 

the beloved miners that I know that you care about quite a bit. 
So I would like to also thank the committee for coming to Beck-

ley. I think that was a really enlightening hearing that we had 
there. 
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There is no question the mine operator put production above 
safety every single day, resulting in a huge tragedy at UBB. 

But if we go back to 2006, we had a huge tragedy in my district, 
Mr. Rahall. Unfortunately, UBB is in his district. Sago was in my 
district. We lost a lot of miners there. 

That is what this chart is all about here. Because the resources 
were really upped in terms of the numbers of inspectors that were 
hired post Sago, correct? 

I mean that was the reason—— 
Mr. MAIN. Correct. Yes—— 
Mrs. CAPITO [continuing]. The resources were put in. 
But then you and I attended a—and help me with my memory 

here. We attended a reception in Charleston at the Charleston 
Civic Center. I think it was at the end of 2009 where we were cele-
brating that that had been the safest year. 

Is that correct? Was it 2009? 
Mr. MAIN. 2009, yes it was the safest year in the entire mining 

industry. 
Mrs. CAPITO. And then 4—31⁄2 months later—— 
Mr. MAIN. Yes. 
Mrs. CAPITO [continuing]. The most devastating tragedy in 40 

years. 
I remember at that time you talked a lot about vehicle accidents 

and most of the lives that were lost were carelessness with oper-
ating the vehicles. 

I wouldn’t say that you had taken your eye off the ball, but have 
you reshifted? Obviously, you have reshifted your resources, I 
would think, towards the life threatening massive kinds of things 
that could occur in a mine, and did occur on that tragic day. 

What have you done since then to reprioritize since that meeting 
we had in 2009? 

Mr. MAIN. Well, I think there were things that we were working 
on at the time that we have had a chance to get on track. 

One of them is our—it is a program we don’t talk much, but the 
‘‘Rules to Live By’’. I am a firm believer that really we really have 
to stay focused on the things that most apt to take a miner’s life. 

And the Rules to Live By that I kicked off, I think, in January 
2010 was aimed at targeting in as we do our inspections, and to 
educate the mining industry on the most common causes of mining 
deaths. 

We just launched ‘‘Rules to Live By’’ version III which dug a lit-
tle bit deeper into the cause of fatalities and ‘‘Rules to Live By II’’ 
deals with the catastrophic kind of fatality. 

So we are paying attention as an industry to those. 
And then the last gentleman that raised the question, we do 

need to do things differently. 
And some of the things we started off right at the time we were 

speaking, as well as the thing that worried me when I took this 
job most of all, when I saw that 55 percent of my inspectors had 
2 years or less, growing up in this mining industry is something 
that got my attention. 

And one of the places I thought we needed to start the quickest 
is to get a control over the management of our whole system was 
to bring in all of our field office supervisors, retrain them, make 
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sure they knew how to manage the programs, make sure they 
knew what they need to focus on. 

And to make sure that they understood some of the deficiencies 
of these past audits and the reviews have found. 

Unfortunately, we were just starting that at the time of UBB. 
But things like that that I think are critical, and then taking a look 
back at some—a better targeting or finding out who the bad actors 
are in this industry. 

Mrs. CAPITO. Right. I don’t mean to interrupt you, but I have 
only got 5 minutes. 

I just want to give you a chance to clarify this. It showed that 
there was a complete—excuse me—a computer glitch that pre-
vented this particular mine from going into the Pattern of Violation 
which is obviously a category in which closure would be more read-
ily available as an enforcement mechanism. 

I am going to give you a chance to say have you fixed this com-
puter glitch? 

Mr. MAIN. It got fixed pretty quick. We found it. We fixed it. 
And we actually spent a lot of quality time with the Inspector 

General’s Office, quite frankly, with a lot of help from them to have 
them look around and see if we had anything else that was a prob-
lem. 

This was a program that unfortunately, the Mine Act went into 
effect in 1977. This program was put in effect, I think, in 2007. 
And the folks who were putting the data in failed to, I guess, put 
in certain data—a certain category. But that was fixed. 

Mrs. CAPITO. Let me just say, finally too, in terms of the inexpe-
rience of inspectors, I mean, we can’t fast forward the clock here. 
We can’t give somebody 2 more years of experience. 

So we have got to make sure—— 
Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Mrs. CAPITO [continuing]. The training and experience that they 

get right now assures those miners that are right there now, that 
they are not going to overlook or oversee. 

These two reports have shown that there were some lack of en-
forcement or lack of knowledge, or too much complexity as to what 
the actual mine inspector was actually asking to do. 

But I want to be assured when I leave this hearing today that 
the inspectors that are there now, regardless of the years of experi-
ence, do have this depth of experience that they need to have. 

Mr. MAIN. All right—— 
Mrs. CAPITO. And my time is up. 
Chairman KLINE. The gentlelady’s time has expired. 
I want to thank Secretary Main for being with us today. Your pa-

tience and forthright answers are very helpful—— 
Mr. Holt? 
Chairman KLINE. You are recognized. 
Mr. HOLT. Thank you very much, Secretary Main. 
It seems to me the key question that we come back to is whether 

there are teeth. Whether the sanctions are so minor that—I mean, 
M-I-N-O-R, that the poor performers have very little incentive to 
clean up their acts. 

What—forgive me if I am retreading ground that you have al-
ready been over. But it seems to me it is the key question. 
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What do we need to do legislatively to strengthen the sanctions? 
Mr. MAIN. I think—I have talked about a number of this today. 

I think they are contained in legislation that was already reported 
as a body. 

And it deals with things that I think are very fundamental. 
One is, you know, giving miners better protection to be able—for 

them to be able to speak out. I believe that those mine operators 
are flaunting the law given the best tools we are throwing at them. 
And given the use of—our actions to curb things like advance no-
tice that some still don’t get it, that we need to deal with. 

Mr. HOLT. But the State of West Virginia has done that, I guess. 
But this needs to be done at a federal level, I believe. Is that—— 

Mr. MAIN. Yes, I think there are more tools that we need to effec-
tively do our job. Yes. 

Mr. HOLT. Okay. 
Well, I want to thank you for your work. Some might ask why 

would a representative from New Jersey be involved in this. 
And as I think you know, I grew up around miners. I really re-

spect the work they do. And it is really criminal the way they have 
been treated. 

So I want to make sure that those who engage in criminal behav-
ior are treated like criminals. And we have to make sure that the 
sanctions are real and felt. 

So I thank you very much for your work—— 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Will the gentleman yield? 
Mr. HOLT. I would be happy to yield. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you. 
Joe, you are about ready to leave here. Could you succinctly tell 

us what legislation we have to pass to make a difference to the 
miners? Because we can’t just clear up bureaucracy—— 

Mr. MAIN. Right. 
Ms. WOOLSEY [continuing]. Because we are going to be right back 

where we started because the bad actors are not going to change. 
What is missing in this picture? 
Mr. MAIN. Well, yes, I am going to start with one of the things 

that we have said, there are a lot of things that we can do better 
and we need to. And we are. We are—— 

Ms. WOOLSEY. But I am talking about us. 
Mr. MAIN. Yes. But I am just like working up the ladder to the 

point that, there are a lot of things we are undertaking to fix. We 
are looking at regulatory improvements out of Upper Big Branch. 

But even with those, at the end of the day, there is still those 
things that are left that we do not think that we have A, the cur-
rent tools to fix, nor the ability to fix them. 

And that is to figure out a way to give miners a better voice. 
That is to have a law that has respect where the criminal sanctions 
are one that really deters bad behaviors, that gets the bad folks 
acting like the good folks out there, ways that we can get informa-
tion, and ways to make sure that we are fully effective—enforcing 
the law. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. So how important is subpoena power? 
Mr. MAIN. I would just say that in West Virginia, if it hadn’t 

been for UBB, we would not have been able to even ask in a legal 
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way, or demand in a legal way, people to come even answer ques-
tions. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. But we—— 
Mr. MAIN. We had to go to West Virginia. 
Ms. WOOLSEY [continuing]. Do we even need to make that pos-

sible for you, for MSHA? 
Mr. MAIN. That was in the past legislation as something that we 

supported then. And I don’t think anything has changed. 
Mr. RAHALL. Would the gentlelady yield? 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Yes. 
Mr. HOLT. For both I believe I have the time that I—— 
Yield. Sorry. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. I would be happy to yield to my friend from West 

Virginia—— 
Mr. RAHALL [continuing]. Quick question for both investigations 

and inspections, subpoena power? 
Mr. MAIN. You have to be able to get the facts regardless of what 

the issue is if you want to get the facts to whether it is an inves-
tigation or an accident. 

Because if you don’t get the questions that could be a problem 
in an investigation. You may not prevent an accident that you 
want to investigate later. 

So yes. 
Mr. RAHALL. Thank you, Mr. Secretary. Thank you, Mr. Chair-

man. 
Chairman KLINE. Thank the gentleman. 
And now, Mr. Secretary, thank you very much for being with us 

today. We appreciate your patience. 
We will, I will ask the second panel to come forward now please. 
Mr. MAIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman KLINE. It is my pleasure to introduce our second dis-

tinguished panel of witnesses. 
Mr. Howard Shapiro is Counsel to the Inspector General at the 

Department of Labor. Mr. Cecil Roberts is president of the United 
Mine Workers of America. And Dr. Jeffery Kohler is a director in 
the Office of Mine Safety and Health Research with the National 
Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. 

Before I recognize each of you for your testimony, I will just re-
mind you of the lights. I know all of you have been here. 

We have got a green light, a yellow light, and a red light. The 
green light will indicate that you have 5 minutes. The yellow light, 
you have 1 minute. And the red light we would ask you to wrap 
up your testimony. 

Your entire written testimony will be included in the record. So 
you can summarize if you would like. 

With that, we will start with Mr. Shapiro. 
You are recognized, sir. 
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STATEMENTS OF HOWARD SHAPIRO, COUSEL TO THE INSPEC-
TOR GENERAL, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR; CECIL ED-
WARD ROBERTS, JR., PRESIDENT, UNITED MINE WORKERS 
OF AMERICA; DR. JEFFERY KOHLER, DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF 
MINE SAFETY AND HEALTH RESEARCH, NATIONAL INSTI-
TUTE FOR OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH 

STATEMENT OF HOWARD SHAPIRO 

Mr. SHAPIRO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I will summarize my written statement that has already been 

provided. 
Is it on now? Okay. 
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for inviting me to testify 

this morning with respect to the OIG report on allegations of retal-
iation and intimidation related to the UBB accident investigation. 

In March of 2011, we received a complaint from the United Mine 
Workers of America alleging that attorneys for Performance Coal 
and the attorneys for MSHA were holding private meetings to dis-
cuss important issues, and that they were inappropriately making 
deals, which in some cases resulted in vacating safety citations and 
orders. 

Subsequently in April, we received a complaint from an attorney 
for Performance Coal, representing Performance Coal, alleging mis-
conduct by Norman Page, who was heading up the UBB accident 
investigation for MSHA. 

What the OIG decided to do was to address both of these com-
plaints by looking at five separate incidents that were cited in the 
Performance Coal complaint, one of which was also referenced in 
the UMWA complaint. 

The first incident involved MSHA’s issuance of a safety order and 
citation to Dr. Christopher Schemel, who was one of Performance’s 
expert consultants. And the order and citation would have required 
him to withdraw from the mine until he received 40 hours of new 
miner training. 

What we found was that Mr. Page was not the impetus for this 
action. And that he was only marginally involved in it. 

The second incident involved another order and citation, in this 
case, issued to another consultant, Dr. Pedro Reszka. And this 
order and citation required—would have required Mr. Reszka, or 
Dr. Reszka, to withdraw from the mine until such time as he could 
receive some refresher safety training. 

In this case, Performance Coal alleged that the order and citation 
were issued in retaliation for a complaint which they, Performance 
Coal, had filed regarding an incident which took place in the mine 
and involved Dr. Reszka. 

Again in this case, we found that the citation and order were not 
issued as a result of any retaliation by Mr. Page or anybody at 
MSHA. It was issued as the result of the personal observations of 
several MSHA inspectors regarding Dr. Reszka’s conduct and be-
havior in the mine. 

And I would note that this was the order and citation that was 
also cited by the UMWA in their complaint to us, albeit from a very 
different perspective. 
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The third incident involved a meeting between Mr. Page and Dr. 
Schemel to discuss the Reszka citation and order. And that took 
place because Dr. Reszka was a subcontractor for Dr. Schemel. 

During this meeting, Mr. Page allegedly threatened Dr. Schemel 
with further citations and orders, and other negative effects on his 
company, if he did not accept the citation issued with respect to Dr. 
Reszka. 

We found that Mr. Page did not intend to retaliate against Per-
formance Coal or Dr. Schemel during this meeting. 

The fourth incident involved MSHA’s scheduling of an inspection 
of the mine rescue station that serviced the UBB mine. We found 
that the decision to schedule the inspection by two District 6 in-
spectors who were unaware that a recent inspection of the rescue 
station had already been done by District 4. 

When they learned of this recent inspection, they cancelled the 
inspection that they were going to do. So again, we found no evi-
dence of retaliation. 

And the fifth incident involved MSHA’s issuance of another order 
banning another employee of another consultant from entering the 
mine until he received new miner training. And again, we found 
that Mr. Page was not involved in the decision to issue the order 
and citation in this case. 

So in summary, Mr. Chairman, our review of these five incidents 
did not substantiate the allegation that Mr. Page engaged in any 
sort of pattern of intimidation or retaliation, and nor did we find 
that MSHA, as an entity, engaged in such a pattern at Mr. Page’s 
behest or otherwise. 

However during our review, we did identify three questionable 
management actions. 

One of these was that the ultimate decision made by officials 
from MSHA and the Office of the Solicitor to vacate the citation 
and order related to Dr. Reszka was made not based upon the safe-
ty merits, but rather was made to avoid an appearance of retalia-
tion and to avoid possible congressional scrutiny. 

In response to our report, the department generally agreed with 
our findings and stated that MSHA decided to vacate the citation 
and order related to Dr. Reszka on the condition that he receive ad-
ditional safety training, which he did. 

So in conclusion, Mr. Chairman, I would reiterate that our pri-
mary objective was to review the allegations against Mr. Page. We 
did not substantiate those allegations. 

And I would certainly be pleased to answer any questions that 
you may have or any other members of the committee. 

[The statement of Mr. Shapiro follows:] 

Prepared Statement of Howard L. Shapiro, Counsel to the Inspector 
General, Office of Inspector General, u.s. Department of Labor 

Good morning, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, I appreciate the 
opportunity to discuss the Office of Inspector General’s (OIG) report of inquiry re-
garding allegations of retaliation and intimidation related to the Upper Big Branch 
(UBB) accident investigation. 

As you know, the OIG is an independent entity within the Department of Labor 
(DOL); therefore, the views expressed in my testimony are based on the findings of 
my office’s work and not intended to reflect the Department’s views. 
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Background 
Following the April 5, 2010, underground explosion at the UBB mine in West Vir-

ginia, the Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA) initiated an investigation 
into the causes of the accident. At the time of the explosion, Performance Coal Com-
pany operated the UBB mine as a subsidiary of Massey Energy Company. 

On March 16, 2011, the OIG received a complaint from the United Mine Workers 
of America (UMWA) alleging that the attorneys for Performance Coal, and the attor-
neys for MSHA in the DOL’s Office of the Solicitor (SOL), were excluding other par-
ties involved in the investigation by holding private meetings to discuss ‘‘issues of 
importance to the investigation.’’ The complaint also alleged that MSHA’s attorneys 
in SOL were inappropriately ‘‘making deals’’ with Performance Coal attorneys, re-
sulting in MSHA vacating legitimate safety citations and orders. In a subsequent 
phone call, UMWA clarified that this allegation had to do specifically with MSHA’s 
attorneys in SOL forcing MSHA to vacate a citation and order involving Dr. Pedro 
Reszka, one of Performance Coal’s expert consultants for the accident investigation. 

On April 29, 2011, while we were reviewing the UMWA complaint, we received 
a complaint from an attorney representing Performance Coal. This complaint al-
leged that MSHA’s District 6 Manager, Norman Page, who was leading the accident 
investigation for MSHA, had engaged in misconduct by launching a campaign of in-
timidation and retaliation against the company’s accident investigation team and, 
in particular, its expert consultants. The complaint alleged that Mr. Page had re-
peatedly ordered the withdrawal of the company’s scientific experts from the mine 
without a good faith basis; attempted to intimidate the company’s experts with re-
taliatory citations and orders; and threatened future retaliatory orders against one 
of the company’s experts in an attempt to influence the expert’s work product and 
opinions. 
OIG’s Review 

The OIG decided to address these two complaints by looking at five incidents ref-
erenced in the Performance Coal complaint, of which one was also referenced in the 
UMWA complaint, albeit from a different perspective. The OIG’s Office of Legal 
Services reviewed pertinent documents, and conducted in-person and/or telephone 
interviews with 26 individuals from MSHA, SOL, UMWA and Performance Coal 
Company. 

It is important to note that this review was limited to the specific allegations 
made against Mr. Page. This review did not include any matters related to the 
causes of the explosion, MSHA’s inspection and enforcement activities at the UBB 
mine prior to the explosion, or any aspects of the accident investigation other than 
the five matters cited by Performance Coal and/or UMWA: 

• The first incident involved MSHA’s issuance of a citation and order requiring 
Dr. Christopher Schemel, Performance Coal’s lead scientific consultant with respect 
to the UBB investigation, to withdraw from the mine until he received 40 hours of 
‘‘new miner’’ training. We found that Mr. Page was not the impetus for the citation 
and order and he was only marginally involved in the matter. Other MSHA officials 
informed us that the issue of Dr. Schemel’s training was not addressed for several 
months, and simply ‘‘fell through the cracks,’’ due to the hectic and busy atmosphere 
surrounding the first few months of the accident investigation. 

• The second incident involved MSHA’s issuance of a citation and order requiring 
Dr. Pedro Reszka, another scientific consultant hired by Performance Coal, to with-
draw from the mine until such time as he could receive refresher safety training. 
Performance Coal alleged that the citation and order were issued in retaliation for 
a complaint which Performance Coal raised regarding an incident which occurred 
in the mine wherein a UMWA representative dislodged a piece of roofing and alleg-
edly endangered Dr. Reszka’s safety. We found that the citation and order were not 
issued as the result of any retaliatory intent by any MSHA officials. Rather, the de-
cision to issue the citation and order was made independently by an MSHA inspec-
tor based on his personal observations of Dr. Reszka, and upon input he received 
from other MSHA inspectors who had spent time with Dr. Reszka in the mine, at 
a time when the inspector was unaware that any complaint had even been raised 
about the actions of the UMWA representative. Notably, the citation and order were 
similarly cited by the UMWA, but from the perspective of alleging that MSHA’s at-
torney’s in SOL were inappropriately ‘‘making deals’’ with Performance Coal attor-
neys, resulting in MSHA vacating legitimate safety citations and orders, including 
the one relating to Dr. Reszka. 

• The third incident involved a meeting between Mr. Page and Dr. Schemel, who 
met to discuss the Reszka citation and order. During the meeting Mr. Page allegedly 
threatened Dr. Schemel with further citations and orders, with increased scrutiny 
by MSHA, and with other negative effects on his company, if he did not accept the 
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citation issued with respect to Dr. Reszka, who was a subcontractor for Dr. Schemel. 
We did not find that Mr. Page intended to retaliate against Performance Coal or 
Dr. Schemel. Although MSHA officials and attorneys from the Office of the Solicitor 
had tentatively agreed to vacate the citation and order, we found that Mr. Page’s 
contention that his objective was to reach a compromise between Performance Coal 
and the UMWA was credible and corroborated. In particular, Mr. Page hoped that 
such a compromise would prevent the UMWA from initiating a campaign of filing 
multiple safety complaints against Performance Coal that would require significant 
MSHA resources to investigate. Although we did question Mr. Page’s judgment with 
respect to how he proceeded with this meeting and some of the things which he said 
to Dr. Schemel, we did not find any support for the claims of intimidation or retalia-
tion. 

• The fourth incident involved MSHA’s allegedly retaliatory scheduling of an in-
spection of the mine rescue station that serviced the UBB mine since, according to 
Performance Coal, that same mine rescue station already had been inspected sev-
eral times after the UBB accident by District 4 inspectors. We found that the deci-
sion to schedule the inspection of the mine rescue station was made by two District 
6 MSHA inspectors at a time when neither of them knew that a recent inspection 
of the rescue station had been done by District 4 and, when they learned of the re-
cent inspection, they appropriately cancelled their own planned inspection of the 
rescue station. 

• The fifth incident involved MSHA’s issuance of an order banning John Montoya, 
an employee of another consultant hired by Performance Coal, from entering the 
mine until he completed the 40-hour new miner training. We found that Mr. Page 
was not involved in the decision to issue the order relating to Mr. Montoya, and we 
were therefore unable to conclude that the order was part of a pattern of intimida-
tion or retaliation on Mr. Page’s part, or by MSHA officials in general. 

In summary, our review of these five incidents did not substantiate the allegation 
that Mr. Page engaged in a campaign or pattern of intimidation or retaliation. Fur-
ther, we found no evidence that MSHA, as an entity, engaged in such a campaign 
or pattern, at Mr. Page’s behest or otherwise. However, during our review, we did 
identify three questionable management actions: 

• We found that the ultimate decision made by officials from MSHA and the Of-
fice of the Solicitor to vacate the citation and order related to Dr. Reszka was not 
based on the merits, but rather was made to avoid an appearance of retaliation and 
any potential congressional scrutiny. 

• We found that Mr. Page used poor judgment when he met with Dr. Schemel 
to discuss the Reszka citation and order, without any other individuals being 
present, and when he made statements that could have been perceived and/or inter-
preted as intimidating. 

• We also found that it may have been appropriate for MSHA to consider other, 
less punitive approaches, short of issuing a citation and order, with respect to the 
order and citation issued against Dr. Schemel, given that MSHA allowed him to go 
underground in this mine for some three months before realizing he did not have 
the proper training. 

DOL’s Response 
In responding to our report, the Department indicated that the Office of the Solic-

itor had conducted its own review of the allegations against Mr. Page, and that its 
conclusions were in agreement with the OIG conclusions. 

Regarding the specific management actions questioned by the OIG, the Depart-
ment stated that MSHA decided to vacate the citation and order related to Dr. 
Reszka on the condition that he receive additional safety training prior to returning 
to the mine, which he did. The Department stated that this result was appropriate, 
and therefore planned no further action for this finding. 

Further, the Department agreed with the OIG finding that Mr. Page had used 
poor judgment when he met with Dr. Schemel without any other individuals being 
present. The Department stated that while Mr. Page’s actions could be viewed as 
imprudent, he had no intention to intimidate Dr. Schemel or engage in retaliation; 
therefore, the Department planned no further action for this finding. 

Regarding the citation and order related to Dr. Schemel, the Department stated 
that it could not comment on the OIG finding that MSHA could have considered 
less punitive measures to resolve this situation because the order and citation were 
still in litigation. However, the Department agreed to provide guidance to assure 
consistency of enforcement regarding the applicability of its training regulations. 
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Conclusion 
In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, I would reiterate that our primary objective was to 

review the allegations against Mr. Page, and we did not substantiate these allega-
tions. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to present the results of our 
review. I would be pleased to answer any questions that you or other Members of 
the Committee may have. 

Chairman KLINE. Thank you, Mr. Shapiro. 
Mr. Roberts? 

STATEMENT OF CECIL ROBERTS 
Mr. ROBERTS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and Ranking 

Member Miller for calling this hearing. 
I want to thank all of the panel members who have participated 

in this. 
And thank you so much on behalf of the coal miners of the 

United States for Congress’ concern about the health and safety of 
coal miners in the United States. 

Excuse me. 
I want to also very much thank you for remembering the families 

of the lost miners. Many of these people were my friends. I grew 
up with some of these people who lost their lives. And if I didn’t 
know the miners themselves, I knew someone in their families. 

This morning, I would like to remember in particular the Davis 
family. Linda Davis and Charles Davis lost a son and two 
grandsons in this tragedy. 

The past 2 years have been very difficult for that family. And un-
fortunately on Friday, the funeral of Linda Davis took place. And 
I wanted to say to you, she was a wonderful lady. 

One of the things that I would recommend—people have been 
asking what can we do and what can we do? One of the first things 
I would suggest that should be bipartisan here is that these fami-
lies get treated better when these tragedies occur. 

A miner working at a nonunion mine, or for that matter a union 
mine, can designate someone to represent them in an investigation. 
That happened at Upper Big Branch where more than two miners 
had designated the United Mine Workers to represent them. So we 
were a representative of those miners at Upper Big Branch. 

The families do not enjoy that right. And I have to tell you that 
that is something that is discussed very much throughout the coal-
fields and how tragic that is that the people who have suffered the 
most can’t have someone representing them when these hearings 
are ongoing, and when the investigation itself is ongoing. 

I don’t think anyone sitting in front of me believes that is correct, 
so one of the easy things that I believe that we can do here is cor-
rect that situation. 

We have to have three things in order for something like Upper 
Big Branch not to occur again. 

Number one, we have to have an operator who is willing to follow 
the law. The first obligation here is for the industry to protect 
these coalminers. 

Number two, we have to have an agency which fully enforces the 
law. 

And three, we have to have workers who are empowered to speak 
out for themselves. 
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I want to report to you today that none of these three ingredients 
existed at Upper Big Branch. 

We know and we have heard testimony repeatedly here, that we 
had an operator who was recalcitrant and who was dictatorial. And 
it wasn’t just the Upper Big Branch mine. All of these mines oper-
ated by Massey Energy, you could find similar situations. 

And in fact MSHA has found those same kinds of situations ex-
isting, the same dangerous conditions existing before Massey 
turned these operations over or sold them to Alpha Natural Re-
sources. 

And I wanted to remind you of the famous, infamous memo sent 
out in October of 2005 by Don Blankenship, sent to all deep mine 
superintendents entitled, Running Coal. This is from the man—this 
is from the top person in this company. 

And he believed, and the miners believed, and most people in 
West Virginia believed that he was above the law. He was above 
the governor. He was above this Congress right here. 

So that you will know that is how he was perceived in southern 
West Virginia. 

‘‘If any of you have been asked by your group presidents, your 
supervisors, engineers or anyone else to do anything, anything 
other than run coal such as build overcasts,’’ which happens to take 
ventilation to the working sections, ‘‘do construction jobs or what-
ever, you need to ignore them and run coal. This memo is nec-
essary only because we seem not to understand that the coal pays 
the bills.’’ 

We have consistently said that people like Don Blankenship, and 
I have called for him to be led away in chains and locked up in jail 
because that is where he deserves to be, because if any one person 
is responsible for what happened at Upper Big Branch it is Don 
Blankenship. 

Number two, what we need to do is clarify the authority of 
MSHA. We have repeatedly said well why didn’t MSHA close this 
mine down? 

Well, let us clarify that authority. If we believe that that is what 
they should do, when they find circumstances like they found, let 
us clarify that authority and say, you do have it. 

If you want to do something for the coal miners of the United 
States of America, you stand behind whoever is running MSHA 
and say to the operators, you may choose to operate like Don 
Blankenship did, that you, the Congress of the United States, Re-
publican and Democrat alike, will stand behind the enforcement 
agency of the United States and see that we do not see these condi-
tions again. 

Number three, workers need to be empowered. And if you can do 
one thing before you leave this session of Congress, let us give the 
power to the coal miner himself, because as we are sitting in this 
room today, I guarantee you, that some foreman somewhere is tell-
ing a miner to go under unsupported top, telling that miner to do 
something that is going to get him hurt, telling that miner to do 
something that is going to get him killed. 

And that should be a felony. That coalminer should be able to 
say I am not doing that. I am exercising the right that Congress 
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gave me. And if you continue to tell me to do something dangerous, 
you are going to jail. 

They don’t have that ability today as we speak, because they 
know they will be fired. And they won’t have a job. And they won’t 
find another job. 

Thank you. And I will be glad to answer any questions that you 
have. 

[The statement of Mr. Roberts follows:] 

Prepared Statement of Cecil E. Roberts, President, 
United Mine Workers of America 

Thank you for the opportunity to address the House Committee on Education and 
the Workforce, Full Committee on Workforce Protections about Learning from the 
Upper Big Branch Tragedy. I am the International President of the United Mine 
Workers of America (UMWA), a union that has been an unwavering advocate for 
miners’ health and safety for over 122 years. 

Before I speak about what we can learn from the Upper Big Branch tragedy, I 
want to acknowledge all of the families that lost a loved one and neighbors who lost 
a friend in the senseless methane/coal dust explosion on April 5, 2010. The 29 fami-
lies all suffered a loss that we can never forget. The victims paid with their lives 
for the deliberate greed of Don Blankenship and his underlings. 

The UMWA has long held that three things are necessary for a safe and produc-
tive mine: 

• An operator who is willing to follow the law. 
• An agency which fully enforces the law. 
• Workers who are empowered to speak out for themselves. 
None of these things happened at the non-union UBB mine. 
Don Blankenship’s team pursued a game of cat and mouse with the Mine Safety 

and Health Administration (MSHA). While MSHA inspectors were trying to deter-
mine whether Massey was following mine health and safety laws and regulations, 
as all operators are required to do, 

Blankenship’s management was regularly doing what it could to subvert MSHA’s 
efforts. Every day they did that, they jeopardized the safety of all miners working 
under their control and direction. On April 5, 2010, the vulnerable miners at the 
Upper Big Branch mine fell victim to the needlessly dangerous and neglected mine 
environment. 

It is not a secret in the coalfields that some operators give advance notice to min-
ers working underground of MSHA inspections. Mine Managers make quick and su-
perficial adjustments to the ventilation, quickly rockdust the entries where an in-
spector would be headed or shut down production entirely on a working section in 
order to avoid being cited for violating MSHA’s standards. Through the work of the 
United States Attorney’s office in Charleston, West Virginia, we finally have public 
confirmation from one of the Massey managers who affirmatively engaged in such 
deceptive practices. Earlier this month, Upper Big Branch Mine Superintendent 
Gary May gave testimony in Hughie Elbert Stover’s sentencing hearing about that 
mine’s practice and system for providing information to miners working under-
ground whenever federal and state safety inspectors were on the property, with de-
tails about where the inspectors would be traveling and inspecting. Stover was con-
victed and sentenced to three years in prison on February 29, 2012. Mr. May further 
explained that he acted deliberately to change underground mining conditions to 
make them temporarily appear better and more compliant than they had been while 
the mine was actively operating but before learning about the inspector’s under-
ground presence. 

We don’t mean to claim that Massey and its subsidiaries had a monopoly on these 
illegal practices, but its rogue attitude had become an integral part of the operating 
culture at the Upper Big Branch mine. It became so bad that miners came to view 
the unlawful mining practices as the norm. Some of the more experienced miners 
probably knew that what Massey was doing was wrong, but they had to work. Toler-
ating unsafe conditions was necessary if they wanted to keep their jobs. On a daily 
basis, these miners worked in an atmosphere of fear and intimidation. However, 
there can be no question that for Don Blankenship and his Massey mines, produc-
tion was the top priority; and the second priority; and the third priority * * * This 
is demonstrated by the October 19, 2005 memo Don Blankenship sent to All Deep 
Mine Superintendents entitled ‘‘Running Coal’’ which stated ‘‘If any of you have 
been asked by your group presidents, your supervisors, engineers or anyone else to 
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do anything other than run coal (i.e.—build overcasts, do construction jobs, or what-
ever), you need to ignore them and run coal. This memo is necessary only because 
we seem not to understand that the coal pays the bills.’’ 

One stark example of Massey’s unlawful behavior was revealed in the report from 
MSHA’s Internal Review where it described Massey’s frequent re-staging of its con-
tinuous mining machines/mechanized mining units (MMU’s) to avoid citations for 
excessive respirable dust. Cutting coal creates mine dust that must be both reduced 
and controlled through ventilation, water sprays and rock dust to protect miners’ 
lungs and to prevent explosive coal dust accumulations. Autopsy records of the UBB 
miners who were killed in the explosion uncovered surprisingly high levels of black 
lung and other lung disease within this workforce, including among the youngest 
victims. Seeing what the Internal Review discovered about MSHA’s ineffective en-
forcement of the respirable dust standard (30 CFR Part 70) at UBB suggests miners 
at this operation were often exposed to excessive levels of respirable dust. 

MSHA’s regulations set maximum permissible respirable dust levels and require 
reductions to the dust levels depending on how much quartz is also present. How-
ever, as the Internal Review explained, MSHA District 4 allowed Massey to re-es-
tablish (that is, to increase) its permissible dust levels whenever it rotated its 
MMUs. Therefore, even though MSHA would establish a reduced respirable dust 
level for a certain area based on the level of respirable coal dust and the percentage 
of quartz generated by a MMU, Massey was able to avoid compliance with that re-
duced respirable dust standard simply by rotating out the MMU that was used to 
set the reduced level. With a different MMU in place, MSHA terminated any cita-
tion that was issued for excessive dust and allowed Massey to operate its replace-
ment MMU with dust at the unreduced standard of 2.0 mg/m3 even though the 
same amount of quartz would have been present. This deliberate manipulation of 
the dust standard, established by the law, was the practice according to the Internal 
Review. MSHA District 4 also regularly allowed Massey to have abnormally long 
abatement periods for its dust citations. Massey was manipulating the law and too 
often MSHA District 4 allowed the company to get away with it. 

MSHA’s Internal Review outlines numerous deficiencies on the part of the Agen-
cy. These MSHA shortcomings, in particular MSHA District 4, allowed miners to re-
main in harm’s way though the Agency should and could have prevented such expo-
sures. In other words, although Massey failed in its duty to comply with mine safety 
laws and regulations, MSHA had a duty to utilize every enforcement tool at its dis-
posal so that miners’ safety would not be jeopardized. Massey made MSHA’s job 
much more difficult by its subterfuge, but that doesn’t excuse or explain MSHA’s 
shortcomings. 

We now know that MSHA District 4 inspectors failed to: 
• Inspect some areas of the mine (including in its last inspection, the Old No. 2 

Section and the belt/return entries of Tailgate #22 tailgate, both areas where the 
explosion propagated), and rushed their inspections through other areas. 

• Cite lack of adequate roof support controls that the roof control plan specified. 
• Identify inadequacies in the coal and coal dust program including failures in the 

cleaning of loose coal, coal dust and float coal dust and the extent and duration of 
noncompliance with rock dust standards along belt conveyors. 

• Use current rock dust survey procedures and to collect spot samples from older 
sections of the mine to see that UBB had the required incombustible content of rock 
dust to mine dust. 

• Scrutinize the operator’s examination records and require timely abatement of 
hazards cited and consider the hazards for purposes of determining the operator’s 
degree of negligence. 

MSHA District 4 Supervisors, who had jurisdiction over the Upper Big Branch 
mine, did not provide effective oversight of the inspectors. District 4 failed to: 

• Conduct 110 (c) special investigations (to determine if mine management know-
ingly violated mandatory standards) when established protocols indicated that 
would have been appropriate in six cases. 

• Forward to MSHA’s Arlington Headquarters eight violations that should have 
been considered for ‘‘flagrant’’ violations. 

Further, in reviewing mining plans for approval, experienced MSHA District 4 
personnel made a number of mistakes, including: 

• Not requiring methods in the ventilation plan that would mitigate methane in-
undations like the one that occurred in 2004. 

• Not recognizing that (a) the roof control plan did not provide necessary pillar 
stability for ventilation in some areas and (b) the roof control plan did not include 
any of the required stability calculations to show the plan would be adequate. 

MSHA headquarters also failed to: 
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• Realize—due to a computer glitch—that the mine’s violation history qualified 
UBB for the ‘‘Potential Pattern of Violation’’ list. 

• Use or distribute its directives and policies effectively, some of which conflicted 
with each other. MSHA employees did not always understand the policies. 

• Ensure that all entry-level or journeymen inspectors had the required training. 
Some of those responsible for inspecting or supervising inspectors at Upper Big 
Branch did not have all the required training. MSHA’s own policy does not permit 
entry-level inspectors to travel by themselves, which occurred at UBB. 

The scope of internal MSHA problems ran from top to bottom. However, MSHA 
District 4 Supervisors dropped the ball by ignoring several red flags as I previously 
stated. 

The Internal Reviews following the previous five underground coal mine tragedies 
of the preceding decade (Jim Walter Resources in 2001; Sago, Aracoma and Darby 
in 2006; and Crandall Canyon in 2007) identified a number of problems that per-
sisted into 2010. It is time that we stop talking about these problems and fix them. 

While it may be appropriate to criticize the mistakes MSHA made before the UBB 
tragedy, it would be a huge disservice to the miners who perished at UBB and to 
their families if that is all we did. Instead, we should think proactively and take 
affirmative steps to make mines safer. 

Immediately after the Upper Big Branch tragedy MSHA began its program of im-
pact inspections, targeting operations where it has reason to be concerned about 
Mine Act compliance. MSHA captures the mine communications system to prevent 
advance warnings of inspections. MSHA’s impact inspections have uncovered large 
numbers of significant and potentially dangerous conditions. The Agency has also 
gone to court to test its authority to seek injunctions. These techniques have been 
successful in preventing operators from continuing to operate in the most hazardous 
of conditions. 

Even a more aggressive MSHA, one that uses the array of enforcement tools never 
used before the UBB tragedy, cannot protect miners if mine operators continue to 
flaunt the law. And too many do. 

The UBB disaster serves as a stark reminder that the culture of production over 
health and safety still exists in the coalfields. Don Blankenship and Massey rep-
resented the worst of the coal industry. They flagrantly violated and ignored the law 
at the expense of the miners. Don Blankenship’s philosophy cost the lives of 29 min-
ers at UBB and countless others that lost their lives at Massey’s mines. 

The UMWA applauds the U.S. Attorney’s office for pursuing criminal prosecution 
against individuals who contributed to the April 5, 2010 tragedy at UBB. However, 
allowing Don Blankenship to walk away from the crimes he and his underlings com-
mitted at UBB would be a gross miscarriage of justice. He laid out the rules under 
which UBB operated and kept a watchful eye to ensure that his policies were being 
followed. Don Blankenship should be prosecuted for his actions and I stand here 
today saying to this Committee that until corporate heads like Don Blankenship are 
held accountable for their actions, we have not witnessed the last senseless tragedy 
and loss of life in the coal industry. 

What is also upsetting to me is the misdemeanor plea deal that federal prosecu-
tors recently reached in the 2007 deaths of nine workers at the Crandall Canyon 
Mine in Utah. Murray Energy’s subsidiary, Genwal 

Resources, agreed to plead guilty to two mine safety crimes and pay $250,000 for 
each of the two criminal counts. The travesty of justice is that the plea agreement 
states that no charges will be brought against any Genwal mine managers or any 
executives. Once again, the real guilty parties escaped justice. I guess the cost of 
nine lives is $500,000. 

MSHA cannot be everywhere all of the time. That is why the law correctly 
charges operators with the duty of operating in a safe and healthful way. If an oper-
ator wants the privilege of running a coal mine, it must assume the obligation of 
doing so in a way that doesn’t put its employees’ lives in jeopardy. Yet, this doesn’t 
always happen. Too often corporate greed takes precedence. We urge Congress to 
increase the penalties for egregious mine health and safety violations. 

So what else can we do to reduce the likelihood of any more coal mining disasters? 
We owe it to all miners to learn from the problems that led to the Upper Big Branch 
tragedy as well as from other disasters. 

What this Committee and Congress does really matters to the coal miners of this 
nation. After the Sago mine disaster and others in 2006, Congress required that coal 
operators make underground shelters available to protect miners who survive but 
cannot escape an explosion or mine fire. Despite the tremendous explosive forces 
that rocked the Upper Big Branch mine, a shelter near the explosion survived intact 
and could have sheltered miners if they had survived the explosion. That Strata 
shelter was under water for weeks, and yet it remained dry inside. Had that shelter 
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been at the Sago mine in January 2006, eleven of the twelve miners killed would 
still be with us today. Without Congress advancing the issue in the 2006 MINER 
Act, we still would not have shelters underground. 

Again, through the MINER Act, Congress required significant improvements in 
tracking and communications’ technology and equipment. Coal operators claimed it 
couldn’t be done, or the costs were too high to allow them to remain in business, 
but Congress appreciated that changes were necessary and demanded that the in-
dustry implement the improvements. By legislating these changes, there was a flur-
ry of imaginative and creative work done to develop practical equipment that could 
survive the harsh mine environment. These state of the art systems are in place 
all over the United States today. 

We appreciate that some operators are spending more money on equipment and 
technology to make the mine environment safer for miners. However, more improve-
ments can be made. For example, rock dust sampling results are not completed in 
a timely fashion. The mine environment can become extremely explosive in a very 
short period of time if rock dust is not applied regularly. Rock dust is required to 
minimize the explosiveness of coal dust in case there is an ignition source present. 
While better and newer dust explosibility meters exist, most operators—as well as 
MSHA—are not purchasing them because they are not required to use them. This 
equipment can provide immediate, real time information about the incombustibility 
of rock dust to coal dust levels. Instead, the current protocol provides for the sam-
ples to be sent to MSHA’s lab, where the Agency uses antiquated equipment to test 
the samples. It takes 2-3 weeks to return the results. I would like to point out that 
operators like Consol, Patriot and Alpha are taking advantage of this new tech-
nology. At Upper Big Branch, samples taken before the April 5 explosion showed 
that the mine had inadequate rock dust—but those sample results were not re-
ported until after the disaster. We are left to wonder whether having the results 
in real time would have averted this disaster. 

The illegal practice of advance notice of safety inspections is not limited to Upper 
Big Branch but occurs at many operations. MSHA’s recent tactic of taking control 
of the communications systems when inspectors travel to operations has dem-
onstrated that advance notice is not uncommon: the kind and extent of violations 
found when the communications are taken over exceed those MSHA had previously 
discovered. Clearly, the existing penalties for advance notice are ineffective and 
should be increased to help effect compliance. 

Another area where the Mine Act should be updated concerns its whistleblower 
protections. The Mine Act was one of the first to provide whistleblower protections 
against discrimination or retaliation for reporting safety violations. However, these 
provisions are now inferior to recent and more-protective whistleblower provisions 
included in other statutes. Miners under the Mine Act now have only 60 days to 
blow the whistle. This window should be lengthened to give miners a better chance 
to pursue actions when they suffer discrimination or retaliation for exercising their 
health and safety rights. 

The compensation provisions in Section 111 of the Mine Act should also be ex-
panded. As it now stands, miners generally can collect no more than one week’s 
worth of wages when an operator’s violations require MSHA to shut down the mine. 
Too often miners have to make the choice between putting food on the table and 
protecting their own safety. By expanding the compensation provisions, miners’ 
health and safety would be better protected. 

MSHA’s accident investigation procedures must also be modernized. The UMWA 
has always advocated that an independent agency should conduct all accident inves-
tigations much like the National Transportation Safety Board. Asking MSHA to cri-
tique its own actions following a disaster does not always lead to the most objective 
point of view. We further believe that the law should be changed to include in the 
investigation those most affected: the miners and family members of deceased min-
ers. We also believe that MSHA must have the power to subpoena witnesses, rather 
than rely on voluntary interviews. 

The UMWA is not convinced that any one action by MSHA would have resulted 
in substantially better compliance on the part of Massey. It is clear that UBB 
should not have been operating at the time of the explosion. Had MSHA District 
4 used all of the enforcement tools at their disposal, the disaster may have been 
prevented. However, no one should ever lose sight that Massey Energy, including 
Don Blankenship and his underlings, were mandated by law to comply with all 
health and safety standards and maintain UBB in a safe operating condition. In-
stead, the mine was operated in a manner compliant with a corporate policy that 
put production over safety. This is why I will once again call for the criminal pros-
ecution of these individuals. 



95 

The authors of the Internal Review have recommended that the Assistant Sec-
retary consider rulemaking that would modify several health and safety standards. 
The recommendations are found in Appendix C—Recommendations for Regulatory 
Changes. There are 23 separate provisions outlined in Appendix C, all of which 
would improve health and safety protections for miners. The UMWA is in complete 
agreement with these recommendations in addition to the changes we outlined in 
our report. 

This gets me to my last point. Congress needs to act quickly to pass legislation 
that will build on the protections of the 2006 Miner Act. As Congress so eloquently 
stated in the Act: ‘‘the first priority and concern of all in the coal or other mining 
industry must be the health and safety of its most precious resource—the miner.’’ 

In conclusion, I thank you for the chance to appear before this Committee and 
appreciate your interest and concern for miners’ health and safety. 

EXHIBITS 

• Internal Review of MSHA’s Actions at the Upper Big Branch Mine—South, Per-
formance Coal Company, Montcoal, Raleigh County, West Virginia 

U.S. Department of Labor, Mine Safety and Health Administration, Program 
Evaluation and Information Resources, March 6, 2012. 

• Industrial Homicide—Report of the Upper Big Branch Mine Disaster 
United Mine Workers of America. 

• October 19, 2005 Don Blankenship memorandum on ‘‘Running Coal’’ 
• West Virginia House Bill 4351 

Chairman KLINE. Thank you, sir. 
Dr. Kohler? 

STATEMENT OF JEFFERY KOHLER 

Dr. KOHLER. Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, Ranking member, 
other members of the committee. 

My name is Jeffery Kohler and I am the associate director for 
mining at the National Institute for Occupational Safety and 
Health, and the director of NIOSH’s Office of Mine Safety and 
health Research. 

I am pleased to be here today to provide a brief update on our 
activities related to the miner act and to speak to you about the 
work of an independent panel that assessed the process and out-
comes of the Mine Safety and Health Administration’s internal re-
view of the UBB mine disaster. 

NIOSH continues to work with our partners in labor, industry 
and government to develop and implement practical solutions to 
mining safety and health problems. 

Our primary focus remains on prevention. And towards that end, 
we have implemented interventions to reduce respirable dust, to 
prevent roof falls, and to prevent coal dust explosions among oth-
ers. 

For example, the Coal Dust Explosibility Meter, you know, be-
came available this past June. 

Our work in the technology area has led to the commercialization 
and in-mine use of communications and medium frequency sys-
tems, such as the CDEM frequency system, also the Lockheed Mar-
tin Through-The-Earth system for post-accident functionality. 

Despite all of the progress, the explosion at UBB serves as a 
poignant reminder that more remains to be done. Following that 
disaster, the secretary of labor requested the director of NIOSH to 
appoint a panel of experts who would be independent of MSHA and 
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DOL, to assess the processes and outcomes of MSHA’s internal in-
vestigation. 

I was appointed to that panel. And I speak to you next about my 
role as a panel member. 

The panel’s report was not reviewed or cleared by NIOSH, CDC, 
OR HHS, prior to its release. 

All mine operators must take a proactive role in ensure the safe-
ty of mine workers. And as the accident investigations have con-
cluded, Massey Energy’s highly noncompliant practices directly 
caused the explosion at the UBB mine. 

It is impossible to know how many thousands of deaths have 
been prevented through MSHA’s enforcement action. Yet in those 
instances when the operator’s actions have caused the disaster, we 
must understand why, learn from, and take actions to prevent fu-
ture occurrences. 

MSHA’s internal investigation team was thorough. And it dis-
closed fully every deficiency it found at MSHA’s enforcement per-
formance. 

A review of MSHA’s internal reviews for other mine disasters 
also revealed a candid and detailed disclosure of shortcomings in 
MSHA’s enforcement performance. The same or very similar defi-
ciencies show up in many of these internal reviews. And now, as 
in previous internal reviews, a detailed set of recommendations has 
been put forth to fix the identified problems. 

No doubt, those recommendations will be helpful if implemented. 
But we do not believe, the panel does not believe, that only doing 
more of the same, more training, changes to handbooks, or admin-
istrative procedures and policies, will fully achieve the desired per-
formance that MSHA expects. 

We believe there are underlying problems which have developed 
over the years that must be solved. The report Of MSHA’S internal 
review and the interview transcripts detail a workforce of inspec-
tors, specialists, and supervisors that is severely overloaded and 
trying to accomplish a lengthy set of duties that is not fully doable. 

With the insights that we gained from our assessment, we have 
developed four overarching recommendations that we believe 
should be implemented. 

Our first recommendation is for a comprehensive analysis of the 
current enforcement paradigm to identify and repair any under-
lying weaknesses. Collectively, we cannot continue to do the same 
thing and expect a different and better outcome. 

As part of this recommendation, we have suggested several topics 
that we believe should be included in the comprehensive discus-
sion: workforce and workforce readiness issues, continuing chal-
lenges in the plan approval process, and better use of information 
technologies to aid enforcement, among others. 

Second, we have recommended a few changes to MSHA’s internal 
review policy itself to enhance the value of their process. 

Third, we have recommended independent oversight to ensure 
successful implementation of their recommendation. 

Finally, we have recommended technical investigations to sup-
port development of best practices guidelines, and to inform statu-
tory or regulatory activities, in particular, improve monitoring ex-
plosion prevention, and ventilation practices. 
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In closing, NIOSH continues to work diligently to protect Amer-
ica’s mine workers. And our research activities will enable NIOSH 
together with MSHA, labor, and industry to better protect mine 
workers. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And I would be pleased to answer 
any questions. 

[The statement of Dr. Kohler follows:] 

Prepared Statement of Jeffery Kohler, Associate Director for Mining; Direc-
tor of the Office of Mine Safety and Health Research (OMSHR), National 
Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) 

Good morning Mr. Chairman and other distinguished Members of the Committee. 
My name is Jeffery Kohler, and I am the Associate Director for Mining and the Di-
rector of the Office of Mine Safety and Health Research (OMSHR) at the National 
Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), which is part of the Centers 
for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), within the Department of Health and 
Human Services. 

NIOSH continues to develop and deploy new practices and technologies that make 
mines safer and help miners remain healthy. Some of these have been described to 
you in the past, when they were in the developmental stage. Today, I will give you 
an update on a few of them, and I will tell you about newer projects that are cur-
rently underway. 

The MINER Act of 2006 (P.L. 109-236) placed a special emphasis on the develop-
ment, adaptation, and transfer of technologies to improve safety and health in the 
mining industry. New technologies to improve the post-accident survivability of min-
ers, envisioned after the Sago Mine disaster in 2006, are commercially available 
today, and many have been deployed in the industry. Many of these were made pos-
sible through the work of NIOSH and because of the support provided by the Con-
gress. 

Ongoing partnerships with labor, industry, and government continue to facilitate 
the development of practical solutions to challenging and pervasive mining safety 
and health problems, and today I will tell you about one such effort. I will also 
speak to you about the work of the Independent Panel that assessed the process and 
outcomes of the Mine Safety and Health Administration’s (MSHA) Internal Review 
of the Upper Big Branch Mine disaster. I was appointed to serve as the Executive 
Secretary of the panel. 

NIOSH’s mining research priorities address disaster prevention and response, 
traumatic injuries, cumulative trauma disorders, respiratory diseases, and hearing 
loss. In the area of disaster prevention, rock dust is applied to coal mine surfaces 
to prevent coal dust explosions, but to be effective, it must be applied in sufficient 
quantity to achieve an 80% or greater ratio of incombustible material. A laboratory 
test is the only way to determine whether the coal dust is no longer explosive. His-
torically, a sample was collected, sent to a laboratory for testing, and then the result 
was reported—usually a week or more later. Over the years, NIOSH developed and 
has attempted to commercialize a Coal Dust Explosibility Meter (CDEM). The 
CDEM is an instrument used to assess the explosibility of coal dust in real-time. 
In June 2011, a commercial manufacturer began production of the CDEM. This com-
mercialization was preceded by extensive in-mine testing throughout the United 
States, which demonstrated the utility and accuracy of the device. Presently, some 
mine operators are beginning to use the CDEM to assess the explosion hazard and 
make adjustments in real time. NIOSH has drafted a report entitled ‘‘Coal Dust 
Explosibility Meter Evaluation and Recommendations for Application’’ and is plan-
ning to finalize it soon. 

The personal dust monitor (PDM) is not only commercially available but is now 
certified in accordance with 30 CFR Part 74 (Coal Mine Dust Sampling Devices) as 
an approved dust sampling device—a prerequisite to its use in compliance moni-
toring. This device represents a significant advancement in the campaign to elimi-
nate coal worker pneumoconiosis (black lung disease). Already some operators have 
begun to use this device, and limited NIOSH studies to date find that when empow-
ered with this technology, miners will use it to reduce their exposure to respirable 
dust. 

The reduction of respirable dust in the production environment is as important 
as ever, and NIOSH has developed a best practices handbook and conducted several 
‘‘train-the-trainer’’ workshops to disseminate these practices throughout the indus-
try. At the same time, our scientists and engineers are studying new and potentially 
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more effective technologies for further reducing respirable dust levels. The ‘‘canopy 
air curtain’’ for use on roof bolters, for example, envelops the operator inside a ‘‘can-
opy’’ of filtered air. If the in-mine trials are as successful as those in the laboratory, 
it will eliminate one of the highest respirable dust exposures. 

Equipping miners with the knowledge, skills, and technology to escape success-
fully during mine emergencies is a continuing priority. NIOSH has developed train-
ing and technology in this area, and recently, we funded the National Academies 
to conduct a comprehensive analysis of self-escape in the context of mining safety. 
They will examine judgment and decision making under conditions of stress and un-
certainty, essential competencies for escape, training methods to impart the skills 
needed to plan and execute an escape, and technologies that could improve the 
chances of self-escape, among others. 

A few months ago, NIOSH researchers conducted a workshop with industry, labor, 
and government stakeholders from the metal/nonmetal and coal sectors to identify 
training successes and gaps, and to set priorities for improvement over the next five 
years. Recently, a set of training programs on the use of refuge chambers was com-
pleted. We are also seeking more effective ways to train miners, and over the past 
year we have adapted a 360-degree virtual reality theatre that we observed being 
used in Australia to train mine rescue teams. Building on their work, we are al-
ready developing advanced training simulations that will allow teams of miners to 
interact simultaneously. One of our initial efforts is focusing on means to train min-
ers more effectively to escape under emergency conditions. 

Of course, practices to prevent emergencies in the first place should be everyone’s 
priority, and toward that end, NIOSH researchers have developed improved tech-
niques to prevent mine explosions and roof falls, and we will continue to conduct 
research in priority areas such as methane flows into and out of gob areas of active 
longwall panels (mined out areas made up of caved in rock). 

Since the passage of the MINER Act, NIOSH has awarded 94 technology develop-
ment and research contracts, targeting innovations in communications and tracking, 
escape, rescue, sensory systems to improve hazard recognition, and prevention ef-
forts with an emphasis in mine explosion prevention and fire suppression. 

These efforts have produced several technological advancements that have signifi-
cantly improved post-accident survivability, provided a framework to enhance detec-
tion of hazardous conditions as they develop, and aided in fundamental under-
standing of mechanisms that contribute to disastrous events, which are leading to 
enhanced intervention technologies and strategies to prevent their occurrence. 

Prior to the MINER Act, communication in most underground mines was equiva-
lent to a simple, land-line-style telephone system that was highly vulnerable to dis-
ruption due to local and large-scale mine catastrophes, such as explosions and 
ground falls. All mines now have installed some form of primary wireless, two-way 
communication, reaching to all locations within the mine with sufficient redundancy 
to enhance survivability in local-scale mine disasters. Secondary systems which re-
quire much less infrastructure have also been developed to enhance survivability in 
large-scale mine disasters. Commercially available systems include the medium fre-
quency system and the Through-the-Earth (TTE) systems. ‘‘Gateways’’ have been de-
veloped to allow interoperability among these systems, and this provides for greatly 
improved post-accident survivability and functionality, even when parts of systems 
have been compromised. 

Collaborations with the Navy, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration 
(NASA), the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), and the De-
partment of Energy (DOE), among others, are being used to leverage taxpayer in-
vestments in one agency to the solution of problems in another. Similarly, working 
collaborations are underway with mining safety and health agencies in other coun-
tries. For example, the Safety in Mines Testing and Research Station (SIMTARS), 
a mining safety agency in Queensland, Australia, and NIOSH are jointly developing 
a mine escape vehicle, which incorporates enhanced breathing capacity, communica-
tion, and guidance into a conventional mine transport vehicle. A prototype has been 
designed and built to provide life-support functions for 10 to 12 miners, operate in 
an oxygen-deficient, low- or no-visibility atmosphere, and travel at speeds faster 
than miners can walk out of a mine. Underground field trials of the prototype vehi-
cle will occur later this fiscal year. 

There are many examples to illustrate the mine safety and health improvements 
that are attributable to the research, development, and translating activities of 
NIOSH, as well as to the collaborations of NIOSH with MSHA and labor and indus-
try partners. It is impossible to quantify how many disasters have been prevented 
and how many lives have been saved as result of the work of NIOSH and its part-
ners at MSHA, labor, and industry. On the other hand, when something goes ter-
ribly wrong, the human cost is all too apparent—and then there is a responsibility 
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to understand what went wrong and what needs to be done to ensure that it never 
happens again. 

Following the explosion at Performance Coal Company’s Upper Big Branch Mine 
South (UBB), which resulted in the death of 29 miners and serious injuries to two 
other miners, Hilda Solis, Secretary of the U.S. Department of Labor, requested that 
the Director of NIOSH identify a panel of individuals with relevant experience to 
conduct an independent assessment of the MSHA Internal Review (MSHA IR). Sec-
retary Solis asked the UBB Independent Panel to assess the MSHA IR Team’s proc-
esses, conclusions, and recommendations. 

Dr. John Howard, the Director of NIOSH, appointed four experts in areas rel-
evant to the MSHA IR Review and MSHA’s UBB enforcement activities to serve on 
the independent panel. Members of the independent panel included Lewis Wade, 
Ph.D., (Chair); myself (Executive Secretary); Michael Sapko, M.S; and Alison 
Morantz, Ph.D., J.D. Susan Moore, Ph.D., of the NIOSH Office of Mining Safety and 
Health Research served as staff assistant and Recording Secretary. The Assessment 
produced is not a NIOSH publication. The views expressed by the 

Panel members are their own professional views and not necessarily those of 
NIOSH, CDC or HHS. 

In April 2010, Joseph Main, Assistant Secretary of Labor for Mine Safety and 
Health, instructed MSHA’s Director of Program Evaluation and Information Re-
sources (PEIR) to assemble a team to conduct an internal review of MSHA enforce-
ment activities at UBB in accordance with applicable MSHA policy and procedures. 
The PEIR Director assembled a group of MSHA employees without current enforce-
ment responsibilities in Coal Mine Safety and Health District 4 to serve on the 
MSHA IR Team. 

Over a period of nearly two years, the MSHA IR Team reviewed thousands of 
pages of records on enforcement activities (including ventilation and roof control 
plans, correspondence files, handbooks, policy manuals, and enforcement inspectors’ 
notes) and interviewed 87 MSHA employees. 

In June 2010, the independent panel met with the MSHA IR Team for the first 
time. Over the ensuing 18 months, seven follow-up meetings took place via con-
ference call between the MSHA IR Team and the independent panel. At each of 
these meetings, the MSHA IR Team briefed the independent panel on its progress 
and consulted with the panel on specific methods being used to examine discrete as-
pects of MSHA’s actions or inactions prior to the UBB explosion. Meanwhile, the 
independent panel periodically asked the MSHA IR Team to provide it with specific 
documents, including prior MSHA Internal Review Reports, Internal Policy and Pro-
cedures, and the Ventilation Plan Approval Handbook. The independent panel ana-
lyzed all materials that it received from the MSHA IR Team, including reports from 
internal reviews that MSHA had conducted in the wake of earlier mine disasters 
from 2001 onwards. 

On January 11, 2012, the MSHA IR Team provided NIOSH with a draft report 
and requested the independent panel’s views about the report. On February 3, 2012, 
the independent panel conveyed its comments to the MSHA IR Team. On February 
23, 2012, the MSHA IR Team provided its final IR report to the independent panel. 

MSHA’s Administrative Policy and Procedures Manual, Volume III, Section 1200, 
entitled ‘‘Internal Review Policy and Procedures,’’ establishes the objectives, respon-
sibilities, and procedures for conducting an internal review of an incident in an un-
derground mine resulting in three or more fatalities. The independent panel as-
sessed the MSHA IR process, conclusions and recommendations against this policy. 

The independent panel prepared a report that summarizes its assessments of 
MSHA’s Internal Review, and specifically the processes it used, its conclusions, and 
its recommendations. Further, the independent panel report provides a set of rec-
ommendations that it believes will lead to a lasting improvement in MSHA’s en-
forcement performance. 

I appreciate the opportunity to testify this morning and thank you for your contin-
ued support. I am pleased to answer any questions you may have. 

Chairman KLINE. Thank you, Dr. Kohler. 
Thanks to all three of you. 
Dr. Kohler, it looks to me like you have got something next to 

you on the table there. That I would—from here the Coal Dust 
Explosability Meter, I think. 

Is that ready for prime time? 
Dr. KOHLER. Yes it is. 
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Chairman KLINE. Excellent. So you believe it can be used as a 
compliance tool right now. 

Dr. KOHLER. That is correct. 
Chairman KLINE. I just wanted to give you the opportunity to 

raise it up. I—— 
Dr. KOHLER. Yes. 
Chairman KLINE. Well, you brought such a nice device there and 

I just hate for it to sit on the table. 
Thank you. Thank you very much. 
Again, Dr. Kohler, West Virginia, as so many investigations— 

West Virginia’s UBB report made a recommendation to NIOSH to 
further study active and passive barriers. 

Can you explain what those are? Describe NIOSH’s previous 
work in this area, and what you need to complete this study. 

Dr. KOHLER. Yes. Active and passive barriers serve as secondary 
means of quenching an explosion once it has started. 

Active and passive barriers would offer the opportunity to be 
placed in certain strategic locations, for example in certain belt en-
tries, so that if the other mechanisms failed and there were a dust 
explosion, the barriers would most likely quench that explosion. 

In order to implement these barriers, there are a few remaining 
questions, some experiments that need to be done. And as the 
State of West Virginia recommended, there is some additional re-
search that we need to build on the work that we did several years 
ago. 

At our Lake Lynn Experimental Mine, for example, that facility 
has the ability to do the kind of work that needs to be done to 
verify and to provide the best practices for applying active and pas-
sive barriers. 

Chairman KLINE. Okay. I am not sure I understand fully what 
you need to complete the study. But thank you for the answer. 

I want to pick up on something I talked about earlier and we 
have been sort of stepping around this all day. 

NIOSH’s independent review stresses that MSHA’s internal re-
view perhaps failed to address the broader more important issue, 
that is, quote—‘‘would a more effective enforcement effort,’’ by 
MSHA, ‘‘have prevented the UBB explosion?’’ 

Looking beyond the specifics of this question for the moment, 
how do you believe MSHA could best understand the underlying 
issues concerning its involvement in Upper Big Branch? 

Dr. KOHLER. I think the panel believes that there are a number 
of underlying systemic issues in terms of the workforce, workforce 
readiness, the expectations placed on the inspectors, a wide range 
of issues that need to be examined. 

It is simply not a matter of improving training for inspectors or 
simply a matter of rewriting books and handbooks. But rather try-
ing to probe more deeply into why these things persist in event 
after event. 

Chairman KLINE. Did NIOSH provide experts to MSHA during 
the accident investigation? 

Dr. KOHLER. Yes. The agency provided some technical analyses, 
some laboratory work, and advice. 

Chairman KLINE. So they were onsite or not onsite or a mixture? 
Dr. KOHLER. Not on site. 
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Chairman KLINE. So they were just there to answer questions? 
Dr. KOHLER. Or to conduct laboratory work at the Burson facil-

ity. 
Chairman KLINE. I am just keeping with you here, Dr. Kohler. 

I am sure we are going to get to everybody else here in a minute. 
We were talking about mining technology a lot, ever since I have 

been on this committee. We talked about communications devices 
and safe chambers and so forth. 

One thing that has been discussed is foam rock dusting. Can you 
explain what that is and is it ready? 

Dr. KOHLER. I can’t speak specifically to whether or not it is 
ready. There is certainly some experimental validation that needs 
to be done before it could be applied in the mines to meet regu-
latory requirements. 

It is a newer process of applying rock dust, so that it adheres 
better to the walls of the coal without producing respirable dust 
downwind. 

It is a new process that is being advocated as an improvement. 
And I think that it—pending further study, it may represent an 
important improvement. 

Chairman KLINE. Okay. Thank you very much. 
I see my time is about to expire. 
Mr. Miller? 
Mr. MILLER. Thank you. 
Mr. Kohler, one of your recommendations, I believe, is to reevalu-

ate the requirement of quarterly inspections of all mines. 
Is that correct? 
Dr. KOHLER. Not exactly. No. We are not recommending that. 
The recommendation was to look more broadly at our current en-

forcement expectation or model, and to put on the table some ideas 
to begin that discussion. 

We suggested seven or eight topics. One of which is the number 
of inspections. 

The transcripts and the internal review detail a workforce 
stretched so thin that it is very difficult for them to be successful 
in their work. And so—— 

Mr. MILLER. By successful you mean effective? 
Dr. KOHLER. Yes. And so if the resource is ineffective, then it 

begs the question how are we allocating the resources? 
Is it important? Should we be doing more or less of it? 
Mr. MILLER. President Roberts, have you looked at those rec-

ommendations? 
Mr. ROBERTS. Yes, I have. 
Mr. MILLER. Your opinion? 
Mr. ROBERTS. As some of the recommendations—and I am glad 

Dr. Kohler clarified the one on the quarterly inspections. We feel 
that those fours and twos, as they are referred to in the industry, 
are extremely important. 

Some of the other recommendations appear to be saying let us 
give more responsibility to the coal operators and mine manage-
ment and take some of that responsibility away from MSHA. 

We would be totally opposed to that. 
And I think if we can just point to pre-1969 when that existed, 

and I would remind this panel if you go back the 40 years pre-
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ceding the 1969 Act and do the analysis of what happened to the 
40 years after, you will find that 30,000 some miners lost their 
lives before the passage of the Mine Act. And less than 3,000 lost 
their lives 40 years afterwards. 

So we would have to say that legislation that was passed by Con-
gress has saved a lot of lives. And the things that you do here are 
important. 

Mr. MILLER. But in terms of this relooking at the inspection re-
gime, you don’t have a problem with that. In a sense, I assume 
what you are trying to determine is what is effective and what isn’t 
effective. And what could be changed to make it more effective. 

Because obviously, you know, the record is replete with a series 
of inspections where we just end up doing more inspections and 
finding the violations over and over again. 

I mean that is the problem you heard discussed here earlier. 
What is the next step after that? 
But are we using the mine inspector’s time in the best interest 

of creating a safer workplace? 
Dr. KOHLER. Yes, and also asking the question, what can we do 

to change the fact that in internal investigation after internal in-
vestigation, we see a similar pattern of deficiency—— 

Mr. MILLER. Are the mine workers are part of that discussion? 
Mr. ROBERTS. The most recent recommendations or suggestions 

by the panel, no. 
Mr. MILLER. Well, what happens to the follow on to this? Is that 

all internal? 
Dr. KOHLER. In terms of a follow on, we are hoping that someone 

will constitute a group of people—— 
Mr. MILLER. Okay, so that hasn’t been determined yet, wheth-

er—— 
Dr. KOHLER. No. not at all. We simply. 
Mr. MILLER [continuing]. Bring in the industry. You bring in the 

mine workers and others to discuss. 
Dr. KOHLER. We said that this body should include labor, indus-

try, academia, government. 
Mr. MILLER. President Roberts, before I run out of time here, 

three or four of us have asked the question when you have a bad 
actor, how do you get rid of the bad actor because we have been 
unable to do that to date? 

We get into a lot of penalties. We get into a lot of citations. We 
get into a lot of court actions back and forth. 

But we don’t get rid of the bad actor. And the pattern appears 
to continue until there is a tragedy. 

So how do we do that? 
Mr. ROBERTS. I would suggest to you that the government 

charged with protecting the miners does not possess the tools to 
achieve the goals that everyone up here seems to be interested in 
achieving. 

That is if you have a Massey Energy and you have someone like 
Don Blankenship running a number of mines that are extremely 
dangerous, how do you stop that? 

Well, number one, the penalties, criminal penalties under the 
Mine Act are ridiculously low. We just saw that at Crandall Can-



103 

yon where $500,000 for two criminal acts is all they had to pay. 
That is not even a half a day’s work for production on a longwall. 

So the penalties are extremely low. No one is going to pay par-
ticular attention to that. 

I think there needs to be more severe penalties. And I think 
those penalties have to go up the ladder higher than they do cur-
rently. 

When we put mine foremen in jail, the person who told them the 
mine foreman what to do is still walking around free and clear. So 
we have to be able to go up the ladder, all the way up to the chief 
executive of the company if that is who is making these decisions 
and putting others at risk. 

Mr. MILLER. But that is beyond a misdemeanor. 
Mr. ROBERTS. Oh, absolutely. That has got to be a felony. And 

it has got to be written into the law. And it doesn’t exist right now. 
Mr. MILLER. Thank you. 
Mr. WALBERG [presiding]. The gentleman’s time has expired. 
I recognize myself. 
Mr. Shapiro, thanks for being here. 
Your written testimony notes that OIG found Mr. Page the lead-

er of MSHA’s investigation team, who have used, and I quote— 
‘‘poor judgment,’’ in dealing with some of Massey’s representatives, 
and that he, quote—‘‘made statements that could have been per-
ceived or interpreted as intimidating,’’ significant statement there. 

First, can you please explain what Mr. Page said that could have 
been perceived as intimidating? 

Mr. SHAPIRO. Well, Mr. Page, when he discussed this matter 
with Dr. Schemel, had brought up the possibility that if the order 
was not vacated—the order that involved Dr. Reszka—if that order 
was not vacated, that there was a possibility that complaints would 
be filed against his company, against Dr. Schemel, against his com-
pany; that these complaints would have to be investigated by 
MSHA; that these complaints could end up leaving a black mark 
upon his reputation in the industry. 

At one point Mr. Page referred to a picture that he had gotten 
reportedly from the UMWA. And Dr. Schemel believed that that 
was a picture of—might have been a picture of him, and so all of 
this was the sort of dialogue that went on that led Dr. Schemel— 
led us to conclude that he—Dr. Schemel could have perceived that 
he was being intimidated if he did not agree to vacate the safety 
order that involved Dr. Reszka. 

As we explained inn our report, it appeared that Mr. Page was 
trying to legitimately broker a deal and try to please all the par-
ties, the parties here being Performance, and the UMW, and 
MSHA. 

Because Mr. Page was legitimately concerned—and several peo-
ple told us this, even people with Performance—legitimately con-
cerned that the accident investigation would be impeded if MSHA 
had to investigate all types of safety complaints, whether they 
came from UMWA or anywhere else. 

Because they statutorily have to investigate all of these com-
plaints, Mr. Page’s primary objective was to complete this inves-
tigation, the accident investigation. 
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So that was the scenario in which we concluded that there could 
have been at least a perception of intimidation by Dr. Schemel. But 
we did not conclude that that was Mr. Page’s intent in that con-
notation—— 

Mr. WALBERG. Well, I guess in light of all that, secondly, can you 
explain your understanding of why Mr. Page was in a position 
where he was having closed door meetings with Massey’s rep-
resentatives, and making comments that could have been perceived 
as intimidating? 

Mr. SHAPIRO. Well, I am not sure I can answer for MSHA to say 
why he was in that position. What we were told was that an agree-
ment had been reached between the Performance attorneys and the 
MSHA attorneys to vacate the order and citation of Dr. Reszka re-
ceive the training. 

But Mr. Page was concerned that if that occurred, if the order 
and citation were vacated, that there maybe this flurry of com-
plaints that he would have to investigate, that MSHA would have 
to investigate. And therefore impede the investigation. 

And Mr. Page asked if I could try to sit down with Dr. Schemel 
and work this out. And that led to this meeting. He was advised 
by officials in MSHA, yes, why don’t you see what you can do. 

Mr. WALBERG. But it appears that that then indeed could have 
taken away from Mr. Page’s ability to conduct the investigation of 
the explosion. 

Would you agree or wouldn’t you? 
Mr. SHAPIRO. I am sorry. That what could have taken away? 
Mr. WALBERG. That it could have taken away. These activities he 

was involved with took away from Mr. Page’s ability to conduct in-
vestigation of the explosion. 

Mr. SHAPIRO. I am still not sure which activities you are refer-
ring to, sir. 

Mr. WALBERG. The activities of Massey—being with Massey, in-
volved in the closed door meetings, the intimidation perception that 
was there. 

Mr. SHAPIRO. Frankly, I am not sure how I see how the meeting 
itself would have taken away from his—— 

Mr. WALBERG. Okay. 
Mr. SHAPIRO [continuing]. His role as the head of the accident in-

vestigation. 
What he was concerned about was that complaints would be 

filed. And those complaints, those safety complaints, would have to 
be investigated and they would impede the investigation. 

It wasn’t the meeting itself—— 
Mr. WALBERG. Okay. 
Mr. SHAPIRO [continuing]. That was the real concern. 
Mr. WALBERG. I appreciate that. I think that is what—with lack 

of art—I was trying to get at there. 
Thank you very much. 
My time has expired. 
Ms. Woolsey? 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you very much. 
So Mr. Roberts, it appears that MSHA doesn’t have the power 

they need to stop the bad actors. Workers—that doesn’t even ap-
pear—it is certain they don’t. 
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And workers are unable to work within their company, at their 
jobsite, and when they are the ones that know if there is a danger, 
they can’t identify these hazards. They can’t do anything about 
them without fear of losing their jobs. 

And Congress hasn’t, as of this moment anyway, done anything 
to change this. 

Will you tell us from your perspective, as a representative of 
these workers, why don’t they just walk off the job? 

Mr. ROBERTS. If they walk off the job, Congresswoman, they are 
going to be fired. 

And in the case—if you go back to prior to Massey selling these 
operations to Alpha, most of the mines in southern West Virginia 
were Massey mines. 

And so it is not just a matter if you were terminated at mine A, 
you just went down to mine B and got a job. You ran into the same 
employer at mine B, mine C, mine D, mine E. And you probably 
would never work in southern West Virginia again. You would 
probably have to leave the area to find a job in the mining indus-
try. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. So—— 
Mr. ROBERTS. It is a more sophisticated form of blackballing. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Right. And one of the—I think we all remember 

when we were at Beckley, one of the mothers of one of the miners 
who had lost his life, she said he would come home every night and 
it was like he was unbelievable that he could drive home. Because 
by the time he got through with his day in the mine, the oxygen 
in his blood was so contaminated that he would flop down on the 
sofa and pass out. 

And she would say to him, ‘‘Son, why don’t you first go to your 
management.’’ ‘‘I can’t.’’ ‘‘Then why do you keep this job?’’ 

And he said, ‘‘Mother, there are no other jobs. And this is—I 
will—I am risking my life and I know it for this job.’’ 

OSHA would not allow—Dr. Kohler, OSHA would not allow an 
employer to retaliate against an employee who pointed out a haz-
ard in the worksite. 

Why do you think the miners have to put up with that? 
What do we need to do to change that? Let me ask you that. 
That I guess—— 
Mr. ROBERTS. Well, I can answer—— 
Ms. WOOLSEY. All right—— 
Mr. ROBERTS [continuing]. That if you would like. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. All right. 
Mr. ROBERTS. First of all I think technically the law supposedly 

protects miners. But there is the law and there is reality. 
Miners in southern West Virginia do not believe, or did not be-

lieve particularly when Don Blankenship was running these mines, 
that anybody could protect them. 

They didn’t believe the governor could. They didn’t believe this 
Congress could. They didn’t think the president of the United 
States could keep their job or protect them from Don Blankenship. 

And you have to understand the type of individual this was 
who—he visited these mines. He flaunted his power and authority. 
And he was retaliatory. And he had a long, long history of that. 
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So what you have to do if you want to prevent this in the future, 
we don’t have many of these type people. I am just—— 

Ms. WOOLSEY. I know that—— 
Mr. ROBERTS [continuing]. I want to make sure that we are clear 

on that. Most operators don’t act like this. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Right. 
Mr. ROBERTS. But you are going to have those type people from 

time to time, and you have to protect these miners from them. And 
you have to write it in the law that the people who put miners in 
unsafe conditions, it is jail time. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. So had you been sitting in Secretary Main’s seat, 
what would you have said we need to do? 

Mr. ROBERTS. Had I been sitting in Secretary Main’s—let me— 
we have publicly said that this mine should have been closed. And 
there has been a debate about these situations for 30 years now, 
whether MSHA really has the authority or not. 

And we said that this mine should have been closed. We think 
there could have been enough of paperwork and things, maybe 
going to court or whatever, but as has been pointed out, would 
have taken a long time. 

We need to grant whoever the assistant secretary is that author-
ity. So we don’t have this again. 

Because I don’t think it is clear in the law that they have this 
kind of authority. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Thank you, Mr. Roberts. 
Mr. WALBERG. I recognize Dr. Bucshon. 
Mr. BUCSHON. Thank you. 
Dr. Kohler, NIOSH’s independent panel found three critical 

events that led to the Upper Big Branch tragedy. And friction at 
the ignition at the longwall shearer—ignition of accumulated meth-
ane gas and then the explosion of float coal dust. 

Can you kind of walk us through each one of those and find 
out—and give me a kind of a synopsis of where MSHA’s involve-
ment and actions in respect to these, had they been done properly, 
could have prevented this? 

First let us just take friction ignition at the longwall shearer. De-
scribe what that is briefly. And then tell us what could have been 
done. 

Dr. KOHLER. As the cutting drum is rotating, the cutting drum 
has cutting picks on it. And those picks tear into the coal and to 
the roof rock. 

When those picks in particular strike harder roof rock, you create 
some heat. And if the bits are dull or broken, you can create quite 
a bit of heat, and you can leave up a thermal smear which indeed 
can become hot enough to ignite methane. And when that occurs, 
it is known as a frictional ignition. 

So one question: was there anything that could have been done 
to have previously detected, through enforcement action, to prevent 
the cutting drum from being in the condition it was found in where 
there were broken and missing cutter bits, and also in operative 
water sprays? 

And the panel in looking at the findings in the internal review 
decided that no, there was nothing that MSHA could have done in 
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an enforcement sense to ensure that a frictional ignition would not 
have occurred. 

Mr. BUCSHON. Okay, how about the methane gas? 
Okay, so let me just tell you the background. Like I said before, 

my dad was a coal miner. The last job that he had before he retired 
was as a—basically he walked around and checked the coal mine 
for methane and air quality and all that. 

He was the examiner. And so I know a little bit about that. 
What could have been done about that? 
Dr. KOHLER. All right, so based on the findings of the accident 

investigations, there was an accumulation of methane which then 
ignited, probably from this frictional ignition. And the question 
is—— 

Mr. BUCSHON. Was that a bigger problem in the coal mine with 
their ventilation—with the way they controlled the airflow through 
their mine? I mean specifically why there was any accumulation. 

Were they not putting up the appropriate things to direct the air 
the way it needed to be, because I mean that is a bigger issue, 
right? 

Dr. KOHLER. That is a bigger issue. And the panel I served on 
did not redo any part of the accident investigation. We simply used 
the facts that they gleaned. 

So there was an excess amount of methane that had accumu-
lated. A very effective way to reduce accumulations of methane is 
through ventilating, proper ventilating air. 

There was not proper ventilating air according to the investiga-
tions; one of the reasons that there was improper ventilating air 
down in that area of the mine was because of a partial blockage 
in the tailgate entry from a roof fall. 

Mr. BUCSHON. Now I can—sorry to interrupt, but I can tell you 
my dad, I have talked to him about this type of situation. As an 
examiner if he would have come in a previous shift and saw that 
that was improper, he would have reported that up and that would 
have been corrected, or the shift, the next shift couldn’t come down 
that coal mine. 

So why—did you find out why that happened? 
Dr. KOHLER. Yes. I can’t speak to why the operator’s preshift ex-

amination or the operator’s personnel didn’t detect and doing any-
thing about that—— 

Mr. BUCSHON. Well, I guess my argument is they probably did. 
And the question is where—did you find where that—I mean, I 
can’t imagine the examiner or whatever you call him today, would 
have not reported that. And say, hey, there is, you know, we 
don’t—I mean it is pretty simple. You holdup an air flow meter, 
right, and it tells you whether the air is moving and which direc-
tion and—— 

Dr. KOHLER. Or a visual inspection. The MSHA’s internal inves-
tigation revealed that that portion of the tailgate had been visited, 
inspected four times. And that would have been an opportunity to 
notice that there were missing supplemental roof supports. 

If those roof supports had been in place, it is less likely that 
there would have been such a roof fall that blocked the air. 
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Mr. BUCSHON. So I guess my final question is—and this will be 
something that—and I am not implying any impropriety anywhere 
along the line. 

But was there any evidence anywhere along the line for financial 
incentive of anyone in this process other than the operator, not to 
correct these problems? 

I mean, or that if there were problems were identified financial 
incentive not to report them properly? 

Dr. KOHLER. There was nothing that we found in the internal re-
view report that would suggest that. 

Mr. BUCSHON. And as a follow up, do you think based on what 
MSHA—well it seems my time has expired. So I will yield back. 

Thank you. 
Mr. WALBERG. Thanks for being observant. 
The gentleman from West Virginia, Mr. Rahall. 
Mr. RAHALL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I thank the panel for their testimony you had this morning as 

well as you, Mr. Roberts, President Roberts, for all that you do for 
our nation’s coal miners. 

I agree with you that one of the critical voices or perhaps you 
didn’t say this, but I am, that’s missing from today’s hearing are 
those of the families of the UBB miners. 

For that reason, I would like to read a part of a statement that 
was sent to the committee by Gary and Patty Quarles, the parents 
of Gary Wayne Quarles, I am sorry, who perished at UBB. And 
then perhaps get your thoughts on it. 

Quote—‘‘Something is going to have to be changed that these 
people that are in charge of running these mines need to be ac-
countable. This is going to keep happening because our laws say 
we will protect you to these companies, not the miners. How many 
more will go unpunished because of out of date laws that go back 
to 1969? This state was afraid to touch Blankenship, so he was let 
go with however he wanted to run this company. My son and 28 
others were just at work. They had no one protecting them. Please 
don’t let their deaths be in vain. And let another family be de-
stroyed.’’ 

This is from Mr. Quarles’ letter. And I would ask unanimous con-
sent that his entire letter be made a part of the record, if not now, 
at the proper time. 

[The information follows:] 

Prepared Statement of Gary and Patty Quarles, Naoma, WV 

We are the parents of Gary Wayne Quarles. He was one of the miners that was 
killed in the UBB explosion. 

Something is going to have to be changed that these people that are in charge 
of running these mines need to be accountable. When there is criminal conduct, they 
should get charged for a felony not a misdemeanor. This is going to keep happening, 
because our laws say we will protect you to these companies—not the miners. 

How many more will go unpunished because of out of date laws that go back to 
1969? 

If MSHA or the state finds problems at the mines, then give them time to fix 
them. But when MSHA or the state comes back and unwarrantable violations re-
main, then there needs to be a punishment to the boss for not getting it fixed, and 
the punishment that we think should be, is by losing his underground papers. If 
that doesn’t work, then pull the permits for the mine. 

This state was afraid to touch Blankenship, so he was let go with however he 
wanted to run this company. 
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My son and 28 others was just at work. They had no one protecting them. 
Please don’t let their deaths be in Vain! And let another family be destroyed. 
There was a boss at UBB, Dean Jones, that wanted to bring his crew out, not 

once but several times because they had no air. 
He was told if you do, then bring your bucket and look for another job. 
This man and his crew stayed because he needed his job, even if his life was in 

danger. 
Because of these men being threatened, they are now dead. 
Something also needs to protect these guys for calling someone for help, because 

there is no help out there because they are afraid of it getting to the company and 
being fired. 

We asked you to change the law to get miners protection, but it was shot down 
fast. It’s up to all of you. 

Mr. WALBERG. Without objection. 
Mr. RAHALL. Thank you. 
‘‘There was a boss at UBB by the name of Dean Jones, who per-

ished, that wanted to bring his crew out. Not once, but several 
times because they had no air. He was told if you do so, then bring 
your bucket and look for another job. This man and his crew stayed 
because he needed his job, even if his life was in danger. Because 
of these men being threatened, they are now dead.’’ 

So I know you have touched upon this already, President Roberts 
in response to an earlier question. And I know Ms. Woolsey 
brought up the situation where there are no other jobs and how 
these coal miners really need the good pay that is associated with 
working in our underground mines. 

But there is still something missing here when there is that pro-
duction factor put over the people factor, and over the safety factor. 

Perhaps if—and as I said, I know you have already commented 
on the gist of this letter. 

But could you relate to us what the inspections are like in a 
union versus a nonunion mine. 

Mr. ROBERTS. Thank you very much, and thank you for your in-
terest in health and safety for so many years, Congressman. 

I would just like to follow up on the Edward Dean Jones. I met 
his widow at the time we released our report. She is a very young 
person. 

And Mr. Jones did keep his men off the section because he didn’t 
think it was safe. And for that, he was told he would be discharged 
if he didn’t go up on the section and work in an unsafe area. 

If this management had listened to him, maybe we would have 
more people alive today. And maybe this wouldn’t have happened. 

So we have good people everywhere trying to do the right thing. 
If we just gave them a little more authority and a little more 
power. 

But there is a world of difference between an inspection in a 
union mine and a nonunion mine; there are three minimum health 
and safety committee representatives of the United Mine Workers 
at every union mine. 

They travel with the federal inspectors. They travel with the 
state inspectors. And they have filed reports on their own. 

They inspect the mines themselves at least four times a year. 
And some places they inspect an entire mine every month. 
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So there is another set of eyes that being a representative to 
workers in all the union mines. And that is not true at most non-
union mines. 

The protections that they have at the nonunion mines are to fed-
eral inspectors, in some instances, the state inspectors. So it is a 
world of difference. 

Mr. RAHALL. Thank you for that response. 
Dr. Kohler, let me ask you. 
Do you feel that you have sufficient personnel at NIOSH and ex-

perienced personnel? And if so, how do you keep them with you? 
Dr. KOHLER. Yes, the workforce challenge is spread across the 

mining industry. They are not just confined to MSHA. 
We experience them at NIOSH. The universities, the operators, 

everyone is struggling to hire and recruit talented personnel into 
mining. 

Just to give you an example, MSHA and NIOSH both compete 
for entry level mining engineers. A mining engineering student 
coming out of WVU or Virginia Tech, or University of Kentucky for 
example, starts somewhere around $65,000 to $70,000 a year. 

We can offer that same graduating student $33,000 a year. Now, 
it is easy to see the difficulty we have in competing. 

It is a big, big problem. 
Mr. RAHALL. How do you suggest we remedy it besides more pay? 
Dr. KOHLER. Yes, I think that if we want to be able to recruit 

and retain competent people, we have to have compensation sched-
ules which don’t necessarily match those available outside of the 
government. But they have to close the gap. 

Mr. RAHALL. We will never be able to—the public sector would 
never be able to compete with the private sector. 

Dr. KOHLER. Not fully. But if we are serious about recruiting and 
retaining quality people in these key positions, something has to be 
examined and action taken. 

Mr. RAHALL. Thank you. 
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. WALBERG. I thank the gentleman. 
I now recognize the ranking member on Workforce Protections, 

Ms. Woolsey. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you, for closing remarks, no doubt? 
Mr. WALBERG. Yes, please. Thank you. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you. 
Well, it is clear that today we recognize that the entire system 

failed the miners at Upper Big Branch. Past Congresses should not 
have slashed funding for mine inspectors. 

MSHA needed to do a better job. We, the bureaucracy obviously 
needs to be scrubbed, to bring it into the 21st century, but they 
didn’t do anything on purpose. 

And Massey exploited MSHA’s weaknesses in the law. And they 
hurt the workers. 

This is the 21st century. Together in a bipartisan way, Mr. 
Chairman, and it is your subcommittee that I am honored to be the 
ranking member of,We have to put our heads together. We have to 
ensure that we move into the 21st century, that we enact meaning-
ful reform. 
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Otherwise, we are not going to be honoring the lives or the 
deaths of the 29 workers who spilled their blood in Upper Big 
Branch. And we cannot let them be forgotten. 

They should have taught us a lesson. If they didn’t, then we are 
dumber than nails. And we won’t go forward. We will just keep 
spinning in a circle talking about it until the next disaster occurs. 

I don’t want that to happen. So let us work together so that it 
doesn’t. 

I yield back. 
Mr. WALBERG. I thank the gentlelady. And certainly there is a 

commitment to work toward fostering better results, better safety. 
The Mine Act, as you know, declares, and I quote from it, ‘‘The 

first priority and concern of all in the coal or other mining industry 
must be the health and safety of its most precious resource, the 
miner.’’ 

And I think in this room we understand that. There may be dif-
ferences of opinion and perception of facts in the way we look at 
facts. 

Certainly, we have seen evidence today that the funding issue 
has continued to increase. Now, how that has worked out, there 
may be question how we use it. 

What bureaucratic problems we put in the way. What things we 
neglect to encourage more. 

In the opportunities we have had to visit mines together, we 
have seen some best practices that are very useful in promoting 
health and safety for workers, as well as promoting economic sta-
bility for the mine itself. And I think we need to capitalize on those 
things. 

I appreciate the panel here in front of me, as well as Director 
Main, Secretary Main, in being in front of us this morning as well. 

The questions that were brought up, comments that were made, 
are helpful to making a final—I take that back—not a final conclu-
sion, but an ongoing conclusion of how we move forward. 

In making sure that this extremely important industry, with peo-
ple who do things that—I have already indicated to you I am not 
a miner. I don’t intend to be—other than mining for ways of en-
couraging the mining industry, and those that work in it, to foster 
a situation that moves our country forward. 

That comes by carefully looking at the problems, looking for solu-
tions, and looking for ways that we can be as little—as in the sense 
of being intrusive in the industry, but also doing the proper over-
sight that makes sure that we all move forward with safety and se-
curity. 

I think the testimonies given today, the comments made, will as-
sist us in doing exactly what my ranking member said in working 
out a suitable agreement in the not too distant future. 

Having said that, there being no further business, the committee 
stands adjourned. 

[Additional submission of Mr. Andrews follows:] 
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[Additional submissions of Mr. Miller follow:] 
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ALL CITATIONS AND ORDERS ISSUED BY MSHA FOR ADVANCE NOTICE 
[April 1, 2010–April 12, 2012] 

Coal or MNM Mine ID Mine Name Controller Name Operator/Contractor Name Violator Type 

Coal ........... 4608384 Seng Creek Powellton Alpha Natural Re-
sources, Inc 

Elk Run Coal Company Inc Operator 

Coal ........... 4202074 Horizon Mine America West Re-
sources, Inc 

Hidden Splendor Resources 
Inc 

Operator 

Coal ........... 1518522 Classic Mine Arch Coal Inc ICG Knott County LLC Operator 
Coal ........... 1518771 RB #12 Ben Bennett Manalapan Mining Co., Inc Operator 
Coal ........... 1512564 Straight Creek #1 

Mine 
Ben Bennett Left Fork Mining Co Inc Operator 

Coal ........... 1518547 Onton #9 Chester M Thomas Advent Mining LLC Operator 
Coal ........... 3609549 Kimberly Run Citicorp Venture Cap-

ital Ltd 
RoxCoal, Inc Operator 

Coal ........... 4609136 Broad Run Mine Coalfield Transport Inc Big River Mining LLC Operator 
Coal ........... 4404856 Buchanan Mine #1 CONSOL Energy Inc Consolidation Coal Company Operator 
MNM .......... 5400201 PROCAN Efrain S Daleccio Productos De Cantera Inc Operator 
Coal ........... 3609326 4 West Mine GenPower Holdings LP; 

James L Laurita Jr 
Dana Mining Company of 

Pennsylvania LLC 
Operator 

Coal ........... 3609371 Mine 78 J Clifford Forrest III Rosebud Mining Company Operator 
Coal ........... 3608603 Tracy Lynne J Clifford Forrest III Rosebud Mining Company Operator 
Coal ........... 1517903 Mine No.17 Jack H Ealy K and D Mining Inc Operator 
Coal ........... 4407275 Wilson #2 James C Justice II Virginia Fuel Corporation Operator 
Coal ........... 1517478 #75 James River Coal 

Company 
Blue Diamond Coal Company Operator 

Coal ........... 4608812 Upper Cedar Grove No 
4 

Joe Valis Glen Alum Operations, LLC Operator 

Coal ........... 4609172 Mountaineer Poca-
hontas Mine No 1 

John B Preece West Virginia Mine Power, 
Inc 

Operator 

MNM .......... 0504875 Crusher #4 John L Ary A & S Construction Co Operator 
Coal ........... 1512602 Highsplint Preparation 

Plant 
Joseph T Bennett Harlan Cumberland Coal 

Company LLC 
Operator 

Coal ........... 1519455 Highsplint Strip #2 
Dixie 25 

Joseph T Bennett Dixie Fuel Company LLC Operator 

Coal ........... 4609244 Randolph Mine Massey Energy Com-
pany 

Inman Energy Operator 

Coal ........... 4608436 Upper Big Branch 
Mine-South 

Massey Energy Com-
pany 

Performance Coal Company Operator 

Coal ........... 1502057 Advantage #1 Metinvest B V Sapphire Coal Company Operator 
Coal ........... 4608878 Affinity Mine Metinvest B V Affinity Coal Company, LLC Operator 
Coal ........... 1517610 No 3 Minerva Ruth Mead MRM Mining Inc Operator 
Coal ........... 4609201 Eagle #2 Mine N/A Appalachian Security Inc Contractor 
Coal ........... 4609187 No 2 Deep Mine N/A Ft Division Lst Trucking Contractor 
Coal ........... 4609073 Sugar Maple Mine N/A J & N Trucking Contractor 
Coal ........... 4607908 Big Mountain No 16 Patriot Coal Corpora-

tion 
Pine Ridge Coal Company 

LLC 
Operator 

Coal ........... 4609073 Sugar Maple Mine Patriot Coal Corpora-
tion 

Gateway Eagle Coal Com-
pany, LLC 

Operator 

Coal ........... 4609201 Eagle #2 Mine Patriot Coal Corpora-
tion; Rhino Re-
source Partners LP 

Rhino Eastern LLC Operator 

Coal ........... 1518911 Mine #28 Rhino Resource Part-
ners LP 

CAM Mining LLC Operator 

Coal ........... 4608570 Coalburg No 2 Mine Richard H Abraham Rio Group, Inc Operator 
Coal ........... 4406499 Dominion No 7 Sunoco, Inc Dominion Coal Corporation Operator 
Coal ........... 4406868 No 6 Susie A Smith; Elmer 

Fuller 
A B & J Coal Company, Inc Operator 

Source: MSHA. 
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Orgas, WV, March 29, 2012. 
Hon. JOHN KLINE, Chairman; Hon. GEORGE MILLER, Ranking Member, 
Education and Workforce Committee, U.S. House of Representatives, Washington DC 

20515. 
DEAR CHAIRMAN KLINE AND RANKING MEMBER MILLER: This letter is submitted 

to the Committee with respect to the hearing entitled ‘‘Learning From the Upper 
Big Branch Tragedy’’ on March 27, 2012. 

Bear with me a moment and imagine that the following happens: 
I gather all of Congress into a room and tell you that your offices are being moved 

from the Capitol Complex. I am the new boss and this is what I would explain to 
you about your new workplace: 

‘‘Your new office is not like where you work now. 
First, there is a chance that an odorless gas might leak into your new office and 

it could kill you, but, just in case, I will give you a breathing apparatus designed 
to save you IF you locate it in time. One person will have a device that reads the 
levels of this gas and the oxygen levels but that device will only work IF he or she 
is actually using it. Let’s not forget that they will be keeping records in two separate 
books, but that’s just between us right? 

Next, there is a slim chance that the walls could cave in or the roof could collapse, 
but that’s so remote that we won’t worry about it. In fact, just part of the roof could 
cave in, but please don’t concern yourself with that either. 

Now I know it sounds bad, but really, it’s dark in there so you won’t have to see 
the walls buckling and you should feel safe. I will provide a light for you so that 
you can do your job, and please ignore the sounds of things falling because it will 
only distract you from your job. 

No one is claustrophobic or afraid of the dark, right? And bugs, snakes and rats 
don’t bother you either correct? 

Oh, and let me tell you this too, there is a chance that there could be an explo-
sion. Don’t get excited, I don’t want to alarm you. That rarely happens and if it 
does, well, there is usually time to get most of you out of the building before you 
get trapped or die. An explosion is rare and is usually in a confined area of the 
building, so you could be in a pretty safe area and not be affected at all! In fact, 
you will probably be safe enough to go to the funerals of your friends. But you can 
only go to these funerals on your ‘‘off’’ time. You aren’t allowed to go if it happens 
during your normal work hours. 

Now most importantly, if you should happen to see something that is unsafe and 
could endanger your life, please don’t tell anyone! If you do, you will be fired. Your 
life is forfeit to me and my company. You just aren’t as important as me as my prof-
its. I can always find another person to fill your job, so if you don’t like how I’m 
running things, you can just grab your jacket and leave. I’ll pay you more than your 
contemporaries, but I’m not buying your loyalty or your silence. I know you can’t 
work for anyone else and make this kind of money. Go ahead—try and survive and 
support your family without this job and this paycheck. Not that it’s all about 
money, right?’’ 

I know this sounds like a poorly written script for a B-Movie. And it’s too weird 
to be fiction, isn’t it? 

I doubt there is even one member of Congress who would even think about work-
ing in the environment described above and yet they want every coal miner to work 
in these conditions and under the threat of silence. If it’s too good for the members 
of Congress, why is it expected and allowed for coal miners? 

And do you want to know what’s worse? Knowing that the person you love is 
going into that situation every day, every shift and while there, they are demeaned 
and devalued and that black rock is more important than their safety and their life. 

What makes this worse yet is that some members of Congress are very aware of 
this because they are sitting in Congress simply because Mr. Blankenship ‘‘donated 
them into office’’. I hope you are ashamed—you know who you are. I hope you never 
know the fear that a spouse feels when they watch their loved one leave the house 
to begin a shift in a mine. It paralyzes the soul and yet there is NOTHING any 
spouse can do but pray for their loved one’s safety. 

When April 5, 2010 exploded into my life (pun intended), I needed my husband 
to hold me while I shook uncontrollably, comfort me, to tell me things would be ok 
and to give me mental strength when I thought I would snap. But he couldn’t do 
that because he was at that mine, dying on the inside and changing into a man who 
is tortured every single day he is alive. 

I have watched an active, healthy outdoorsman disappear into himself and dis-
connect with the world and stop doing the things that made him happy. I’ve 
watched him stop caring about himself, stop caring about hunting and fishing, stop 
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caring about his kids, me, stop caring about his life. I do my best to comfort him 
when he awakes from nightmares or breaks down when he’s assaulted by memories 
of that day. 

Massey Energy killed the man I love on a level that most people don’t understand. 
His body is here, but he is not the same man. He’s changed simply because the 
poorly written script from above wasn’t fiction for him. This was his reality every 
day and it killed his spirit. 

I want to ask Congress why it is okay that conditions are allowed to be this way. 
Why can’t Congress see it’s not Democrat against Republican? Isn’t it your job? 
Weren’t you elected, in part, to protect Americans? 

Stop looking to each other and pointing fingers to distract the public from the real 
situation that occurred at Upper Big Branch Mine April 5, 2010. Massey Energy ig-
nored the laws. Mr. Blankenship flagrantly flaunted his power and did as he 
pleased to insure huge profits and put lives in danger for that profit. 

It’s time for our Congress, and that’s everybody’s Congress—we voted for you, to 
unite and regain your power to make stronger laws to protect miners who put their 
lives in danger every shift produce coal for the American economy. 

Let’s be honest, Massey imploded due to their own self-important leader, but Con-
gress needs to take on the role of leaders again. You need to make the changes you 
were elected to make to keep AMERICANS safe. It’s too late for my husband, it’s 
too late for the 29 men who died April 5, 2010, it’s too late for the countless family 
members who lost someone in the mines. But it’s not too late for the men and 
women who are working now and it’s not too late for future miners many of whom 
are our children. 

My husband begged you to put aside partisanship to make changes when he spoke 
before Congress and I’m begging you now to follow through on the promises you 
made to the American people to work together for the safety of American workers, 
most particularly miners. 

MINDI STEWART, 
wife of UBB Survivor Stanley ‘‘Goose’’ Stewart. 

MSHA News Release, Feb. 29, 2012 

MSHA Announces Results of January Impact Inspections 

ARLINGTON, VA—The U.S. Department of Labor’s Mine Safety and Health Admin-
istration today announced that federal inspectors issued 253 citations, orders and 
safeguards during special impact inspections conducted at 12 coal mines and four 
metal/nonmetal mines last month. The coal mines were issued 171 citations, 15 or-
ders and two safeguards, while the metal/nonmetal operations were issued 64 cita-
tions and one order. 

These inspections, which began in force in April 2010 following the explosion at 
the Upper Big Branch Mine, involve mines that merit increased agency attention 
and enforcement due to their poor compliance history or particular compliance con-
cerns, including high numbers of violations or closure orders; frequent hazard com-
plaints or hotline calls; plan compliance issues; inadequate workplace examinations; 
a high number of accidents, injuries or illnesses; fatalities; and adverse conditions 
such as increased methane liberation, faulty roof conditions and inadequate ventila-
tion. 

As an example from last month, on Jan. 13, an impact inspection was conducted 
during the second shift at Perry County Coal Corp.’s E4-1 Mine in Perry County, 
Ky. The inspection team, which captured and monitored the phones to prevent ad-
vance notice of its arrival, issued 35 citations and three orders. The mine’s last im-
pact inspection, conducted in May 2011, had resulted in 27 citations and one order. 

Following January’s inspection, the mine was issued unwarrantable failure orders 
for noncompliance with the ventilation plan by failing to maintain a sufficient air 
volume at the end of the wing curtain when more than 18 inches of rock is being 
mined. (A wing curtain is a piece of flame-resistant brattice cloth used to direct air 
current to temporarily ventilate faces, seals or other areas of the mine.) This viola-
tion exposed miners to the risk of silicosis, black lung and a potential explosion. The 
mine operator also failed to control draw rock that extended from 32 crosscuts outby 
to the working face (approximately 2,080 feet), which exposed miners to the risk of 
being struck, injured or killed by pieces of falling roof. The mine operator further 
failed to maintain a scoop in permissible condition so that it was not a potential 
ignition source for explosive gasses as well as to conduct an adequate weekly exam-
ination of the same scoop. 
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Inspectors also found that the primary and secondary escapeways, along with re-
quired lifelines, were improperly maintained, which could severely hamper miners’ 
efforts to evacuate the mine in the event of an emergency. 

As a second example from last month, on the same day, MSHA conducted an im-
pact inspection during the second shift at K and D Mining Inc.’s Mine No. 17 in 
Harlan County, Ky. The inspection team, which captured and monitored the mine 
phones, issued 21 citations and seven orders. The last impact inspection conducted 
at this mine had occurred in August 2010, resulting in 14 citations and six orders. 

During January’s visit, inspectors observed eight conditions that were the result 
of unwarrantable failures by the mine operator. Six involved failure to maintain the 
conveyer belts in safe operating condition and accumulation of combustible mate-
rials along the belt lines. Two belt lines were found to have missing or stuck rollers, 
causing friction and creating the potential for an ignition. Accumulations of combus-
tible material were found along three belt lines, which are required to be examined 
at each shift. 

Two 104(d) withdrawal orders were issued for the mine operator’s failure to con-
duct an adequate exam of the section power center, which was found to be improp-
erly maintained. Inspectors found evidence of severe arcing between receptacles on 
the power center, as well as on the male plugs of electrical equipment. 

The mine operator also failed to comply with the roof control plan, according to 
inspectors. They observed a hill seam (rock fissure) that was tied in with several 
stress cracks. The hill seam and stress cracks extended across the pillar line for a 
distance of approximately 115 feet. The mine operator had not installed additional 
support as required by the roof control plan. 

‘‘While the impact inspection program has resulted in improved compliance in 
mines across the country, the seriousness of the violations found at these two oper-
ations demonstrates why targeted enforcement continues to be necessary to protect 
the health and safety of miners,’’ said Joseph A. Main, assistant secretary of labor 
for mine safety and health. 

Since April 2010, MSHA has conducted 403 impact inspections, which have re-
sulted in a total of 7,162 citations, 718 orders and 26 safeguards. 

Editor’s note: A spreadsheet containing the results of impact inspections in January 2012 ac-
companies this news release. 

U.S. Department of Labor News Release, March 28, 2012 

MSHA: Advance Notification of Federal Mine Inspectors 
Still a Serious Problem 

ARLINGTON, VA—Despite stepped-up enforcement efforts over the past two years 
by the U.S. Department of Labor’s Mine Safety and Health Administration, some 
mine operators continue to tip off their employees when federal inspectors arrive to 
carry out an inspection. The Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 specifically 
prohibits providing advance notice of inspections conducted by MSHA. 

There have been several recent instances in which MSHA has been able to detect 
the occurrence of advance notice. For example, on March 22, agency inspectors re-
sponded to a hazard complaint call about conditions at Gateway Eagle Coal Co. 
LLC’s Sugar Maple Mine in Boone County, W.Va. A truck driver with J&N Truck-
ing reportedly alerted mine personnel by citizens band radio of the inspectors’ ar-
rival. The inspection turned up 14 violations for advance notification, accumulations 
of combustible material, and inadequate preshift and on-shift examinations, as well 
as a failure to comply with the current ventilation plan, maintain the lifeline, main-
tain permissibility of mobile equipment and maintain fire fighting equipment. 

As a second example, during a Feb. 29 inspection at Rhino Eastern LLC’s Eagle 
No. 2 Mine in Wyoming County, W.Va., a dispatcher’s decision to shut down the 
belts prompted a call from the section foreman about his actions. The dispatcher re-
sponded that an MSHA inspector was at the mine. During this inspection, three ci-
tations were issued for failure to comply with the roof control and ventilation plans. 
In addition, a citation was issued to Applachian Security, a contractor, for providing 
advance notification of the MSHA inspection. Rhino Eastern’s Eagle No. 1 Mine was 
placed on potential pattern of violations status in November 2010 and again in Au-
gust 2011 after a miner was killed in a rib collapse, and the mine’s compliance 
record deteriorated. 

A third example is from Feb. 13, when the dispatcher for Metinvest B V’s Affinity 
Mine in Raleigh County, W.Va., notified the belt foreman over the mine telephone 
that federal and state inspectors were headed underground. The mine operator was 
issued a citation and, to abate it, MSHA required that all certified foremen and dis-
patchers be trained in the requirements of the Mine Act regarding advance notifica-
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tion, and that a notice be conspicuously posted in the mine office to ensure future 
compliance with the Mine Act. 

‘‘Providing advance notice of an inspection is illegal,’’ said Joseph A. Main, assist-
ant secretary of labor for mine safety and health. ‘‘It can obscure actual mining con-
ditions by giving mine employees the opportunity to alter working conditions, there-
by inhibiting the effectiveness of MSHA inspections. Furthermore, it appears that 
current penalties are not sufficient to deter this type of conduct.’’ 

Upper Big Branch Mine superintendent Gary May recently entered into a plea 
agreement with the U.S. Department of Justice, admitting to conspiracy to give ad-
vance notification of mine inspections, falsify examination of record books and alter 
the mine’s ventilation system before federal inspectors were able to inspect under-
ground. May testified that, through these unlawful practices, the mine operator was 
able to avoid detection of violations by federal and state inspectors. 

‘‘Despite the attention to the issue that has resulted from the Upper Big Branch 
investigation and recent testimony from Gary May, advance notice continues to 
occur too often in the coalfields,’’ said Main. ‘‘Upper Big Branch is a tragic reminder 
that operators and miners alike need to understand advance notice can prevent in-
spectors from finding hazards that can claim miners’ lives.’’ 

[Questions submitted for the record and their responses follow:] 
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Assistant Secretary Main’s Response to Questions Submitted for the Record 

QUESTION FROM REPRESENTATIVE NOEM 

1. Assistant Secretary Main, in October 2011 you stated that the Mine Safety and 
Health Administration (MSHA) was working with the Federal Railway Administra-
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tion (FRA) on a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) to clarify jurisdictional issues 
for operators when a railroad carrier enters mine property or has facilities and 
equipment on mine property. What is the status of the MOA? 

Mr. Main: MSHA expects to execute an MOA with the FRA over the next couple 
of months. We know that an agreement between the two agencies is of great inter-
est to many members of Congress; please be assured that MSHA is working dili-
gently with the FRA to finalize an MOA that properly reflects the jurisdictional au-
thority of each agency, as defined by our respective governing statutes. 

QUESTIONS FROM RANKING MEMBER MILLER 

2. According to the MSHA Upper Big Branch (UBB) Internal Review, a lack of in-
spector experience allowed violations at the mine to go undetected. You testified that 
more than half of MSHA’s inspectors were hired after 2006, and due to the lack of 
staff, MSHA District 4 (which covers southern West Virginia) employed only 2 ven-
tilation specialists at times during the 18 month period prior to the UBB explosion. 
The average experience level for enforcement personnel dropped from 12 years to only 
5 years between FY 2005 and FY 2010. In light of MSHA’s findings in the Internal 
Review and the consequences of an experience gap, please address each of the fol-
lowing: 

A. Please provide the number of mine inspectors, supervisors and technical special-
ists MSHA estimates will be eligible to retire during FY 2013 and FY 2014. 

Mr. Main: In FY 2013, 350 Coal and Metal Non Metal inspectors, 51 engineers 
(technical specialists) and 146 supervisors will be eligible for retirement. Our esti-
mates for FY2014—432 Coal and Metal Non Metal inspectors, 62 engineers and 166 
supervisors—include the FY 2013 numbers. However, based on historical attrition 
data, MSHA expects that only about 20 percent of the employees who are eligible 
to retire actually retire in the year they become eligible. 

B. What steps is MSHA taking in succession planning, including with respect to 
identifying future resource requirements, to ensure that the agency does not have a 
shortage of trained enforcement personnel and technical specialists as its more expe-
rienced and older personnel retire. When will MSHA’s succession plan be completed? 

Mr. Main: MSHA has been engaged in planning for the Agency’s future for a num-
ber of months. This planning has included a consideration of the UBB Internal Re-
view Report’s findings on MSHA’s staffing deficiencies. The draft FY 2012-2016 Suc-
cession Management Plan goes beyond a succession planning approach that focuses 
on simply replacing individuals, and instead engages in broad, integrated succession 
planning and management efforts that focus on strengthening both current and fu-
ture organizational capacity. The draft plan uses a systematic approach to filling 
our mission-critical occupations and key leadership positions over the next several 
years. 

The plan includes a detailed workforce analysis to project levels of attrition in our 
enforcement programs looking out five years. In addition, in order to find gaps in 
our workforce, managers in each program identified trends likely to affect their pro-
grams’ delivery of services, and we reviewed data describing the competencies that 
our workforce needs to address. The draft plan is in the final stages of review and 
we anticipate a summer 2012 completion. 

C. Do personnel rules allow MSHA mine inspectors to earn more than MSHA tech-
nical specialists (such as engineers), because unlike technical specialist mine inspec-
tors are able to earn overtime pay and engineers do not? What can MSHA do to more 
effectively compete with private industry which can lure and hire away from MSHA 
experienced ventilation and roof control engineers because they can afford more pay 
and better benefits. What retention tools are available to MSHA? Are there gaps in 
these tools MSHA needs to solve this problem? 

Mr. Main: Mine Inspectors are generally entitled to standard overtime compensa-
tion under the Fair Labor Standards Act, while engineers generally are not. The 
U.S. Office of Personnel Management (OPM) administers the provisions of the Fair 
Labor Standards Act with respect to Federal employees. A non-exempt determina-
tion for engineers therefore may require coordination with OPM. We are in discus-
sions within the Department of Labor to determine our options for a possible non- 
exempt determination for specific engineering positions within MSHA. 

MSHA is expanding its recruitment efforts at various universities and colleges, 
including engineering schools, to attract potential candidates. This collaborative ef-
fort between MSHA’s Human Resources Department, Office of Diversity and Equal 
Opportunity, and program areas will enhance the ability to attract and retain a di-
verse and highly qualified pool of candidates to fill mission-critical occupations. In 
the past, MSHA has not taken full advantage of the recruitment and retention tools 
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at its disposal. However, MSHA is now increasing its utilization of recruitment and 
retention incentives—such as relocation incentives and recruitment and location bo-
nuses—that Congress provided to enable the Federal agencies to address excep-
tional needs to recruit, retain, and relocate essential employees for critical positions. 
MSHA also has the ability to offer students loan repayments and intends to use this 
tool in our efforts to recruit those still in school. 

3. Between 2006 and 2010, contested citations in District 4 rose from 339 to 19,618, 
according to the Internal Review. Because the District 4 office was understaffed, it 
was unable to manage this increased paper flow, and filing deadlines were some-
times missed. Missed MSHA deadlines led to additional litigation. In light of the In-
ternal Review’s findings and concerns about the staffing level of MSHA’s District 4 
operations, please address each of the following: 

A. Are District 4 and the newly created District 12 staffed adequately at this time 
to manage the flow of enforcement-related paperwork and meet filing deadlines? If 
not, what additional resources are needed? 

Mr. Main: The UBB disaster underscored the need to address the growing backlog 
of contested cases at the Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission 
(FMSHRC), especially those cases in District 4. I cannot overstate the importance 
of the continued funding that Congress is providing DOL to resolve this backlog. 

MSHA has made a number of changes that are also helping in managing con-
tested cases. In June, 2011, MSHA split District 4 into four separate districts. This 
has enabled us to divide the caseload among those districts and increase the size 
of our staff handling these cases. As of March 31, 2012, District 4 had four Con-
ference Litigation Representatives (CLRs) and two clerks; District 12 had two CLRs 
and two clerks. There is currently an opening for another CLR in District 12. MSHA 
has already selected a candidate to take that position and is in the final stages of 
hiring that individual. Once this position is filled, MSHA will have twice as many 
CLRs in the Southern West Virginia area as it did in the months leading up to 
UBB. 

In addition, MSHA has hired two full-time coordinators located in Headquarters 
to manage the Alternative Case Resolution (ACR) program in the Districts. The co-
ordinators have been identifying districts with the greatest backlogs, allowing us to 
transfer a significant number of cases in these districts to the backlog project. In 
April and the first part of May, Districts 4 and 12 will have transferred 250 cases. 
Finally, Alpha Natural Resources has withdrawn its contest of over 4,416 violations 
(754 cases) involving legacy Massey companies pending in Districts 4 and 12, and 
paid over $15 million in assessed penalties (the full amount assessed). As a result 
of these actions, District 4 and District 12 have the current ability to manage the 
flow of enforcement-related paperwork and meet filing deadlines. Without the con-
tinuation of backlog funding from Congress, it is unlikely that District 4 and 12 
would be able to manage their case load. 

B. Do any other MSHA Districts have staff shortages that impair their ability to 
manage the flow of enforcement-related paperwork and meet filing deadlines? If so, 
which Districts are impacted? 

Mr. Main: At their current staffing levels, and because they have also been able 
to transfer cases to the backlog project, the other MSHA districts are able at this 
time to manage the flow of enforcement-related paperwork and meet filing dead-
lines. Any reduction in funding or staffing levels would seriously compromise the 
Districts’ ability to meet their deadlines. Continuing the funding provided through 
Congress is essential and allows MSHA to maintain proper staffing of CLRs and 
support staff to effectively address the contested cases. 

4. Does the Robert C. Byrd Mine Safety Protection Act (H.R. 1579) meet MSHA’s 
stated need for additional enforcement authority and tools to prevent mine disasters 
such as the Upper Big Branch tragedy? If not, what additional tools are needed? 

Mr. Main: As I testified at the March 27, 2012 hearing, since the tragedy at UBB, 
MSHA has learned how to better use all of its available tools and strategies to fully 
enforce the Mine Act—including targeted enforcement, regulatory reforms and com-
pliance assistance. Since April, 2010, MSHA has conducted over 420 impact inspec-
tions of mines that merit increased agency attention and enforcement due to their 
poor compliance history or particular compliance concerns. During many of these in-
spections, MSHA monitored the phones so that those underground cannot be noti-
fied to clean up hazards before MSHA inspectors have an opportunity to observe 
them. Sadly, we are finding that there are still operators who continue to flout the 
law and put miners at risk. 

MSHA cannot be at every mine all the time, and as we have learned from various 
investigations into UBB, even when MSHA is present at a mine, a determined oper-
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ator that intimidates miners and willfully engages in a pattern of subterfuge will 
be at least partially successful in hiding hazardous conditions and practices from 
MSHA, with potentially tragic results. We need to change the culture of safety in 
some parts of the mining industry, so that operators are as concerned about the 
safety of their miners when MSHA is not looking over their shoulders as when 
MSHA is there. 

The Robert C. Byrd Mine Safety Protection Act contains provisions that address 
these gaps in MSHA’s enforcement powers. 

Upon request by members of Congress, including members of this Committee, we 
have provided and will continue to provide technical assistance for this and other 
mining legislation. It is imperative that Congress enact legislation that gives MSHA 
the additional tools it needs to improve the health and safety of all the nation’s min-
ers. 
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[EDITOR’S NOTE: As of August 14, 2012, Dr. Kohler’s response to 
questions submitted remains pending.] 

[Whereupon, at 12:52 p.m., the committee was adjourned.] 

Æ 


